
If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in 
another format or language, please call David Penrose, Democratic 
Services Officer on 01432 383690 or e-mail 
dpenrose@herefordshire.gov.uk in advance of the meeting. 

 

 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

Community Services Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

Date: Monday 7 December 2009 

Time: 10.00 am 

Place: The Council Chamber, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

David Penrose, Democratic Services Officer 

Tel: 01432 383690 

Email: dpenrose@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 
 



 

GUIDANCE ON DECLARING PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 
 

The Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct requires Councillors to declare against an Agenda item(s) 
the nature of an interest and whether the interest is personal or prejudicial.  Councillors have to 
decide first whether or not they have a personal interest in the matter under discussion.  They will 
then have to decide whether that personal interest is also prejudicial. 

  
A personal interest is an interest that affects the Councillor more than most other people in the area.  
People in the area include those who live, work or have property in the area of the Council.  
Councillors will also have a personal interest if their partner, relative or a close friend, or an 
organisation that they or the member works for, is affected more than other people in the area.  If they 
do have a personal interest, they must declare it but can stay and take part and vote in the meeting.   

 

Whether an interest is prejudicial is a matter of judgement for each Councillor.  What Councillors have 
to do is ask themselves whether a member of the public – if he or she knew all the facts – would think 
that the Councillor’s interest was so important that their decision would be affected by it.  If a 
Councillor has a prejudicial interest then they must declare what that interest is.  A Councillor who 
has declared a prejudicial interest at a meeting may nevertheless be able to address that meeting, 
but only in circumstances where an ordinary member of the public would be also allowed to speak.  In 
such circumstances, the Councillor concerned will have the same opportunity to address the meeting 
and on the same terms.  However, a Councillor exercising their ability to speak in these 
circumstances must leave the meeting immediately after they have spoken. 

 

Agenda for the Meeting of the Community 
Services Scrutiny Committee 
  
Membership  
  

Chairman Councillor TM James 
Vice-Chairman Councillor KG Grumbley 
  

Councillor DJ Benjamin  
Councillor GFM Dawe  
Councillor BA Durkin  
Councillor DW Greenow  
Councillor KS Guthrie  
Councillor MAF Hubbard  
Councillor B Hunt  
Councillor RH Smith  
Councillor RV Stockton  
  

 
Mrs Gillian Churchill HALC 
Mrs. J. Evans National Farmers Union 
Mr P Hands Visit Herefordshire 
Mr Gary Woodman Hereford and Worcester Chamber of 

Commerce 
 
 

Non Voting 



 
HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL  7 DECEMBER 2009 

 

 

AGENDA 
 Pages 
  
   
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE     
   
 To receive apologies for absence.  
   
2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES     
   
 To receive any details of Members nominated to attend the meeting in place 

of a Member of the Committee. 
 

   
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST     
   
 To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of items on 

the Agenda. 
 

   
4. MINUTES (TO FOLLOW)     
   
 To approve and sign the Minutes of the meeting held on 20 November 2009.  
   
5. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR 

FUTURE SCRUTINY   
  

   
 To consider suggestions from members of the public on issues the 

Committee could scrutinise in the future. 
 

   
6. REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2009/10   1 - 12  
   
 To provide an up date the financial position for the financial year 2009/10 for 

the Economic and Community Services Division within the Regeneration 
Directorate and Cultural Services functions within the Environment and 
Culture Directorate. 

 

   
7. ENVIRONMENT & CULTURE AND REGENERATION DIRECTORATES: 

PERFORMANCE FOR THE SIX-MONTH PERIOD TO OCTOBER 2009   
13 - 26  

   
 To report on the progress towards achievement of targets for 2009-10 that 

are relevant to the Community Services Scrutiny Committee and contained 
within the Environment & Culture and Regeneration Directorates’ Plans. 

 

   
8. EXECUTIVE’S RESPONSE TO THE SCRUTINY REVIEW OF TOURISM 

AND TOURIST INFORMATION CENTRES   
27 - 36  

   
 To consider the Executive’s response to the Scrutiny Review of Tourism and 

Tourist Information Centres in Herefordshire. 
 

   
9. EXECUTIVE’S RESPONSE TO THE SCRUTINY REVIEW OF THE 

HEREFORDSHIRE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 2005-2025   
37 - 48  

   
 To consider the Executive’s response to the Scrutiny Review of the 

Herefordshire Economic Development Strategy 2005-2025. 
 

   
10. SCOPING REPORT FOR THE SCRUTINY REVIEW OF SUPPORT FOR 

VOLUNTEERING IN HEREFORDSHIRE   
49 - 54  

   
 To consider a scoping statement for a Scrutiny Review of Support for 

Volunteering in Herefordshire.  
 

   
11. COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME   55 - 58  
   
 To consider the Committee’s work programme.  
   





PUBLIC INFORMATION 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

The Council has established Scrutiny Committees for Adult Social Care 
and Strategic Housing, Childrens’ Services, Community Services, 
Environment, and Health.  A Strategic Monitoring Committee scrutinises 
corporate matters and co-ordinates the work of these Committees. 

The purpose of the Committees is to ensure the accountability and 
transparency of the Council's decision making process. 

The principal roles of Scrutiny Committees are to 
 

•  Help in developing Council policy 
 

• Probe, investigate, test the options and ask the difficult questions 
before and after decisions are taken 

 

• Look in more detail at areas of concern which may have been raised 
by the Cabinet itself, by other Councillors or by members of the public 

 

• "call in" decisions  - this is a statutory power which gives Scrutiny 
Committees the right to place a decision on hold pending further 
scrutiny. 

 

• Review performance of the Council 
 

• Conduct Best Value reviews  
 

• Undertake external scrutiny work engaging partners and the public  
 
Formal meetings of the Committees are held in public and information 
on your rights to attend meetings and access to information are set out 
overleaf 
 



PUBLIC INFORMATION 

Public Involvement at Scrutiny Committee Meetings 

You can contact Councillors and Officers at any time about Scrutiny 
Committee matters and issues which you would like the Scrutiny 
Committees to investigate.  

There are also two other ways in which you can directly contribute at 
Herefordshire Council’s Scrutiny Committee meetings. 

1. Identifying Areas for Scrutiny 

At the meeting the Chairman will ask the members of the public present if 
they have any issues which they would like the Scrutiny Committee to 
investigate, however, there will be no discussion of the issue at the time 
when the matter is raised.  Councillors will research the issue and consider 
whether it should form part of the Committee’s work programme when 
compared with other competing priorities. 

Please note that the Committees can only scrutinise items which fall within 
their specific remit (see below).  If a matter is raised which falls within the 
remit of another Scrutiny Committee then it will be noted and passed on to 
the relevant Chairman for their consideration.   

2. Questions from Members of the Public for Consideration at 
Scrutiny Committee Meetings and Participation at Meetings 

You can submit a question for consideration at a Scrutiny Committee 
meeting so long as the question you are asking is directly related to an item 
listed on the agenda.  If you have a question you would like to ask then 
please submit it no later than two working days before the meeting to 
the Committee Officer.  This will help to ensure that an answer can be 
provided at the meeting.  Contact details for the Committee Officer can be 
found on the front page of this agenda.   

Generally, members of the public will also be able to contribute to the 
discussion at the meeting.  This will be at the Chairman’s discretion.   

(Please note that the Scrutiny Committees are not able to discuss 
questions relating to personal or confidential issues.) 



 
Remits of Herefordshire Council’s Scrutiny Committees 
 
Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing 
 
Statutory functions for adult social services including: 
Learning Disabilities 
Strategic Housing 
Supporting People 
Public Health 
 
Children’s Services 
 
Provision of services relating to the well-being of children including 
education, health and social care. 
 
Community Services Scrutiny Committee 
 
Libraries 
Cultural Services including heritage and tourism 
Leisure Services 
Parks and Countryside 
Community Safety 
Economic Development 
Youth Services 
 
Health 
 
Planning, provision and operation of health services affecting the area 
Health Improvement 
Services provided by the NHS 
 
Environment 
 
Environmental Issues 
Highways and Transportation 
 
Strategic Monitoring Committee 
Corporate Strategy and Finance 
Resources  
Corporate and Customer Services 
Human Resources 

 

 



The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at 
Meetings  
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: - 
 
 

• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the 
business to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the 
meeting. 

• Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to 
six years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up 
to four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the background papers to a 
report is given at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on 
which the officer has relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available 
to the public. 

• Access to a public Register stating the names, addresses and wards of all 
Councillors with details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and 
Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to items to be 
considered in public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated 
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, 
subject to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per 
agenda plus a nominal fee of £1.50 for postage). 

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of 
the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy 
documents. 

 

 

 



 

Please Note: 

Agenda and individual reports can be made available in large 
print.  Please contact the officer named on the front cover of this 
agenda in advance of the meeting who will be pleased to deal 
with your request. 

The Council Chamber where the meeting will be held is accessible for 
visitors in wheelchairs, for whom toilets are also available. 

A public telephone is available in the reception area. 
 
Public Transport Links 
 
 
• Public transport access can be gained to Brockington via the service runs 

approximately every half hour from the ‘Hopper’ bus station at the Tesco store in 
Bewell Street (next to the roundabout junction of Blueschool Street / Victoria Street / 
Edgar Street). 

• The nearest bus stop to Brockington is located in Old Eign Hill near to its junction 
with Hafod Road.  The return journey can be made from the same bus stop. 

 
 
 
 
 
If you have any questions about this agenda, how the Council works or would like more 
information or wish to exercise your rights to access the information described above, 
you may do so either by telephoning the officer named on the front cover of this agenda 
or by visiting in person during office hours (8.45 a.m. - 5.00 p.m. Monday - Thursday 
and 8.45 a.m. - 4.45 p.m. Friday) at the Council Offices, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford. 

 

 

 

 

 
Where possible this agenda is printed on paper made from 100% Post-Consumer waste. De-

inked without bleaching and free from optical brightening agents (OBA). Awarded the 

Nordic Swan for low emissions during production and the Blue Angel environmental label. 

 



 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 
 
 

BROCKINGTON, 35 HAFOD ROAD, HEREFORD. 
 
 
 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 
 

 

In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring 
continuously. 

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through the 
nearest available fire exit. 

You should then proceed to Assembly Point J which is located at 
the southern entrance to the car park.  A check will be undertaken 
to ensure that those recorded as present have vacated the 
building following which further instructions will be given. 

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of 
the exits. 

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or returning 
to collect coats or other personal belongings. 
 



 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Cathy Stokes, Principal Accountant (Environment & 
Regeneration) or Shirley Coultas, Community Services Accountant (Tel: 01432 261849) 

  

MEETING: COMMUNITY SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 7 DECEMBER 2009 

TITLE OF REPORT: REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2009/10 

REPORT BY:  DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES 

 

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

To advise members of the committee of the financial position for Community Services revenue 
budgets for the period to 30th September 2009. The report lists the variations against budget at this 
stage in the year and a projected outturn for the year. 

Key Decision 

This is not a key decision 

Recommendations  

THAT the report be noted 

Reasons for Recommendations 

1 To enable Scrutiny Committee to carry out its function in relation to the Community 
Services revenue budget for 2009/10. 

Key Considerations 

2 A detailed Budget Monitoring Report to 30th September 2009 is attached at Appendix 1 for 
Members’ consideration.  

3 The total Community Services budget has increased from £9,680k as reported at the last 
meeting to £9,723k. This net increase of £43k relates to a one off budget transfer from the 
Waste Disposal Budget (from within the Environment Scrutiny portfolio of services) to the 
Arts budget to cover the festival, event and workshop costs of the Take pArt project. 

AGENDA ITEM 6

1



 
4 The summary position is set out in the table below.              

2009/10 Annual 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn 

Over/-Under         
spend 

Service Area £000 £000 £000 

Cultural Services 3,412 3,497 85 

HALO & Leisure Centres  1,884 1,884 0 

Parks, Countryside & Public 
Rights of Way 

2,120 2,060 -60 

Head of Culture & Leisure 99 99 0 

Community Safety 117 117 0 

Social & Economic Regeneration 
(including Tourism) 

1,936 2,006  70 

Head of Economic & Community 
Regeneration 

155 155 0 

Community Services Total 9,723 9,818 95 

 

Cultural Services 

5 Cultural Services is expected to overspend by £85k in 2009/10. 

6 Staff vacancy savings of £25k are expected on employee costs for Sports Development. 
This relates to the Exercise Referral development Officer post being vacant. There are also  
staff vacancy savings of £15k in Cultural Services. 

7 The Libraries budget is expected to overspend by £125k. This mainly relates to employee 
costs and Broad Street Library building running. Library visitors have fallen by 3% in the six 
month period to September compared with the previous year. This is linked to the £40K 
reduction in book fund expenditure in the previous year which is also impacting on income 
levels from fines. 

Parks, Countryside & Public Rights of Way 

8 There are savings of £40k on Parks and Countryside and £20k on Public Rights of Way 
due to the recruitment freeze pending the service delivery review. 

Tourism 

9 Following the transfer of the service from Environment and Culture Directorate there has 
been a restructure of the staff which resulted in a one off reorganisation cost of £11k. 
Pressure remains on the budget due to property and staffing costs and the service is 
expected to overspend by £70k for the year.  

Recovery Plans 

10 The predicted overspend on Libraries is being managed within the Environment & Culture 
Directorate budget for 2009/10 where savings in  other areas outside of the Community 
Services Portfolio are forecast to underspend and mitigate these pressures. 

2



11 The Libraries service is currently implementing a PC Booking system which will improve 
efficiency by leaving staff free to serve customers, stop queues and enable a seamless self 
service. Possibilities of charging for this and other areas within Libraries are being reviewed 
to address the budget shortfall. 

12 Some recovery has already been made on Tourism budgets through a staff restructure, 
reducing TIC opening times and transfers from other budgets within the division which has 
reduced the expected outturn to £30k overspend. In addition to these activities a review of 
alternative delivery methods is being undertaken to identify further efficiencies to enable the 
service to be delivered within budget. 

Financial Implications 

13 These are contained in the body of the report.  The projected outturn is based upon results 
to the end of September 2009. 

Legal Implications 

14 None 

Risk Management 

15 The risks are set out in the body of the report; in terms of the potential overspend.  The 
report notes the actions planned to address this potential overspend. 

Consultees 

16 Not applicable 

Appendices 

17 Appendix 1 – Revenue Budget Monitoring Report for 2009/10 Period to 30th September 
2009. 
 

3



4



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
B
u
p
d
a
te
d
0
.x
ls

D
o
T

R
e
a
so

n
 f
o
r 
ju

d
g
e
m

e
n
ts

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
A
B

J
u
ly

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

Ju
ly

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

1
5
1

O
v
e
ra
ll 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
ra
te

T
h
e
s
e
 a
re
 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
S
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 

c
o
lle
c
te
d
  
v
ia
 O
N
S
’ 
A
n
n
u
a
l 

P
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 S
u
rv
e
y
 a
n
d
 a
re
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 w
it
h
 a
n
 8
 m
o
n
th
 t
im
e
 

la
g
.

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

7
7
.7
%

(O
c
t 
'0
7
 t
o
 

S
e
p
t 
'0
8
)

7
0
%

N
e
x
t 
u
p
d
a
te
 

d
u
e
 O
c
to
b
e
r 

2
0
0
9

N
e
x
t 
u
p
d
a
te
 

d
u
e
 O
c
to
b
e
r 

2
0
0
9

D
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 a
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 G
ro
w
th
 F
u
n
d
 t
o
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t.
  
W
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 C
h
a
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

C
o
m
m
e
rc
e
 a
n
d
 F
S
B
 o
n
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
is
 a
n
d
 h
o
p
e
 t
o
 

o
p
e
n
 g
ra
n
t 
b
y
 n
e
x
t 
q
u
a
rt
e
r.

C
a
p
it
a
l 
in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
 -
 E
S
G
, 
R
o
th
e
rw
a
s
 

F
u
tu
re
s
, 
M
o
d
e
l 
F
a
rm

. 
 A
ll 
a
re
 b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 i
n
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

w
it
h
 A
W
M
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 p
ro
v
id
e
 t
h
e
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 t
o
 

a
llo
w
 c
o
m
p
a
n
y
 g
ro
w
th
 a
n
d
 i
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 b
a
c
k
 o
f 
th
e
 

d
o
w
n
tu
rn
.

S
e
e
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ta
ry
 f
o
r 
N
I1
5
2
/1
5
3
 b
e
lo
w
 a
ls
o
.

B
B

A
ct

iv
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

sh
o
u
ld

 i
m

p
a
ct

 o
n
 t
a
rg

e
t

1
5
2

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
n
 o
u
t 
o
f 

w
o
rk
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

8
.8
0
%

8
.6
0
%

O
u
tt
u
rn
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r

O
u
tt
u
rn
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r

B
B

A
ll 

a
ct

io
n
s 
a
re

 p
ro

g
re

ss
in

g
 

a
s 
p
la
n
n
e
d
 a

n
d
 a

re
 o

n
 

ta
rg

e
t

1
5
3

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 c
la
im
in
g
 

o
u
t 
o
f 
w
o
rk
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

w
o
rs
t 
p
e
rf
o
rm

in
g
 

n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s

D
a
ta
 i
s
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 b
y
 

J
o
b
c
e
n
tr
e
 P
lu
s
 w
it
h
 a
 6
 m
o
n
th
 

ti
m
e
la
g

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

4
1
.8
0
%

4
1
.8
0
%

B
B

A
ct

iv
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

sh
o
u
ld

 i
m

p
a
ct

 o
n
 t
a
rg

e
t

1
6
1

Y
e
s

L
e
a
rn
e
rs
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 a
 L
e
v
e
l 
1
 

q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 l
it
e
ra
c
y

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

2
5
0
 

(A
ca

d
e
m

ic
 

y
e
a
r 

2
0
0
7
/0

8
)

2
5
0
 

(A
ca

d
e
m

ic
 

y
e
a
r 

2
0
0
8
/0

9
)

A
w
a
it
in

g
 

u
p
d
a
te

 f
ro

m
 

L
S
C

A
A

A
ct

iv
it
y
 c

u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 c

e
a
se

d

1
6
2

Y
e
s

L
e
a
rn
e
rs
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 a
n
 E
n
tr
y
 

L
e
v
e
l 
3
 q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

n
u
m
e
ra
c
y

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

1
2
 

(A
ca

d
e
m

ic
 

Y
e
a
r 

2
0
0
7
/0

8
)

1
2
 

(A
ca

d
e
m

ic
 

Y
e
a
r 

2
0
0
8
/0

9
)

A
w
a
it
in

g
 

u
p
d
a
te

 f
ro

m
 

L
S
C

A
A

A
ct

iv
it
y
 c

u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 c

e
a
se

d

1
6
3

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 t
o
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
L
e
v
e
l 
2
 o
r 

h
ig
h
e
r

 T
h
e
 d
a
ta
 f
o
r 
th
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
w
ill
 

b
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 a
s
 c
a
le
n
d
a
r 
y
e
a
r 

d
a
ta
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 O
ff
ic
e
 f
o
r 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
S
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 (
O
N
S
) 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
P
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 S
u
rv
e
y
 

(A
P
S
).
  
T
h
e
 r
e
s
u
lt
s
 o
f 
w
h
ic
h
 

w
ill
 b
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
h
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 

A
u
g
u
s
t.

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

D
a
ta

 

sh
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

a
v
a
ila

b
le
 

fr
o
m

 L
S
C
 

e
n
d
 J
u
ly
 

2
0
0
9
, 
b
u
t 

st
ill
 

a
w
a
it
e
d

7
4
.9

0
%

F
u
n
d
in

g
 b

e
in

g
 s
o
u
g
h
t 
th

ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 A

B
G
 t
o
 a

cc
o
m

m
o
d
a
te

 

tr
a
in

in
g
 v

o
u
ch

e
r 
sc

h
e
m

e
 a

n
d
 N

E
E
T
 p

ro
v
is
io

n
. 
 C

o
m

m
is
si
o
n
 

re
se

a
rc

h
 w

o
rk

 f
o
r 
N
e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d
 E

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
S
k
ill
s 
P
la
n
 i
n
 

o
rd

e
r 
to

 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 s
p
e
ci
fi
c 

n
e
e
d
s 
o
f 
ta

rg
e
t 
a
re

a
s 
a
n
d
 a

ct
io

n
 p

la
n
 

to
 a

d
d
re

ss
 n

e
e
d
s.
  
T
h
e
re

 i
s 
a
n
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
h
o
u
se

h
o
ld

 s
u
rv

e
y
 w

h
ic
h
 

is
 u

se
d
 t
o
 e

st
a
b
lis

h
 t
h
e
 a

ch
ie
v
e
m

e
n
ts

 o
f 
th

e
 i
n
d
iv
id

u
a
ls
 i
n
 

p
ro

g
re

ss
 t
o
w
a
rd

s 
th

e
 P

I.
  
T
h
is
 i
s 
re

p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 L

e
a
rn

in
g
 a

n
d
 

S
k
ill
s 
C
o
u
n
ci
l 
b
u
t 
is
 n

o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila

b
le
.

A
ct

iv
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 f
ro

m
 L

S
C
 t
h
a
t 
in

fl
u
e
n
ce

s 
th

is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to

r 

sh
o
w
in

g
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 a
g
a
in

st
 t
a
rg

e
t.
 

B
B

A
ll 

p
la
n
n
e
d
 a

ct
iv
it
y
 i
s 

ta
k
in

g
 p

la
ce

 a
n
d
 o

n
 t
a
rg

e
t

1
6
4

Y
e
s

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 t
o
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
L
e
v
e
l 
3
 o
r 

h
ig
h
e
r 

T
h
e
s
e
 a
re
 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
S
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 

c
o
lle
c
te
d
 v
ia
 O
N
S
’ 
A
n
n
u
a
l 

P
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 S
u
rv
e
y
 a
n
d
 a
re
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 w
it
h
 a
n
 8
 m
o
n
th
 t
im
e
 

la
g
. 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

D
a
ta

 

sh
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

a
v
a
ila

b
le
 

fr
o
m

 L
S
C
 

e
n
d
 J
u
ly
 

2
0
0
9
, 
b
u
t 

st
ill
 

a
w
a
it
e
d

4
6
.1

0
%

A
ct

iv
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 f
ro

m
 L

S
C
 t
h
a
t 
in

fl
u
e
n
ce

s 
th

is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to

r 

sh
o
w
in

g
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t.
 

B
B

A
ct

iv
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

sh
o
u
ld

 i
m

p
a
ct

 o
n
 t
a
rg

e
t

R
A
B
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

E
S
F
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 p
ro
je
c
t 
'E
n
g
a
g
e
' 
fo
c
u
s
e
d
 a
t 
g
e
tt
in
g
 l
o
n
g
 t
e
rm

 

u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
e
d
 f
ro
m
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 w
a
rd
s
 i
n
to
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
- 
n
o
w
 

o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l.
  
F
u
tu
re
 J
o
b
s
 F
u
n
d
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
. 
 P
ro
je
c
t 

a
ls
o
 a
im
e
d
 a
t 
g
e
tt
in
g
 w
o
rk
le
s
s
 y
o
u
n
g
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 b
a
c
k
 i
n
to
 

w
o
rk
. 
 A
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
A
B
G
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 t
o
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 a
d
v
ic
e
. 

B
o
th

 T
ra

in
 t
o
 G

a
in

 a
n
d
 S

k
ill
s 
fo

r 
L
if
e
 C

o
u
rs

e
s 
a
re

 d
e
m

a
n
d
 l
e
d
 

a
s 
a
ll 

in
d
iv
id

u
a
ls
 a

re
 e

n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c

o
u
rs

e
s 
h
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 c

u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 

th
e
 T

ra
in

 t
o
 G

a
in

 b
u
d
g
e
t 
is
 s
p
e
n
t.
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

C
o
m
m
e
n
t/
p
ro
g
re
s
s

L
a
te
s
t 
O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

T
a
rg
e
t

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

5



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
B
u
p
d
a
te
d
0
.x
ls

D
o
T

R
e
a
so

n
 f
o
r 
ju

d
g
e
m

e
n
ts

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
A
B

J
u
ly

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

Ju
ly

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

R
A
B
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

C
o
m
m
e
n
t/
p
ro
g
re
s
s

L
a
te
s
t 
O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

T
a
rg
e
t

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

1
6
5

Y
e
s

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 t
o
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
L
e
v
e
l 
4
 o
r 

h
ig
h
e
r 

T
h
e
s
e
 a
re
 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
S
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 

c
o
lle
c
te
d
 v
ia
 O
N
S
’ 
A
n
n
u
a
l 

P
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 S
u
rv
e
y
 a
n
d
 a
re
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 w
it
h
 a
n
 8
 m
o
n
th
 t
im
e
 

la
g
.

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

D
a
ta

 

sh
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

a
v
a
ila

b
le
 

fr
o
m

 L
S
C
 

e
n
d
 J
u
ly
 

2
0
0
9
, 
b
u
t 

st
ill
 

a
w
a
it
e
d

2
7
.8

0
%

T
h
e
 H

ig
h
e
r 
E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
H
e
re

fo
rd

sh
ir
e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
G
ro

u
p
 

h
a
v
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 p

ro
p
o
sa

ls
 f
o
r 
a
 u

n
iv
e
rs

it
y
 g

a
te

w
a
y
 (
h
ib

) 
a
n
d
 

sp
o
k
e
 p

ro
v
is
io

n
 t
o
 e

n
a
b
le
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
 a

cc
e
ss

 t
o
 h

ig
h
e
r 

e
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c

o
u
n
ty

. 
 A

 '
S
ta

te
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
In

te
n
t'
 t
o
 s
e
cu

re
 

H
E
F
C
E
 f
u
n
d
in

g
 t
o
 e

n
a
b
le
 t
h
is
 p

ro
je

ct
 w

a
s 
su

b
m

it
te

d
 o

n
 3

0
th

 

Ju
n
e
. 
 T

h
e
 L

if
e
lo

n
g
 L

e
a
rn

in
g
 N

e
tw

o
rk

 f
o
r 
H
e
re

fo
rd

sh
ir
e
 a

n
d
 

W
o
rc

e
st

e
rs

h
ir
e
 h

a
s 
la
u
n
ch

e
d
 a

 w
e
b
 s
it
e
 t
o
 a

ss
is
t 
st

u
d
e
n
ts

 

w
it
h
 p

ro
g
re

ss
io

n
 r
o
u
te

s

B
B

A
ct

iv
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

sh
o
u
ld

 i
m

p
a
ct

 o
n
 t
a
rg

e
t

1
6
6

Y
e
s

A
v
e
ra
g
e
 e
a
rn
in
g
s
 o
f 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a
re
a

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

£
3
8
9
.4

0
 

(+
/-
 

£
4
9
.6

1
)

£
3
9
0

P
ro

g
re

ss
io

n
 o

n
 t
h
e
 E

S
G
 s
ch

e
m

e

- 
P
la
n
n
in

g
 P

e
rm

is
si
o
n
 f
o
r 
re

p
la
ce

m
e
n
t 
L
iv
e
st

o
ck

 m
a
rk

e
t 

o
b
ta

in
e
d
.

- 
C
a
b
in

e
t 
A
p
p
ro

v
a
l 
fo

r 
R
e
ta

il 
Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
a
g
re

e
m

e
n
t 

o
b
ta

in
e
d
.

P
ro

m
o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
R
o
th

e
rw

a
s 
a
s 
k
e
y
 b

u
si
n
e
ss

 l
o
ca

ti
o
n

- 
D
is
cu

ss
io

n
s 
w
it
h
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
A
g
e
n
cy

 r
e
 f
lo

o
d
in

g
 h

a
v
e
 

o
p
e
n
e
d
 u

p
 S

o
u
th

 M
a
g
a
zi
n
e
 s
it
e
 a

n
d
 i
n
d
ic
a
te

d
 w

a
y
s 
fo

rw
a
rd

 

fo
r 
o
th

e
r 
e
le
m

e
n
ts

.

- 
P
la
n
n
in

g
 A

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
N
o
rt
h
e
r 
M

a
g
a
zi
n
e
 a

cc
e
ss

 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m

e
n
t 
su

b
m

it
te

d
.

E
st

a
b
lis

h
 L

iv
e
/W

o
rk

 u
n
it
s 
o
n
 M

o
d
e
l 
F
a
rm

 -
 R

o
ss

-o
n
-W

y
e

- 
M

a
st

e
rp

la
n
 f
o
r 
si
te

 t
o
 b

e
 c

o
m

p
le
te

d
 i
n
 J
u
ly
.

- 
M

a
rk

e
t 
a
n
a
ly
si
s 
su

rv
e
y
 t
o
 b

e
 c

o
m

p
le
te

d
 i
n
 J
u
ly
 0

9
.

- 
T
e
n
d
e
ri
n
g
 p

ro
ce

ss
 f
o
r 
in

fr
a
st

ru
ct

u
re

 d
e
si
g
n
 a

n
d
 s
e
rv

ic
in

g
 t
o
 

b
e
 c

o
m

p
le
te

d
 i
n
 J
u
ly
.

R
u
ra

l 
E
n
te

rp
ri
se

 G
ra

n
ts

- 
A
W

M
 o

ff
e
r 
le
tt
e
r 
si
g
n
e
d
 a

n
d
 r
e
tu

rn
e
d
.

- 
2
6
 p

ro
je

ct
s 
su

p
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 d

a
te

.

- 
3
7
0
 s
ta

g
e
 o

n
e
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 f
o
rm

s 
se

n
t 
o
u
t.

B
B

A
ct

iv
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

sh
o
u
ld

 i
m

p
a
ct

 o
n
 t
a
rg

e
t

1
7
1

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

N
e
w
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 r
e
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0
 r
e
s
id
e
n
t 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 1
6
+

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

5
9
.2

4
1
.8

0

C
re

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
b
u
si
n
e
ss

 g
ra

n
ts

 

- 
R
e
ce

iv
e
d
 A

B
G
 a

p
p
ro

v
a
l 
fo

r 
b
u
si
n
e
ss

 g
ro

w
th

 f
u
n
d
 a

n
d
 

b
u
si
n
e
ss

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
fu

n
d
, 
w
o
rk

in
g
 w

it
h
 C

h
a
m

b
e
r 
a
n
d
 F

S
B
 

o
n
 i
m

p
le
m

e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 o

f 
sc

h
e
m

e
.

- 
R
e
ce

iv
e
d
 A

B
G
 a

p
p
ro

v
a
l 
fo

r 
tr
a
in

in
g
 v

o
u
ch

e
r 
sc

h
e
m

e
 

E
co

n
o
m

ic
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

- 
E
co

n
o
m

ic
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs

h
ip

 G
ro

u
p

C
o
n
v
e
rs

io
n
 o

f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 b

u
si
n
e
ss

e
s 
to

 V
A
T
 a

n
d
 P

A
Y
E
 

re
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
.

- 
In

it
ia
l 
m

e
e
ti
n
g
 w

it
h
 H

M
R
C
 t
o
 i
n
v
e
st

ig
a
te

 p
o
ss

ib
ili
ty

 o
f 
jo

in
t 

ro
a
d
sh

o
w
s 
a
n
d
 p

ro
m

o
ti
o
n
a
l 
e
v
e
n
ts

, 
fa

v
o
u
ra

b
le
 r
e
sp

o
n
se

 

re
ce

iv
e
d
.

- 
S
e
cu

re
d
 f
u
n
d
in

g
 t
o
 r
u
n
 r
o
a
d
sh

o
w
s 
a
n
d
 p

u
b
lic

is
e
 b

e
n
e
fi
ts

 o
f 

V
A
T
 a

n
d
 P

A
Y
E
 r
e
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
.

B
B

A
ll 

a
ct

iv
it
y
 i
s 
o
n
 t
a
rg

e
t 

a
n
d
 t
a
k
in

g
 p

la
ce

 a
s 

p
la
n
n
e
d

1
7
2

%
 o
f 
s
m
a
ll 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 i
n
 a
n
 

a
re
a
 s
h
o
w
in
g
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

g
ro
w
th

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

1
4
.2

%
 

(2
0
0
7
)

1
4
.2

0
%

S
e
e
 c

o
m

m
e
n
ta

ry
 f
o
r 
N
I1

7
1
. 
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
b
u
si
n
e
ss

e
s 
w
it
h
in

 A
B
G
 "
F
ig

h
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 D

o
w
n
tu

rn
" 

su
b
m

is
si
o
n
, 
sp

e
ci
fi
ca

lly
 B

u
si
n
e
ss

 F
u
n
d
. 
 I
n
v
e
st

ig
a
ti
n
g
 r
a
n
g
e
 o

f 

b
u
si
n
e
ss

 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 m

e
a
su

re
s 
to

 b
e
 u

n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 w

it
h
in

 f
u
tu

re
 

A
B
G
 a

n
d
 L

P
S
A
 s
u
b
m

is
si
o
n
.

N
e
w
 R

u
ra

l 
e
n
te

rp
ri
se

 G
ra

n
t 
su

p
p
o
rt
s 
m

ic
ro

 e
n
te

rp
ri
se

s 
a
n
d
 

fa
rm

in
g
 h

o
u
se

h
o
ld

s.

C
a
p
it
a
l 
sc

h
e
m

e
s 
st

ill
 p

ro
g
re

ss
in

g
 -
 E

S
G
, 
R
o
th

e
rw

a
s 
F
u
tu

re
s,
 

M
o
d
e
l 
F
a
rm

.

B
B

A
ct

iv
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

sh
o
u
ld

 i
m

p
a
ct

 o
n
 t
a
rg

e
t

1
7
3

P
e
o
p
le
 f
a
lli
n
g
 o
u
t 
o
f 
w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 

o
n
 t
o
 i
n
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

0
.6
2

(2
0
0
8
)

0
.6

2

S
ch

e
m

e
s 
b
e
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 t
o
 a

d
d
re

ss
 "
W

o
rk

le
ss

n
e
ss

" 
sc

h
e
m

e
s 

fu
n
d
e
d
 b

y
 E

U
 s
o
u
rc

e
s.
  

D
A
R
E
 p

ro
je

ct
 a

im
e
d
 a

t 
th

o
se

 p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 h

a
rd

 t
o
 r
e
a
ch

 g
ro

u
p
s 

fr
o
m

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
p
e
rs

p
e
ct

iv
e
 n

o
w
 b

e
e
n
 p

u
lle

d
 b

y
 A

W
M

 f
o
r 

fu
n
d
in

g
.

B
B

A
ct

iv
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

sh
o
u
ld

 i
m

p
a
ct

 o
n
 t
a
rg

e
t

6



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
B
u
p
d
a
te
d
0
.x
ls

D
o
T

R
e
a
so

n
 f
o
r 
ju

d
g
e
m

e
n
ts

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
A
B

J
u
ly

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

Ju
ly

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

R
A
B
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

C
o
m
m
e
n
t/
p
ro
g
re
s
s

L
a
te
s
t 
O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

T
a
rg
e
t

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

1
7
4

S
k
ill
s
 g
a
p
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 

w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
y
 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
rs

T
h
is
 d
a
ta
 i
s
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

L
S
C
 f
ro
m
 a
 b
ie
n
n
ia
l 
s
u
rv
e
y
. 

T
h
e
 n
e
x
t 
s
u
rv
e
y
 i
s
 d
u
e
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
.

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

6
%

 f
o
r 

H
e
re

fo
rd

 &
 

W
o
rc

e
st

e
r 

(L
S
C
 A

re
a
)

(2
0
0
7
)

6
%

 f
o
r 

H
e
re

fo
rd

 &
 

W
o
rc

e
st

e
r 

(L
S
C
 A

re
a
)

W
o
rk

in
g
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 6

th
 F

o
rm

 C
o
lle

g
e
 a

n
d
 H

e
re

fo
rd

 G
ro

u
p
 

tr
a
in

in
g
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 a
n
d
 a

d
d
re

ss
 s
k
ill
s 
g
a
p
 f
o
r 
th

e
 f
u
tu

re
.

B
B

A
ct

iv
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

sh
o
u
ld

 i
m

p
a
ct

 o
n
 t
a
rg

e
t

1
5

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
 v
io
le
n
t 

c
ri
m
e
s
/1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

0
.9
7

0
.9
7

0
.1
6

0
.3
5

T
h
e
re
 w
a
s
 a
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 H
o
m
e
 O
ff
ic
e
 C
o
u
n
ti
n
g
 R
u
le
s
 i
n
 

2
0
0
8
/9
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 t
h
e
re
 i
s
 n
o
 b
e
n
c
h
m
a
rk
 t
o
 c
o
m
p
a
re
 t
h
e
 2
0
0
8
/9
 

fi
g
u
re
 t
o
, 
b
u
t 
w
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 l
o
o
k
in
g
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 u
p
o
n
 2
0
0
8
/9
 

o
ff
e
n
c
e
 l
e
v
e
ls
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
. 
O
ff
e
n
c
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
is
 c
a
te
g
o
ry
 a
re
 t
h
e
 

m
o
s
t 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
 a
n
d
 w
o
u
ld
 e
it
h
e
r 
le
a
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
o
in
tm
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
n
 

S
IO
, 
o
r 
re
v
ie
w
 b
y
 a
n
 S
IO
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
ll 
lin
e
s
 o
f 
e
n
q
u
ir
y
 w
e
re
 

b
e
in
g
 f
o
llo
w
e
d
. 
S
e
ri
o
u
s
 V
io
le
n
t 
C
ri
m
e
s
 a
re
 a
ls
o
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 d
a
ily
 

a
n
d
 w
e
e
k
ly
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 a
t 
C
o
m
m
a
n
d
 T
e
a
m
 l
e
v
e
l,
 a
n
d
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 a
ls
o
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
t 
th
e
 m
o
n
th
ly
 d
iv
is
io
n
a
l 

L
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 &
 D
e
liv
e
ry
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
.

A
G

� ���

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 w
e
ll 
a
h
e
a
d
 

o
f 
la
s
t 
y
e
a
r 
a
n
d
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 

re
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

1
6

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
 a
c
q
u
is
it
iv
e
 

c
ri
m
e
s
/1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

6
.9
5

6
.9
5

1
.7
1

3
.2
9

O
ff
e
n
c
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
is
 c
a
te
g
o
ry
 a
re
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 d
a
ily
, 
w
e
e
k
ly
 a
n
d
 

m
o
n
th
ly
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 a
n
d
 r
e
g
u
la
r 
a
n
a
ly
s
is
 t
o
 p
ic
k
 u
p
 o
n
 a
n
y
 

tr
e
n
d
s
 a
n
d
 p
a
tt
e
rn
s
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 T
a
s
k
in
g
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
s
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
.

N
o
te
: 
Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 f
ig
u
re
 a
d
ju
s
te
d
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
e
w
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 e
s
ti
m
a
te
s

A
B

� ���
A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

1
7

Y
e
s

P
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
a
n
ti
-s
o
c
ia
l 

b
e
h
a
v
io
u
r

D
a
ta
 i
s
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

P
la
c
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
 b
ie
n
ia
lly
.

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

1
2
%

n
o
t 
m
o
re
 

th
a
n
 1
2
%

(2
0
1
0
)

D
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 R
e
g
is
te
re
d
 S
o
c
ia
l 
L
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
 (
R
S
L
s
) 
h
a
v
e
 

o
c
c
u
rr
e
d
 a
n
d
 d
a
ta
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 i
s
 n
o
w
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
.

In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 n
o
w
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 T
ru
s
t 

a
n
d
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 o
f 
s
u
b
-g
ro
u
p
s
 s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
.

L
in
k
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 T
e
a
m
 a
n
d
 H
C
S
D
P
 

s
ti
ll 
to
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
.

A
B

A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

1
8

A
d
u
lt
 r
e
-o
ff
e
n
d
in
g
 r
a
te
s
 f
o
r 

th
o
s
e
 u
n
d
e
r 
p
ro
b
a
ti
o
n
 

s
u
p
e
rv
is
io
n

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

T
a
rg
e
te
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 e
n
g
a
g
e
 P
P
O
's
 i
n
 r
e
d
u
c
in
g
 o
ff
e
n
d
in
g
.

D
a
ta
 n
o
t 
c
o
lle
c
te
d
/m
e
a
s
u
re
d
 l
o
c
a
lly
, 
W
e
s
t 
M
e
rc
ia
 a
re
a
 o
n
ly
. 
 

W
e
s
t 
M
e
rc
ia
 d
a
ta
 t
o
 b
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 b
y
 W

M
 P
ro
b
a
ti
o
n
 H
Q
 a
s
 a
n
d
 

w
h
e
n
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
fi
g
u
re
s
 b
e
c
o
m
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
.

A
A

A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
, 
b
u
t 
d
a
ta
 

a
w
a
it
e
d
 a
n
d
 t
a
rg
e
t 
y
e
t 
to
 

b
e
 s
e
t

2
0

A
s
s
a
u
lt
 w
it
h
 i
n
ju
ry
 c
ri
m
e
 r
a
te

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

5
.3
9

5
.3
9

1
.3
1

2
.9
1

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
  
n
u
m
b
e
r 
=
 2
4
3
. 
 

N
I2
0
 i
s
 a
ls
o
 a
 p
ro
x
y
 f
o
r 
a
lc
o
h
o
l 
fu
e
lle
d
 v
io
le
n
c
e
. 
 

N
o
te
s
: 
th
e
 H
o
m
e
 O
ff
ic
e
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
8
/9
 w
a
s
 s
u
b
tl
y
 

d
if
fe
re
n
t 
to
 t
h
a
t 
fo
r 
2
0
0
7
/8
 –
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
w
h
ic
h
 w
a
s
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 

th
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
o
ff
e
n
c
e
s
 b
y
 4
 -
 1
6
%
.

Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 f
ig
u
re
 a
d
ju
s
te
d
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
e
w
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 e
s
ti
m
a
te
s

A
A

� ���
A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

S
a
fe
r 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

7



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
B
u
p
d
a
te
d
0
.x
ls

D
o
T

R
e
a
so

n
 f
o
r 
ju

d
g
e
m

e
n
ts

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
A
B

J
u
ly

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

Ju
ly

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

R
A
B
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

C
o
m
m
e
n
t/
p
ro
g
re
s
s

L
a
te
s
t 
O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

T
a
rg
e
t

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

2
1

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

D
e
a
lin
g
 w
it
h
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

a
b
o
u
t 
a
n
ti
s
o
c
ia
l 
b
e
h
a
v
io
u
r 
a
n
d
 

c
ri
m
e
 b
y
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 

p
o
lic
e

D
a
ta
 i
s
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

P
la
c
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
 b
ie
n
ia
lly
.

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

2
5
.4
0
%

3
0
.4
%

(2
0
1
0
)

D
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 R
e
g
is
te
re
d
 S
o
c
ia
l 
L
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
 (
R
S
L
s
) 
h
a
v
e
 

o
c
c
u
rr
e
d
 a
n
d
 d
a
ta
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 i
s
 n
o
w
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
.

In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 n
o
w
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 T
ru
s
t 

a
n
d
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 o
f 
s
u
b
-g
ro
u
p
s
 s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
.

L
in
k
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 T
e
a
m
 a
n
d
 H
C
S
D
P
 

s
ti
ll 
to
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
.

B
B

A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

2
2

P
e
rc

e
p
ti
o
n
s 
o
f 
p
a
re

n
ts

 t
a
k
in

g
 

re
sp

o
n
si
b
ili
ty

 f
o
r 
th

e
 b

e
h
a
v
io

u
r 

o
f 
th

e
ir
 c

h
ild

re
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a

re
a

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

3
6
%

n
o
t 
le
s
s
 

th
a
n
 3
6
%

(2
0
1
0
)

D
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 R
e
g
is
te
re
d
 S
o
c
ia
l 
L
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
 (
R
S
L
s
) 
h
a
v
e
 

o
c
c
u
rr
e
d
 a
n
d
 d
a
ta
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 i
s
 n
o
w
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
.

In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 n
o
w
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 T
ru
s
t 

a
n
d
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 o
f 
s
u
b
-g
ro
u
p
s
 s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
.

L
in
k
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 T
e
a
m
 a
n
d
 H
C
S
D
P
 

s
ti
ll 
to
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
.

A
B

A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

2
4

S
a
ti
sf
a
ct

io
n
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 w

a
y
 t
h
e
 

p
o
lic

e
 a

n
d
 l
o
ca

l 
co

u
n
ci
l 
d
e
a
lt
 

w
it
h
 a

n
ti
so

ci
a
l 
b
e
h
a
v
io

u
r

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

2
1
%

n
o
t 
le
s
s
 

th
a
n
 2
1
%

(2
0
1
0
)

D
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 R
e
g
is
te
re
d
 S
o
c
ia
l 
L
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
 (
R
S
L
s
) 
h
a
v
e
 

o
c
c
u
rr
e
d
 a
n
d
 d
a
ta
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 i
s
 n
o
w
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
.

In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 n
o
w
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 T
ru
s
t 

a
n
d
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 o
f 
s
u
b
-g
ro
u
p
s
 s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
.

L
in
k
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 T
e
a
m
 a
n
d
 H
C
S
D
P
 

s
ti
ll 
to
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
.

A
B

A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

2
7

U
n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
in

g
 o

f 
lo

ca
l 

co
n
ce

rn
s 
a
b
o
u
t 
a
n
ti
-s

o
ci
a
l 

b
e
h
a
v
io

u
r 
a
n
d
 c

ri
m

e
 b

y
 t
h
e
 

lo
ca

l 
co

u
n
ci
l 
a
n
d
 p

o
lic

e

D
a
ta

 i
s 
co

lle
ct

e
d
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

P
la
ce

 s
u
rv

e
y
 b

ie
n
ia
lly

.

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

2
4
%

n
o
t 
le
s
s
 

th
a
n
 2
4
%

(2
0
1
0
)

D
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 R
e
g
is
te
re
d
 S
o
c
ia
l 
L
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
 (
R
S
L
s
) 
h
a
v
e
 

o
c
c
u
rr
e
d
 a
n
d
 d
a
ta
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 i
s
 n
o
w
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
.

In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 n
o
w
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 T
ru
s
t 

a
n
d
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 o
f 
s
u
b
-g
ro
u
p
s
 s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
.

L
in
k
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 T
e
a
m
 a
n
d
 H
C
S
D
P
 

s
ti
ll 
to
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
.

A
B

A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

2
8

K
n
if
e
 c
ri
m
e
 r
a
te
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

0
.1
4

0
.1
4

0
.0
5

0
.1
6

In
 A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
0
8
 t
h
e
 D
iv
is
io
n
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
e
d
 a
  
n
e
w
 p
ro
to
c
o
l 
to
 d
e
a
l 

w
it
h
 k
n
if
e
 c
ri
m
e
, 
n
o
t 
in
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 a
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 t
re
n
d
, 
b
u
t 
a
s
 a
 

p
re
-e
m
p
ti
v
e
 m
e
a
s
u
re
 t
o
 c
o
u
n
te
r 
a
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
ri
s
e
 i
n
 k
n
if
e
 r
e
la
te
d
 

in
c
id
e
n
ts
. 
A
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 e
le
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
is
, 
O
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
 D
e
te
r,
 i
d
e
n
ti
fe
d
 

a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
in
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 t
h
a
t 
in
te
lli
g
e
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
d
 w
e
re
 

c
a
rr
y
in
g
 k
n
iv
e
s
. 
S
tr
u
c
tu
re
d
 i
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
, 
a
h
e
a
d
 o
f 
a
n
y
 

o
ff
e
n
d
in
g
, 
to
o
k
 p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
s
e
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
. 
 A
ll 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 

in
v
o
lv
in
g
 k
n
iv
e
s
 a
re
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 d
a
ily
 t
a
s
k
in
g
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
p
o
s
it
iv
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
 i
s
 t
a
k
e
n
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
a
n
y
 

n
a
m
e
d
 o
ff
e
n
d
e
r.

N
o
te
: 
Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 f
ig
u
re
 a
d
ju
s
te
d
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
e
w
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 e
s
ti
m
a
te
s

A
R

� ���
A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

2
9

G
u
n
 c
ri
m
e
 r
a
te
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

0
.0
5

0
.0
5

0
.0
2

0
.0
4

N
o
te
: 
Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 f
ig
u
re
 c
h
a
n
g
e
d
 a
n
d
 a
d
ju
s
te
d
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 

p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
e
w
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 e
s
ti
m
a
te
s

R
R

� ���
P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 b
e
lo
w
 t
a
rg
e
t

3
0

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

R
e
-o
ff
e
n
d
in
g
 r
a
te
 o
f 
p
ro
lif
ic
 a
n
d
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty
 o
ff
e
n
d
e
rs
 (
P
P
O
)

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

2
1
%

T
a
rg
e
t 
h
a
s
 j
u
s
t 
b
e
e
n
 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 b
y
 H
o
m
e
 O
ff
ic
e
.

E
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 r
e
p
o
rt
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 P
P
O
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
G
ro
u
p
 i
n
 

re
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 a
lc
o
h
o
l 
a
rr
e
s
t 

re
fe
rr
a
l 
s
c
h
e
m
e
.

P
P
O
 S
c
h
e
m
e
 b
e
in
g
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
.

D
ru
g
 C
o
n
d
it
io
n
a
l 
C
a
u
ti
o
n
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
n
d
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
.

B
e
n
c
h
m
a
rk
in
g
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
a
n
d
 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r.

B
B

A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 d
a
ta
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 

in
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r

8



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
B
u
p
d
a
te
d
0
.x
ls

D
o
T

R
e
a
so

n
 f
o
r 
ju

d
g
e
m

e
n
ts

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
A
B

J
u
ly

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

Ju
ly

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

R
A
B
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

C
o
m
m
e
n
t/
p
ro
g
re
s
s

L
a
te
s
t 
O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

T
a
rg
e
t

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

3
2

R
e
p
e
a
t 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 o
f 
d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 

v
io
le
n
c
e

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

N
e
w
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r,
 

ta
rg
e
t 
to
 

b
e
 s
e
t 
fo
r 

2
0
1
0
-1
1

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
s
ti
ll 
u
n
d
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
  
H
C
S
D
P
 a
re
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 r
e
p
e
a
t 
v
ic
ti
m
s
 o
f 
D
V
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 l
o
c
a
lly
 

w
it
h
 W

M
C
. 
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 W

o
m
e
n
's
 A
id
 a
n
d
 D
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 

A
b
u
s
e
 F
o
ru
m

B
B

A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
a
 

n
e
w
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r,
 w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 

b
e
in
g
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d

3
3

A
rs
o
n
 i
n
c
id
e
n
ts

- 
th
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
ri
m
a
ry
 f
ir
e
s
 

(m
a
jo
r 
fi
re
s
 i
n
v
o
lv
in
g
 p
ro
p
e
rt
y
, 

c
a
s
u
a
lt
ie
s
 o
r 
in
v
o
lv
in
g
 5
 o
r 

m
o
re
 f
ir
e
 a
p
p
lia
n
c
e
s
) 
p
e
r 

1
0
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
; 
a
n
d

- 
th
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry
 f
ir
e
s
 

(t
h
a
t 
d
id
 n
o
t 
in
v
o
lv
e
 p
ro
p
e
rt
y
, 

c
a
s
u
a
lt
ie
s
 o
r 
re
s
c
u
e
, 
a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 

b
y
 4
 o
r 
fe
w
e
r 
fi
re
 a
p
p
lia
n
c
e
s
) 

p
e
r 
1
0
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
.

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

a
) 
 2
.9

b
) 
 7
.6

a
) 
 4
.0

b
) 
 9
.8

a
) 
0
.6

 

b
) 
2
.2

a
) 
1
.4

b
) 
3
.4

H
W
F
R
S
 a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 1
5
 d
e
lib
e
ra
te
 p
ri
m
a
ry
 f
ir
e
s
 i
n
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 i
n
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 1
0
 i
n
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 a
n
d
 2
1
 d
e
lib
e
ra
te
 

s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry
 f
ir
e
s
 i
n
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 4
0
 i
n
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
. 

T
h
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 i
s
 s
ti
ll 
o
n
 t
ra
c
k
 t
o
 a
tt
e
n
d
 l
e
s
s
 f
ir
e
s
 t
h
a
n
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
rl
y
 

ta
rg
e
ts
. 
T
ra
d
it
io
n
a
lly
 t
h
e
re
 a
re
 m
o
re
 d
e
lib
e
ra
te
 f
ir
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 

h
a
lf
 o
f 
th
e
 y
e
a
r 
th
a
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s
e
c
o
n
d
 h
a
lf
. 

T
h
e
 F
ir
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 h
a
s
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 l
in
k
s
 w
it
h
 W

e
s
t 
M
e
rc
ia
 

C
o
n
s
ta
b
u
la
ry
’s
 A
rs
o
n
 T
a
s
k
 F
o
rc
e
 a
n
d
 a
p
p
o
in
te
d
 a
n
 A
rs
o
n
 

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 
to
 w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
e
. 
W
e
 w
ill
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
n
 

a
rs
o
n
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 p
o
lic
y
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 a
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

d
e
lib
e
ra
te
 f
ir
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
 g
re
a
te
r 
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
h
o
w
 t
o
 p
re
v
e
n
t 

d
e
lib
e
ra
te
 f
ir
e
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
. 
  

B
B

� ���
P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t 

a
n
d
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d

3
4

D
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 v
io
le
n
c
e
 –
 m
u
rd
e
r

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

0
0

0
0

N
o
t 
a
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 f
o
r 
W
M
C
 -
 d
a
ta
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d

B
B

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

B
e
s
t 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
c
h
ie
v
a
b
le

3
9

Y
e
s
 

(L
o
c
a
l)

Y
e
s

A
lc
o
h
o
l-
h
a
rm

 r
e
la
te
d
 h
o
s
p
it
a
l 

a
d
m
is
s
io
n
 r
a
te
s
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

1
2
4
9

1
2
3
7

3
3
5
.7

(c
u
m
u
la
ti
v
e
)

Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 

d
a
ta
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 

a
v
a
ila
b
le

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

A
A

� ���

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 

b
e
lo
w
 t
a
rg
e
t 
a
n
d
 w
o
rs
e
 

th
a
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 s
a
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 

la
s
t 
y
e
a
r,
 b
u
t 
a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 

b
e
in
g
 d
e
liv
e
re
d

4
0

Y
e
s

D
ru
g
 u
s
e
rs
 i
n
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 

tr
e
a
tm
e
n
t

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

5
4
1

A
w
a
it
 r
e
p
o
rt
 c
o
n
fi
rm

in
g
 o
u
tt
u
rn
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
. 
 

N
e
e
d
le
 e
x
c
h
a
n
g
e
 a
u
d
it
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
in
 M
a
y
. 

P
h
a
rm

a
c
y
 N
e
e
d
le
 E
x
c
h
a
n
g
e
 P
ilo
t 
S
c
h
e
m
e
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 i
n
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
. 
T
h
is
 p
ro
v
id
e
s
 a
n
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
m
e
a
n
s
 t
o
 e
n
g
a
g
e
 

p
ro
b
le
m
a
ti
c
 d
ru
g
 u
s
e
rs
.

R
e
c
e
n
t 
in
te
g
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
D
ru
g
 I
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 (
D
IP
) 
te
a
m
 

fr
o
m
 P
ro
b
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C
ri
m
in
a
l 
J
u
s
ti
c
e
 I
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 

w
it
h
in
 D
ru
g
 a
n
d
 A
lc
o
h
o
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 H
e
re
fo
rd
 (
D
A
S
H
).

B
B

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 b
e
in
g
 

d
e
liv
e
re
d

4
1

P
e
rc

e
p
ti
o
n
s 
o
f 
d
ru

n
k
 o

r 
ro

w
d
y
 

b
e
h
a
v
io

u
r 
a
s 
a
 p

ro
b
le
m

D
a
ta

 i
s 
co

lle
ct

e
d
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

P
la
ce

 s
u
rv

e
y
 b

ie
n
ia
lly

.

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

2
2
%

n
o
t 
le
s
s
 

th
a
n
 2
2
%

(2
0
1
0
)

P
la
c
e
 S
u
rv
e
y
 d
a
ta
 b
e
in
g
 a
n
a
ly
s
e
d
 i
n
 d
e
ta
il.

D
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 R
e
g
is
te
re
d
 S
o
c
ia
l 
L
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
 (
R
S
L
s
) 
h
a
v
e
 

o
c
c
u
rr
e
d
 a
n
d
 d
a
ta
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 i
s
 n
o
w
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
.

In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 n
o
w
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 T
ru
s
t 

a
n
d
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 o
f 
s
u
b
-g
ro
u
p
s
 s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
.

L
in
k
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 T
e
a
m
 a
n
d
 H
C
S
D
P
 

s
ti
ll 
to
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
.

A
B

A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

4
2

P
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
d
ru
g
 u
s
e
 o
r 

d
ru
g
 d
e
a
lin
g
 a
s
 a
 p
ro
b
le
m

D
a
ta
 i
s
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

P
la
c
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
 b
ie
n
ia
lly
.

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

2
5
%

n
o
t 
le
s
s
 

th
a
n
 2
5
%

(2
0
1
0
)

P
la
c
e
 S
u
rv
e
y
 d
a
ta
 b
e
in
g
 a
n
a
ly
s
e
d
 i
n
 d
e
ta
il.

D
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 R
e
g
is
te
re
d
 S
o
c
ia
l 
L
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
 (
R
S
L
s
) 
h
a
v
e
 

o
c
c
u
rr
e
d
 a
n
d
 d
a
ta
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 i
s
 n
o
w
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
.

In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 n
o
w
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 T
ru
s
t 

a
n
d
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 o
f 
s
u
b
-g
ro
u
p
s
 s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
.

L
in
k
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 T
e
a
m
 a
n
d
 H
C
S
D
P
 

s
ti
ll 
to
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
.

A
B

A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

9



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
B
u
p
d
a
te
d
0
.x
ls

D
o
T

R
e
a
so

n
 f
o
r 
ju

d
g
e
m

e
n
ts

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
A
B

J
u
ly

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

Ju
ly

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

R
A
B
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

C
o
m
m
e
n
t/
p
ro
g
re
s
s

L
a
te
s
t 
O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

T
a
rg
e
t

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

4
7

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

P
e
o
p
le
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 

in
ju
re
d
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 a
c
c
id
e
n
ts

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

1
1
5

(3
 y
e
a
r 

a
v
e
ra
g
e
)

1
1
4

( 
3
 y
e
a
r 

a
v
e
ra
g
e
)

5
3

(J
a
n
a
u
a
ry
 t
o
 

M
a
y
)

8
6

(J
a
n
u
a
ry
 t
o
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r)

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 6
4
 f
o
r 
th
e
 s
a
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r.

T
h
e
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
a
ti
o
n
's
 R
o
a
d
 S
a
fe
ty
 a
n
d
 A
c
c
id
e
n
t 

In
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 P
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
 t
e
a
m
s
 l
e
a
d
 o
n
 a
 w
id
e
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
tr
a
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 p
u
b
lic
it
y
 a
n
d
 e
n
g
in
e
e
ri
n
g
 m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 t
o
 

a
d
d
re
s
s
 r
o
a
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 a
c
c
id
e
n
ts
. 
M
o
re
 d
e
ta
ile
d
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ta
ry
 o
n
 

th
is
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 i
s
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
in
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 P
la
n
 R
o
a
d
 S
a
fe
ty
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 i
s
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 o
n
 i
n
 a
n
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 r
e
p
o
rt
. 
  

D
ri
v
e
r 
e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
 a
re
 b
e
in
g
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 

th
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
 t
o
 t
ry
 a
n
d
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 o
u
tt
u
rn
s
.

R
B

� ���

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
ce

 h
a
s 

im
p
ro

v
e
d
 i
n
 r
e
ce

n
t 

m
o
n
th

s.
 I
t 
is
 a

n
ti
cp

a
te

d
 

th
a
t 
th

e
 L

A
A
 t
a
rg

e
t 
fo

r 

n
e
x
t 
y
e
a
r 
w
ill
 b

e
 

a
ch

ie
v
e
d
.

4
9

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
ri
m
a
ry
 f
ir
e
s
 a
n
d
 

re
la
te
d
 f
a
ta
lit
ie
s
 a
n
d
 n
o
n
-f
a
ta
l 

c
a
s
u
a
lt
ie
s
, 
e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
 

p
re
c
a
u
ti
o
n
a
ry
 c
h
e
c
k
s

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

a
) 
 1
5
4
.7

b
) 
  
  
  
  
0

c
) 
  
  
4
.5

a
) 
 1
7
9
.1
0

b
) 
  
  
  
  
0

c
) 
  
  
5
.1
8

a
) 
4
6
.0

b
) 
1
.1

 

c)
 1

.7

a
) 
9
1
.9

b
) 
1
.1

 

c)
 2

.8

H
W
F
R
S
 a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 8
2
 p
ri
m
a
ry
 f
ir
e
s
 i
n
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 i
n
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 

2
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 8
2
 i
n
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 a
ls
o
. 
T
h
e
re
 w
e
re
 n
o
 f
a
ta
lit
ie
s
 

fr
o
m
 p
ri
m
a
ry
 f
ir
e
s
 i
n
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 2
 i
n
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 

a
n
d
 2
 i
n
ju
ri
e
s
 i
n
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 3
 i
n
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
. 
  
 

H
W
F
R
S
's
 b
a
la
n
c
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
P
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
, 
P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

In
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 i
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
h
e
 

p
ri
m
a
ry
 a
im
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
in
g
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 s
a
fe
ty
 a
n
d
 r
e
d
u
c
in
g
 r
is
k
. 

T
h
e
 r
is
k
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 a
re
 b
a
s
e
d
 u
p
o
n
 a
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 o
f:

• 
id
e
n
ti
fy
in
g
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 a
re
 m
o
s
t 
‘a
t 
ri
s
k
’;

• 
c
o
n
fi
rm

in
g
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
o
s
e
 p
e
o
p
le
;

• 
id
e
n
ti
fy
in
g
 t
h
e
 r
is
k
s
 t
o
 w
h
ic
h
 t
h
e
y
 a
re
 e
x
p
o
s
e
d
 t
o
;

• 
ta
rg
e
ti
n
g
 m
o
s
t 
o
f 
H
W
F
R
S
's
 e
ff
o
rt
s
 a
n
d
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
t 
re
d
u
c
in
g
 

th
o
s
e
 r
is
k
s
 u
s
in
g
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
p
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
, 
p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 i
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
;

w
h
ils
t 
a
ls
o

• 
s
u
s
ta
in
in
g
 a
 b
ro
a
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 

m
a
tt
e
rs
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 s
p
a
rs
it
y
 a
n
d
 e
q
u
it
y
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e

A
A

� ���
O
n
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 e
x
c
e
p
t 
fo
r 

fa
ta
lit
ie
s

1
4
3

O
ff
e
n
d
e
rs
 u
n
d
e
r 
p
ro
b
a
ti
o
n
 

s
u
p
e
rv
is
io
n
 l
iv
in
g
 i
n
 s
e
tt
le
d
 a
n
d
 

s
u
it
a
b
le
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 a
t 
th
e
 

e
n
d
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 o
rd
e
r 
o
r 
lic
e
n
c
e

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

7
8
%

7
0
%

8
1
%

8
1
%

G
G

� ���
T
a
rg
e
t 
e
x
c
e
e
d
e
d

1
4
4

O
ff
e
n
d
e
rs
 u
n
d
e
r 
p
ro
b
a
ti
o
n
 

s
u
p
e
rv
is
io
n
 i
n
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
a
t 

th
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 o
rd
e
r 
o
r 
lic
e
n
c
e

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

5
4
%

4
0
%

3
7
%

4
4
%

R
B

� ���

T
a
rg
e
t 
e
x
c
e
e
d
e
d
, 
b
u
t 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 w
o
rs
e
 t
h
a
n
 

fo
r 
th
e
 s
a
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
s
t 

y
e
a
r

N
o
te
: 
ta
rg
e
t 
a
n
d
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 

d
a
ta
 u
p
d
a
te
d

S
tr
o
n
g
e
r 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

10



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
B
u
p
d
a
te
d
0
.x
ls

D
o
T

R
e
a
so

n
 f
o
r 
ju

d
g
e
m

e
n
ts

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
A
B

J
u
ly

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

Ju
ly

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

R
A
B
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

C
o
m
m
e
n
t/
p
ro
g
re
s
s

L
a
te
s
t 
O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

T
a
rg
e
t

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

4
Y
e
s

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 f
e
e
l 
th
e
y
 c
a
n
 

in
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 

lo
c
a
lit
y

D
a
ta
 i
s
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

P
la
c
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
 b
ie
n
ia
lly
.

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

2
8
.8
%

3
2
.3
%

(2
0
1
0
)

T
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 L
e
d
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 T
ra
n
s
it
io
n
 G
ro
u
p
 i
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
 o
f 
s
u
b
m
it
ti
n
g
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
fu
n
d
in
g
 b
id
s
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
th
e
 R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 l
e
d
 p
la
n
n
in
g
. 
 

T
h
is
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 A
B
G
 f
u
n
d
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 k
e
y
 c
o
-o
rd
in
a
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 p
o
s
t 
a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 L
E
A
D
E
R
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 f
o
r 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
.

£
2
5
k
 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 f
o
r 
p
u
rp
o
s
e
 o
f 
C
L
P
 C
o
m
m
is
io
n
in
g
 O
ff
ic
e
r 

a
p
p
o
in
tm
e
n
t 
fr
o
m
 A
B
G

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
, 
H
A
L
C
, 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 F
ir
s
t 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
ta
rt
-u
p
s
 a
n
d
 

o
n
g
o
in
g
 p
la
n
s
. 
G
ra
n
ts
 a
n
d
 p
ro
je
c
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
d
v
ic
e
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
p
la
n
s
, 
to
g
e
th
e
r 
w
it
h
 r
e
s
u
lt
in
g
 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
S
o
m
e
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 o
u
ts
ta
n
d
in
g
 f
o
r 
th
is
. 
 

A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 H
a
m
p
to
n
 B
is
h
o
p
 P
C
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 p
a
rt
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

p
ilo
t 
o
n
 p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
to
ry
 b
u
d
g
e
ti
n
g
. 

H
A
L
C
/H
C
V
Y
S
 /
H
C
 w
o
rk
in
g
 o
n
 a
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
to
 g
e
t 
y
o
u
n
g
 a
d
u
lt
s
 

m
o
re
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 l
o
c
a
l 
d
e
m
o
c
ra
c
y
. 
 

R
e
a
c
h
in
g
 H
e
a
rt
s
 i
n
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
: 
a
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 

c
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
, 
c
o
u
n
c
il 
o
ff
ic
e
rs
 a
n
d
 a
ll 
lo
c
a
l 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 t
o
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 

h
o
w
 t
o
 b
e
s
t 
w
o
rk
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
to
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 l
iv
e
s
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
.

B
B

P
la
n
n
e
d
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 

p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
 w
h
ic
h
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
t

6
Y
e
s

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

P
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 r
e
g
u
la
r 

v
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g
 

D
a
ta
 i
s
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

P
la
c
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
 b
ie
n
ia
lly
.

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

2
9
%

3
2
.5
%

(2
0
1
0
)

T
h
e
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 V
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g
 C
o
d
e
 o
f 
G
o
o
d
 

P
ra
c
ti
c
e
 h
a
s
 n
o
w
 b
e
e
n
 f
in
a
lis
e
d
 a
n
d
 a
 d
ra
ft
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 d
ra
w
n
 

u
p
.

H
V
A
 a
n
d
 C
V
A
 L
e
d
b
u
ry
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

in
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
th
ro
u
g
h
 S
L
A
's
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 v
o
lu
n
te
e
r 
c
e
n
tr
e
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
.

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 V
o
lu
n
te
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 Y
e
a
r 
a
w
a
rd
s
 h
e
ld
 i
n
 J
u
n
e
 

2
0
0
9
, 
w
h
ic
h
 r
a
is
e
s
 t
h
e
 p
ro
fi
le
 o
f 
v
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g
. 
 

£
6
k
 s
e
c
u
re
d
 f
o
r 
m
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 c
a
m
p
a
ig
n
s
 a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 i
s
 n
o
t 

d
u
e
 t
o
 s
ta
rt
 i
n
 e
a
rn
e
s
t 
ti
l 
N
o
v
 2
0
0
9
 (
o
ri
g
in
a
lly
 J
u
n
e
/J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
) 

to
 t
ie
 i
n
 w
it
h
 C
o
m
p
a
c
t 
A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n

A
 r
is
k
 t
h
a
t 
n
o
t 
a
ll 
o
f 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 d
u
e
 t
o
 a
 s
h
o
rt
fa
ll 

in
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 h
a
s
 n
o
w
 b
e
e
n
 m
it
ig
a
te
d
.

A
B

W
o
rk
 i
s
 n
o
w
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
 

in
 a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

p
re
v
iu
o
s
ly
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 r
is
k
 

h
a
s
 n
o
w
 b
e
e
n
 m
it
ig
a
te
d

7

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
a
 t
h
ri
v
in
g
 t
h
ir
d
 

s
e
c
to
r

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
s
u
rv
e
y
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
d
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 O
ff
ic
e
 o
f 
th
e
 T
h
ir
d
 

S
e
c
to
r

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

1
4
.9
%

1
9
%

(2
0
1
0
-1
1
)

T
h
e
 C
o
m
p
a
c
t 
c
o
d
e
 o
f 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 o
n
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 a
n
d
 p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 

h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
im
 o
f 

re
fr
e
s
h
in
g
 t
h
e
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 r
o
lli
n
g
 i
t 
o
u
t 
a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 w
h
o
le
 o
f 

th
e
 t
h
ir
d
 s
e
c
to
r 
a
n
d
 L
S
P
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
. 
T
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

'In
fo
rm

in
g
, 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
in
g
 a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
o
rk
in
g
' c
o
d
e
 h
a
s
 

fi
n
is
h
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
l 
d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
is
 b
e
in
g
 r
e
v
is
e
d
 b
e
fo
re
 f
o
rm

a
l 

s
ig
n
o
ff
f 
b
y
 t
h
e
 L
S
P
. 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 i
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
ts
 t
o
 t
h
e
 t
h
ir
d
 s
e
c
to
r 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 b
e
 m
a
d
e
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 S
L
A
's
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
c
ils
 

s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 f
o
r 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 t
h
e
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 s
e
c
to
r.
  
W
o
rk
 o
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
w
id
e
 o
n
lin
e
 d
a
ta
b
a
s
e
 o
f 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 h
a
lls
 i
n
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 i
s
 n
e
a
rl
y
 c
o
m
p
le
te
. 
A
 r
e
v
ie
w
 

o
f 
th
ir
d
 s
e
c
to
r 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 g
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
.

B
B

P
la
n
n
e
d
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 

p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
 w
h
ic
h
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
t

11



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
B
u
p
d
a
te
d
0
.x
ls

D
o
T

R
e
a
so

n
 f
o
r 
ju

d
g
e
m

e
n
ts

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
A
B

J
u
ly

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

Ju
ly

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

R
A
B
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

C
o
m
m
e
n
t/
p
ro
g
re
s
s

L
a
te
s
t 
O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

T
a
rg
e
t

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

9
Y
e
s

Y
e
s

U
s
e
 o
f 
p
u
b
lic
 l
ib
ra
ri
e
s

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

4
7
.9
%

5
1
%

D
e
ta
ile
d
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 o
f 
lib
ra
ry
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
.

M
o
b
ile
 l
ib
ra
ry
 r
e
v
ie
w
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
; 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

b
y
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r.

P
ro
je
c
t 
p
la
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
n
d
 n
e
g
o
ti
a
ti
o
n
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 f
o
r 
a
 l
ic
e
n
c
e
 

to
 o
p
e
n
 a
 v
o
lu
n
te
e
r 
ru
n
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 l
ib
ra
ry
 i
n
 P
e
te
rc
h
u
rc
h
.

S
e
e
k
in
g
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 (
n
o
t 
fu
n
d
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 A
B
G
) 
to
 

d
e
liv
e
r 
IC
T
 t
ra
in
in
g
 p
a
c
k
a
g
e
s
 t
o
 t
a
rg
e
te
d
 g
ro
u
p
s
.

S
u
m
m
e
r 
R
e
a
d
in
g
 C
h
a
lle
n
g
e
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
; 
e
a
rl
y
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 

s
u
g
g
e
s
ts
 a
 g
re
a
te
r 
ta
k
e
 u
p
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 l
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r.

B
B

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 b
e
in
g
 

d
e
liv
e
re
d

1
0

V
is
it
s 
to

 m
u
se

u
m

s 
a
n
d
 g

a
lle

ri
e
s 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

4
8
.0
%

5
1
.3
%

L
e
d
b
u
ry

 H
e
ri
ta

g
e
 C

e
n
tr
e
 r
e
-o

p
e
n
e
d
.

H
e
re

fo
rd

 M
u
se

u
m

 a
n
d
 A

rt
 G

a
lle

ry
 -
 T

o
o
th

 a
n
d
 C

la
w
 e

x
h
ib

it
io

n
 

a
tt
ra

ct
e
d
 5

,4
3
9
 v

is
it
o
rs

 a
n
d
 w

a
s 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 p

o
p
u
la
r 
w
it
h
 

ch
ild

re
n
. 
 T

h
e
 H

e
re

fo
rd

 P
h
o
to

g
ra

p
h
ic
 e

x
h
ib

it
io

n
 o

f 
w
o
rk

s 
b
y
 

Jo
h
n
 B

u
lm

e
r 
a
tt
ra

ct
e
d
 2

,9
5
6
 v

is
it
o
rs

.

A
t 
th

e
 M

u
se

u
m

 R
e
so

u
rc

e
 C

e
n
tr
e
, 
o
p
e
n
 d

a
y
s 
h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 r
u
n
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 e

v
e
n
ts

 s
ta

rt
in

g
 t
o
 a

tt
ra

ct
 a

 r
e
g
u
la
r 
cl
ie
n
te

le
. 
U
sa

g
e
s 

fo
r 
to

u
rs

, 
le
ct

u
re

s 
a
n
d
 s
e
m

in
a
rs

 e
x
ce

e
d
s 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
ts

 s
e
t 
in

 t
h
e
 

o
ri
g
in

a
l 
A
u
d
ie
n
ce

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P
la
n
.

F
a
m

ily
 F

ri
e
n
d
ly
 m

y
st

e
ry

 s
h
o
p
p
e
r 
v
is
it
s 
to

o
k
 p

la
ce

 i
n
 M

a
y
 a

t 
a
ll 

si
te

s 
e
x
ce

p
t 
L
e
d
b
u
ry

 H
e
ri
ta

g
e
 C

e
n
tr
e
 a

n
d
 o

n
ce

 f
e
e
d
b
a
ck

 h
a
s 

b
e
e
n
 r
e
ce

iv
e
d
 a

ct
io

n
s 
w
ill
 b

e
 i
n
st

ig
a
te

d
 t
o
 w

o
rk

 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 

h
ig

h
lig

h
te

d
 i
ss

u
e
s.

B
B

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 b
e
in
g
 

d
e
liv
e
re
d

1
1

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 a
rt
s

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

4
6
.4
%

4
9
.5
%

T
a
k
e
 p
A
R
T
 l
a
u
n
c
h
e
d
. 
P
u
b
lic
it
y
 c
a
m
p
a
ig
n
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
. 
E
v
e
n
ts
 

p
u
b
lic
is
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 B
ro
a
d
s
h
e
e
p
. 
S
u
rv
e
y
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
.

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
T
a
k
e
 p
A
R
T
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
a
n
d
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 
b
e
fo
re
 t
h
e
 l
a
u
n
c
h
 o
f 
p
h
a
s
e
 2
.

B
B

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 b
e
in
g
 

d
e
liv
e
re
d

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

L
o
ca

l 
–
 %

 o
f 
th

e
 a

d
u
lt
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 w

h
o
 f
in

d
 a

cc
e
ss

 t
o
 

th
e
 f
o
llo

w
in

g
 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 
d
if
fi
cu

lt
:

L
o
ca

l 
sh

o
p

A
d
v
ic
e
 p

ro
v
is
io

n

P
u
b
lic

 t
ra

n
sp

o
rt
 f
a
ci
lit

y

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
/ 
re

cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
fa

ci
lit

y

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

1
2
%

1
8
%

2
1
%

2
1
%

1
1
%

1
6
%

2
1
%

1
9
%

A
B
G
 f
u
n
d
in

g
 w

a
s 
n
o
t 
se

cu
re

d
 f
o
r 
th

e
 R

u
ra

l 
S
e
rv

ic
e
s 
o
ff
ic
e
r,
 

w
h
ic
h
 w

ill
 l
im

it
 t
h
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
re

so
u
rc

e
s 
th

a
t 
ca

n
 b

e
 p

u
t 
in

to
 t
h
is
 

a
re

a
.

T
h
e
re

 a
re

 f
o
u
r 
m

u
lt
i-
u
se

 c
e
n
tr
e
s 
in

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
in

 L
e
d
b
u
ry

, 

L
e
in

tw
a
rd

in
e
, 
L
e
o
m

in
st

e
r 
a
n
d
 P

e
te

rc
h
u
rc

h
. 
 P

e
te

rc
h
u
rc

h
, 

w
h
ic
h
 h

a
s 
se

cu
re

d
 f
u
ll 

fu
n
d
in

g
, 
is
 a

n
 e

x
a
m

p
le
 o

f 
jo

in
t 

p
ro

v
is
io

n
 -
 E

a
rl
y
 Y

e
a
rs

 w
ill
 p

ro
v
id

e
 a

n
 o

u
tr
e
a
ch

 c
h
ild

re
n
's
 

ce
n
tr
e
; 
lib

ra
ry

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 a

ls
o
 t
o
 b

e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
.

A
B

W
o
rk
 i
s
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
 i
n
 

lin
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
:

N
IS

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
In
d
ic
a
to
r 
S
e
t

L
A
A

L
o
c
a
l 
A
re
a
 A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t

H
C
S

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y

C
A
B

In
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 C
a
b
in
e
t

12



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

John Eades, Improvement Manager on (01432) 260985 

MEETING: COMMUNITY SERVICES SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

DATE: 7
TH
 DECEMBER 2009 

TITLE OF REPORT: ENVIRONMENT & CULTURE AND 

REGENERATION DIRECTORATES: 

PERFORMANCE FOR THE SIX-MONTH 

PERIOD TO SEPTEMBER 2009 

REPORT BY:  Directors of Environment & Culture and 

Regeneration 

CLASSIFICATION: Open 

Wards Affected 

County-wide 

Purpose 

To update Members on the progress towards achievement of targets for 2009-10 
that are relevant to the Community Services Scrutiny Committee and contained 
within the Environment & Culture and Regeneration Directorates’ Plans. This report 
has the same format as that for last year, but has adopted the performance rating 
system being used in the new integrated corporate performance report for Cabinet; 

an explanation of the ratings is shown at Appendix A. 

Recommendation 

 THAT, subject to any comments which Members may wish to make, the report 

be noted. 

Introduction and Background 

2. The Council’s Corporate Plan sets out its objectives, priorities, targets and 
key actions for each of the three years 2008-11. It includes all the indicators 
and targets in the new Local Area Agreement (LAA), as well as those in the 
Herefordshire Community Strategy (HCS). Each Directorate’s plan sets out 
the contribution, in terms of objectives, priorities, targets and key actions, it 
will make to achieving the objectives of the Council’s Corporate Plan as well 
as to the achievement of other Directorate priorities. Progress needs to be 
assessed regularly, together with the risks to achievement and the action 
being taken to address these and improve performance. 

AGENDA ITEM 7

13



Key Considerations 

Progress against the Council’s Corporate Plan 

3. Following is an analysis of performance against target in relation to the 
Corporate Plan and Directorate plans (figures for the three-month period to 
June are shown in brackets): 

 No. of 

indicators 

R A B G 

Cabinet report 13 

(13) 

0 

(1) 

1 

(4) 

12 

(8) 

0 

(0) 

Local Area 
Agreement 

13 

(13) 

0 

(1) 

1 

(3) 

12 

(9) 

0 

(0) 

Herefordshire 
Community 
Strategy 

10 

(10) 

0 

(1) 

2 

(5) 

8 

(4) 

0 

(0) 

      

All National 
Indicators (NIs) 

42 

(42) 

2 

(3) 

6 

(16) 

32 

(22) 

2 

(1) 

      

All reported 
indicators 

43 

(43) 

2 

(3) 

6 

(17) 

33 

(22) 

2 

(1) 

Direction of travel 

4. Of the 43 indicators only 12 have data available for this period. Their direction 
of travel, compared with 2008-09 is: 

Direction of Travel 

Improving 5 

No real change 1 

Deteriorating 6 

Total 12 

Overall performance 

5. Although some baseline data is still awaited from Government departments 
most baselines are in place and, in the vast majority of cases, targets have 
been set for 2009-10. Where targets have yet to be agreed with partners the 
default target has been set as last year’s outturn, i.e. performance should be 
no worse than that achieved in 2008-09. 

14



Details of performance for the period are set out in Appendix B. 

Highlights 

• The vast majority of indicators are on, or exceeding target: 

Cabinet report – 12 of 13 
LAA – 12 of 13 
Community Strategy – 8 of 10 
NIs – 34 of 42 
All indicators – 35 of 43 

• Of those indicators reported to Cabinet or included in the LAA none is 
judged Red and only one is judged Amber. 

• People killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents (NI 47), judged 
Red in the last report, has improved in recent months and it is now 
anticipated that the target will be achieved. 

• The number of serious violent crimes (NI 15), rated Green, is a significant 
improvement compared with the same period last year. 

• Offenders under probation supervision living in settled and suitable 
accommodation at the end of their order or licence (NI 143) is rated 
Green - performance remaining at 81% (in excess of the target of 70%; 
which itself is significantly lower than the outturn of 78% achieved in 
2008-09). 

 

Appendices 

10 Appendix A.: Key to performance reports 
Appendix B: Details of performance for the period 1

st
 April – 30

th
 September 2009. 

 

Background Papers 

• None identified. 

15



16



Appendix A 
KEY TO PERFORMANCE REPORTS 

PERFORMANCE AGAINST TARGETS AND ACTION PLANS 

G 

Outturn is 10% or more above target 
 
 
 
 

B 

Outturn is on or above target by up to 10% 
 
 or, where up to date performance data against target is not available for good 
reason, the action plan shows satisfactory progress 
 

A 

Outturn is below target, but within 5% 
 
or where up to date performance data against target is not available for good 
reason, the action plan shows inadequate progress 
 

R 

Outturn is 5% or more below target 
 
or no target has been set without good reason 
 
or there is no action plan 
 

 

N.B. Where data is available this determines the judgment made for each indicator.  Action 
plans are used to judge performance only as a default where data is unavailable. 

 

DIRECTION OF TRAVEL 

 

� 
Performance is better than the same period last year 
 
 

�� 

Performance is the same as for this period last year 
 
 

� 
Performance is behind the same period last year 
 
 

 

17



18



P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
R
e
p
o
rt
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
B
0
.x
ls

D
o
T

R
e
a
so

n
 f
o
r 
ju

d
g
e
m

e
n
ts

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
A
B

J
u
ly

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

Ju
ly

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

1
5
1

O
v
e
ra
ll 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
ra
te

T
h
e
s
e
 a
re
 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
S
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 

c
o
lle
c
te
d
  
v
ia
 O
N
S
’ 
A
n
n
u
a
l 

P
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 S
u
rv
e
y
 a
n
d
 a
re
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 w
it
h
 a
n
 8
 m
o
n
th
 t
im
e
 

la
g
.

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

7
7
.7
%

(O
c
t 
'0
7
 t
o
 

S
e
p
t 
'0
8
)

7
0
%

N
e
x
t 
u
p
d
a
te
 

d
u
e
 O
c
to
b
e
r 

2
0
0
9

N
e
x
t 
u
p
d
a
te
 

d
u
e
 O
c
to
b
e
r 

2
0
0
9

D
e
v
e
lo
p
in
g
 a
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 G
ro
w
th
 F
u
n
d
 t
o
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t.
  
W
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 C
h
a
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

C
o
m
m
e
rc
e
 a
n
d
 F
S
B
 o
n
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
is
 a
n
d
 h
o
p
e
 t
o
 

o
p
e
n
 g
ra
n
t 
b
y
 n
e
x
t 
q
u
a
rt
e
r.

C
a
p
it
a
l 
in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
 -
 E
S
G
, 
R
o
th
e
rw
a
s
 

F
u
tu
re
s
, 
M
o
d
e
l 
F
a
rm

. 
 A
ll 
a
re
 b
e
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 i
n
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

w
it
h
 A
W
M
 a
n
d
 w
ill
 p
ro
v
id
e
 t
h
e
 n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 i
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 t
o
 

a
llo
w
 c
o
m
p
a
n
y
 g
ro
w
th
 a
n
d
 i
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 b
a
c
k
 o
f 
th
e
 

d
o
w
n
tu
rn
.

S
e
e
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ta
ry
 f
o
r 
N
I1
5
2
/1
5
3
 b
e
lo
w
 a
ls
o
.

B
B

A
ct

iv
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

sh
o
u
ld

 i
m

p
a
ct

 o
n
 t
a
rg

e
t

1
5
2

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 o
n
 o
u
t 
o
f 

w
o
rk
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

8
.8
0
%

8
.6
0
%

O
u
tt
u
rn
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r

O
u
tt
u
rn
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r

B
B

A
ll 

a
ct

io
n
s 
a
re

 p
ro

g
re

ss
in

g
 

a
s 
p
la
n
n
e
d
 a

n
d
 a

re
 o

n
 

ta
rg

e
t

1
5
3

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 c
la
im
in
g
 

o
u
t 
o
f 
w
o
rk
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

w
o
rs
t 
p
e
rf
o
rm

in
g
 

n
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
s

D
a
ta
 i
s
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 q
u
a
rt
e
rl
y
 b
y
 

J
o
b
c
e
n
tr
e
 P
lu
s
 w
it
h
 a
 6
 m
o
n
th
 

ti
m
e
la
g

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

4
1
.8
0
%

4
1
.8
0
%

B
B

A
ct

iv
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

sh
o
u
ld

 i
m

p
a
ct

 o
n
 t
a
rg

e
t

1
6
1

Y
e
s

L
e
a
rn
e
rs
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 a
 L
e
v
e
l 
1
 

q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 l
it
e
ra
c
y

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

2
5
0
 

(A
ca

d
e
m

ic
 

y
e
a
r 

2
0
0
7
/0

8
)

2
5
0
 

(A
ca

d
e
m

ic
 

y
e
a
r 

2
0
0
8
/0

9
)

A
w
a
it
in

g
 

u
p
d
a
te

 f
ro

m
 

L
S
C

A
A

A
ct

iv
it
y
 c

u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 c

e
a
se

d

1
6
2

Y
e
s

L
e
a
rn
e
rs
 a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 a
n
 E
n
tr
y
 

L
e
v
e
l 
3
 q
u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

n
u
m
e
ra
c
y

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

1
2
 

(A
ca

d
e
m

ic
 

Y
e
a
r 

2
0
0
7
/0

8
)

1
2
 

(A
ca

d
e
m

ic
 

Y
e
a
r 

2
0
0
8
/0

9
)

A
w
a
it
in

g
 

u
p
d
a
te

 f
ro

m
 

L
S
C

A
A

A
ct

iv
it
y
 c

u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 c

e
a
se

d

1
6
3

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 t
o
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
L
e
v
e
l 
2
 o
r 

h
ig
h
e
r

 T
h
e
 d
a
ta
 f
o
r 
th
is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
w
ill
 

b
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 a
s
 c
a
le
n
d
a
r 
y
e
a
r 

d
a
ta
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 O
ff
ic
e
 f
o
r 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
S
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 (
O
N
S
) 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
P
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 S
u
rv
e
y
 

(A
P
S
).
  
T
h
e
 r
e
s
u
lt
s
 o
f 
w
h
ic
h
 

w
ill
 b
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
h
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 

A
u
g
u
s
t.

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

D
a
ta

 

sh
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

a
v
a
ila

b
le
 

fr
o
m

 L
S
C
 

e
n
d
 J
u
ly
 

2
0
0
9
, 
b
u
t 

st
ill
 

a
w
a
it
e
d

7
4
.9

0
%

F
u
n
d
in

g
 b

e
in

g
 s
o
u
g
h
t 
th

ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 A

B
G
 t
o
 a

cc
o
m

m
o
d
a
te

 

tr
a
in

in
g
 v

o
u
ch

e
r 
sc

h
e
m

e
 a

n
d
 N

E
E
T
 p

ro
v
is
io

n
. 
 C

o
m

m
is
si
o
n
 

re
se

a
rc

h
 w

o
rk

 f
o
r 
N
e
ig

h
b
o
u
rh

o
o
d
 E

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
S
k
ill
s 
P
la
n
 i
n
 

o
rd

e
r 
to

 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 s
p
e
ci
fi
c 

n
e
e
d
s 
o
f 
ta

rg
e
t 
a
re

a
s 
a
n
d
 a

ct
io

n
 p

la
n
 

to
 a

d
d
re

ss
 n

e
e
d
s.
  
T
h
e
re

 i
s 
a
n
 a

n
n
u
a
l 
h
o
u
se

h
o
ld

 s
u
rv

e
y
 w

h
ic
h
 

is
 u

se
d
 t
o
 e

st
a
b
lis

h
 t
h
e
 a

ch
ie
v
e
m

e
n
ts

 o
f 
th

e
 i
n
d
iv
id

u
a
ls
 i
n
 

p
ro

g
re

ss
 t
o
w
a
rd

s 
th

e
 P

I.
  
T
h
is
 i
s 
re

p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 L

e
a
rn

in
g
 a

n
d
 

S
k
ill
s 
C
o
u
n
ci
l 
b
u
t 
is
 n

o
t 
y
e
t 
a
v
a
ila

b
le
.

A
ct

iv
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 f
ro

m
 L

S
C
 t
h
a
t 
in

fl
u
e
n
ce

s 
th

is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to

r 

sh
o
w
in

g
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

 a
g
a
in

st
 t
a
rg

e
t.
 

B
B

A
ll 

p
la
n
n
e
d
 a

ct
iv
it
y
 i
s 

ta
k
in

g
 p

la
ce

 a
n
d
 o

n
 t
a
rg

e
t

1
6
4

Y
e
s

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 t
o
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
L
e
v
e
l 
3
 o
r 

h
ig
h
e
r 

T
h
e
s
e
 a
re
 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
S
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 

c
o
lle
c
te
d
 v
ia
 O
N
S
’ 
A
n
n
u
a
l 

P
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 S
u
rv
e
y
 a
n
d
 a
re
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 w
it
h
 a
n
 8
 m
o
n
th
 t
im
e
 

la
g
. 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

D
a
ta

 

sh
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

a
v
a
ila

b
le
 

fr
o
m

 L
S
C
 

e
n
d
 J
u
ly
 

2
0
0
9
, 
b
u
t 

st
ill
 

a
w
a
it
e
d

4
6
.1

0
%

A
ct

iv
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 f
ro

m
 L

S
C
 t
h
a
t 
in

fl
u
e
n
ce

s 
th

is
 i
n
d
ic
a
to

r 

sh
o
w
in

g
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
t.
 

B
B

A
ct

iv
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

sh
o
u
ld

 i
m

p
a
ct

 o
n
 t
a
rg

e
t

R
A
B
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

E
S
F
 f
u
n
d
e
d
 p
ro
je
c
t 
'E
n
g
a
g
e
' 
fo
c
u
s
e
d
 a
t 
g
e
tt
in
g
 l
o
n
g
 t
e
rm

 

u
n
e
m
p
lo
y
e
d
 f
ro
m
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 w
a
rd
s
 i
n
to
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
- 
n
o
w
 

o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l.
  
F
u
tu
re
 J
o
b
s
 F
u
n
d
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
. 
 P
ro
je
c
t 

a
ls
o
 a
im
e
d
 a
t 
g
e
tt
in
g
 w
o
rk
le
s
s
 y
o
u
n
g
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 b
a
c
k
 i
n
to
 

w
o
rk
. 
 A
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
A
B
G
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 t
o
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 a
d
v
ic
e
. 

B
o
th

 T
ra

in
 t
o
 G

a
in

 a
n
d
 S

k
ill
s 
fo

r 
L
if
e
 C

o
u
rs

e
s 
a
re

 d
e
m

a
n
d
 l
e
d
 

a
s 
a
ll 

in
d
iv
id

u
a
ls
 a

re
 e

n
ti
tl
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c

o
u
rs

e
s 
h
o
w
e
v
e
r,
 c

u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 

th
e
 T

ra
in

 t
o
 G

a
in

 b
u
d
g
e
t 
is
 s
p
e
n
t.
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

C
o
m
m
e
n
t/
p
ro
g
re
s
s

L
a
te
s
t 
O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

T
a
rg
e
t

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

19



P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
R
e
p
o
rt
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
B
0
.x
ls

D
o
T

R
e
a
so

n
 f
o
r 
ju

d
g
e
m

e
n
ts

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
A
B

J
u
ly

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

Ju
ly

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

R
A
B
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

C
o
m
m
e
n
t/
p
ro
g
re
s
s

L
a
te
s
t 
O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

T
a
rg
e
t

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

1
6
5

Y
e
s

W
o
rk
in
g
 a
g
e
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 

q
u
a
lif
ie
d
 t
o
 a
t 
le
a
s
t 
L
e
v
e
l 
4
 o
r 

h
ig
h
e
r 

T
h
e
s
e
 a
re
 N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
S
ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
 

c
o
lle
c
te
d
 v
ia
 O
N
S
’ 
A
n
n
u
a
l 

P
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 S
u
rv
e
y
 a
n
d
 a
re
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 w
it
h
 a
n
 8
 m
o
n
th
 t
im
e
 

la
g
.

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

D
a
ta

 

sh
o
u
ld

 b
e
 

a
v
a
ila

b
le
 

fr
o
m

 L
S
C
 

e
n
d
 J
u
ly
 

2
0
0
9
, 
b
u
t 

st
ill
 

a
w
a
it
e
d

2
7
.8

0
%

T
h
e
 H

ig
h
e
r 
E
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
H
e
re

fo
rd

sh
ir
e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
G
ro

u
p
 

h
a
v
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 p

ro
p
o
sa

ls
 f
o
r 
a
 u

n
iv
e
rs

it
y
 g

a
te

w
a
y
 (
h
ib

) 
a
n
d
 

sp
o
k
e
 p

ro
v
is
io

n
 t
o
 e

n
a
b
le
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
d
 a

cc
e
ss

 t
o
 h

ig
h
e
r 

e
d
u
ca

ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c

o
u
n
ty

. 
 A

 '
S
ta

te
m

e
n
t 
o
f 
In

te
n
t'
 t
o
 s
e
cu

re
 

H
E
F
C
E
 f
u
n
d
in

g
 t
o
 e

n
a
b
le
 t
h
is
 p

ro
je

ct
 w

a
s 
su

b
m

it
te

d
 o

n
 3

0
th

 

Ju
n
e
. 
 T

h
e
 L

if
e
lo

n
g
 L

e
a
rn

in
g
 N

e
tw

o
rk

 f
o
r 
H
e
re

fo
rd

sh
ir
e
 a

n
d
 

W
o
rc

e
st

e
rs

h
ir
e
 h

a
s 
la
u
n
ch

e
d
 a

 w
e
b
 s
it
e
 t
o
 a

ss
is
t 
st

u
d
e
n
ts

 

w
it
h
 p

ro
g
re

ss
io

n
 r
o
u
te

s

B
B

A
ct

iv
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

sh
o
u
ld

 i
m

p
a
ct

 o
n
 t
a
rg

e
t

1
6
6

Y
e
s

A
v
e
ra
g
e
 e
a
rn
in
g
s
 o
f 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a
re
a

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

£
3
8
9
.4

0
 

(+
/-
 

£
4
9
.6

1
)

£
3
9
0

P
ro

g
re

ss
io

n
 o

n
 t
h
e
 E

S
G
 s
ch

e
m

e

- 
P
la
n
n
in

g
 P

e
rm

is
si
o
n
 f
o
r 
re

p
la
ce

m
e
n
t 
L
iv
e
st

o
ck

 m
a
rk

e
t 

o
b
ta

in
e
d
.

- 
C
a
b
in

e
t 
A
p
p
ro

v
a
l 
fo

r 
R
e
ta

il 
Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
a
g
re

e
m

e
n
t 

o
b
ta

in
e
d
.

P
ro

m
o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
R
o
th

e
rw

a
s 
a
s 
k
e
y
 b

u
si
n
e
ss

 l
o
ca

ti
o
n

- 
D
is
cu

ss
io

n
s 
w
it
h
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 
A
g
e
n
cy

 r
e
 f
lo

o
d
in

g
 h

a
v
e
 

o
p
e
n
e
d
 u

p
 S

o
u
th

 M
a
g
a
zi
n
e
 s
it
e
 a

n
d
 i
n
d
ic
a
te

d
 w

a
y
s 
fo

rw
a
rd

 

fo
r 
o
th

e
r 
e
le
m

e
n
ts

.

- 
P
la
n
n
in

g
 A

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
N
o
rt
h
e
r 
M

a
g
a
zi
n
e
 a

cc
e
ss

 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m

e
n
t 
su

b
m

it
te

d
.

E
st

a
b
lis

h
 L

iv
e
/W

o
rk

 u
n
it
s 
o
n
 M

o
d
e
l 
F
a
rm

 -
 R

o
ss

-o
n
-W

y
e

- 
M

a
st

e
rp

la
n
 f
o
r 
si
te

 t
o
 b

e
 c

o
m

p
le
te

d
 i
n
 J
u
ly
.

- 
M

a
rk

e
t 
a
n
a
ly
si
s 
su

rv
e
y
 t
o
 b

e
 c

o
m

p
le
te

d
 i
n
 J
u
ly
 0

9
.

- 
T
e
n
d
e
ri
n
g
 p

ro
ce

ss
 f
o
r 
in

fr
a
st

ru
ct

u
re

 d
e
si
g
n
 a

n
d
 s
e
rv

ic
in

g
 t
o
 

b
e
 c

o
m

p
le
te

d
 i
n
 J
u
ly
.

R
u
ra

l 
E
n
te

rp
ri
se

 G
ra

n
ts

- 
A
W

M
 o

ff
e
r 
le
tt
e
r 
si
g
n
e
d
 a

n
d
 r
e
tu

rn
e
d
.

- 
2
6
 p

ro
je

ct
s 
su

p
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
o
 d

a
te

.

- 
3
7
0
 s
ta

g
e
 o

n
e
 a

p
p
lic

a
ti
o
n
 f
o
rm

s 
se

n
t 
o
u
t.

B
B

A
ct

iv
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

sh
o
u
ld

 i
m

p
a
ct

 o
n
 t
a
rg

e
t

1
7
1

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

N
e
w
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 r
e
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 r
a
te
 

p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0
 r
e
s
id
e
n
t 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 a
g
e
d
 1
6
+

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

5
9
.2

4
1
.8

0

C
re

a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
b
u
si
n
e
ss

 g
ra

n
ts

 

- 
R
e
ce

iv
e
d
 A

B
G
 a

p
p
ro

v
a
l 
fo

r 
b
u
si
n
e
ss

 g
ro

w
th

 f
u
n
d
 a

n
d
 

b
u
si
n
e
ss

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
fu

n
d
, 
w
o
rk

in
g
 w

it
h
 C

h
a
m

b
e
r 
a
n
d
 F

S
B
 

o
n
 i
m

p
le
m

e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 o

f 
sc

h
e
m

e
.

- 
R
e
ce

iv
e
d
 A

B
G
 a

p
p
ro

v
a
l 
fo

r 
tr
a
in

in
g
 v

o
u
ch

e
r 
sc

h
e
m

e
 

E
co

n
o
m

ic
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

- 
E
co

n
o
m

ic
 D

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs

h
ip

 G
ro

u
p

C
o
n
v
e
rs

io
n
 o

f 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 b

u
si
n
e
ss

e
s 
to

 V
A
T
 a

n
d
 P

A
Y
E
 

re
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
.

- 
In

it
ia
l 
m

e
e
ti
n
g
 w

it
h
 H

M
R
C
 t
o
 i
n
v
e
st

ig
a
te

 p
o
ss

ib
ili
ty

 o
f 
jo

in
t 

ro
a
d
sh

o
w
s 
a
n
d
 p

ro
m

o
ti
o
n
a
l 
e
v
e
n
ts

, 
fa

v
o
u
ra

b
le
 r
e
sp

o
n
se

 

re
ce

iv
e
d
.

- 
S
e
cu

re
d
 f
u
n
d
in

g
 t
o
 r
u
n
 r
o
a
d
sh

o
w
s 
a
n
d
 p

u
b
lic

is
e
 b

e
n
e
fi
ts

 o
f 

V
A
T
 a

n
d
 P

A
Y
E
 r
e
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
.

B
B

A
ll 

a
ct

iv
it
y
 i
s 
o
n
 t
a
rg

e
t 

a
n
d
 t
a
k
in

g
 p

la
ce

 a
s 

p
la
n
n
e
d

1
7
2

%
 o
f 
s
m
a
ll 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 i
n
 a
n
 

a
re
a
 s
h
o
w
in
g
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

g
ro
w
th

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

1
4
.2

%
 

(2
0
0
7
)

1
4
.2

0
%

S
e
e
 c

o
m

m
e
n
ta

ry
 f
o
r 
N
I1

7
1
. 
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
b
u
si
n
e
ss

e
s 
w
it
h
in

 A
B
G
 "
F
ig

h
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 D

o
w
n
tu

rn
" 

su
b
m

is
si
o
n
, 
sp

e
ci
fi
ca

lly
 B

u
si
n
e
ss

 F
u
n
d
. 
 I
n
v
e
st

ig
a
ti
n
g
 r
a
n
g
e
 o

f 

b
u
si
n
e
ss

 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 m

e
a
su

re
s 
to

 b
e
 u

n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
 w

it
h
in

 f
u
tu

re
 

A
B
G
 a

n
d
 L

P
S
A
 s
u
b
m

is
si
o
n
.

N
e
w
 R

u
ra

l 
e
n
te

rp
ri
se

 G
ra

n
t 
su

p
p
o
rt
s 
m

ic
ro

 e
n
te

rp
ri
se

s 
a
n
d
 

fa
rm

in
g
 h

o
u
se

h
o
ld

s.

C
a
p
it
a
l 
sc

h
e
m

e
s 
st

ill
 p

ro
g
re

ss
in

g
 -
 E

S
G
, 
R
o
th

e
rw

a
s 
F
u
tu

re
s,
 

M
o
d
e
l 
F
a
rm

.

B
B

A
ct

iv
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

sh
o
u
ld

 i
m

p
a
ct

 o
n
 t
a
rg

e
t

1
7
3

P
e
o
p
le
 f
a
lli
n
g
 o
u
t 
o
f 
w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 

o
n
 t
o
 i
n
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 b
e
n
e
fi
ts

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

0
.6
2

(2
0
0
8
)

0
.6

2

S
ch

e
m

e
s 
b
e
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 t
o
 a

d
d
re

ss
 "
W

o
rk

le
ss

n
e
ss

" 
sc

h
e
m

e
s 

fu
n
d
e
d
 b

y
 E

U
 s
o
u
rc

e
s.
  

D
A
R
E
 p

ro
je

ct
 a

im
e
d
 a

t 
th

o
se

 p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 h

a
rd

 t
o
 r
e
a
ch

 g
ro

u
p
s 

fr
o
m

 e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
p
e
rs

p
e
ct

iv
e
 n

o
w
 b

e
e
n
 p

u
lle

d
 b

y
 A

W
M

 f
o
r 

fu
n
d
in

g
.

B
B

A
ct

iv
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

sh
o
u
ld

 i
m

p
a
ct

 o
n
 t
a
rg

e
t

20



P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
R
e
p
o
rt
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
B
0
.x
ls

D
o
T

R
e
a
so

n
 f
o
r 
ju

d
g
e
m

e
n
ts

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
A
B

J
u
ly

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

Ju
ly

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

R
A
B
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

C
o
m
m
e
n
t/
p
ro
g
re
s
s

L
a
te
s
t 
O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

T
a
rg
e
t

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

1
7
4

S
k
ill
s
 g
a
p
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 

w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 b
y
 

e
m
p
lo
y
e
rs

T
h
is
 d
a
ta
 i
s
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 

L
S
C
 f
ro
m
 a
 b
ie
n
n
ia
l 
s
u
rv
e
y
. 

T
h
e
 n
e
x
t 
s
u
rv
e
y
 i
s
 d
u
e
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
.

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

6
%

 f
o
r 

H
e
re

fo
rd

 &
 

W
o
rc

e
st

e
r 

(L
S
C
 A

re
a
)

(2
0
0
7
)

6
%

 f
o
r 

H
e
re

fo
rd

 &
 

W
o
rc

e
st

e
r 

(L
S
C
 A

re
a
)

W
o
rk

in
g
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 6

th
 F

o
rm

 C
o
lle

g
e
 a

n
d
 H

e
re

fo
rd

 G
ro

u
p
 

tr
a
in

in
g
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 a
n
d
 a

d
d
re

ss
 s
k
ill
s 
g
a
p
 f
o
r 
th

e
 f
u
tu

re
.

B
B

A
ct

iv
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

sh
o
u
ld

 i
m

p
a
ct

 o
n
 t
a
rg

e
t

1
5

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
 v
io
le
n
t 

c
ri
m
e
s
/1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

0
.9
7

0
.9
7

0
.1
6

0
.3
5

T
h
e
re
 w
a
s
 a
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 H
o
m
e
 O
ff
ic
e
 C
o
u
n
ti
n
g
 R
u
le
s
 i
n
 

2
0
0
8
/9
 t
h
e
re
fo
re
 t
h
e
re
 i
s
 n
o
 b
e
n
c
h
m
a
rk
 t
o
 c
o
m
p
a
re
 t
h
e
 2
0
0
8
/9
 

fi
g
u
re
 t
o
, 
b
u
t 
w
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 l
o
o
k
in
g
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 u
p
o
n
 2
0
0
8
/9
 

o
ff
e
n
c
e
 l
e
v
e
ls
 i
n
 2
0
0
9
/1
0
. 
O
ff
e
n
c
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
is
 c
a
te
g
o
ry
 a
re
 t
h
e
 

m
o
s
t 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
 a
n
d
 w
o
u
ld
 e
it
h
e
r 
le
a
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
o
in
tm
e
n
t 
o
f 
a
n
 

S
IO
, 
o
r 
re
v
ie
w
 b
y
 a
n
 S
IO
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
ll 
lin
e
s
 o
f 
e
n
q
u
ir
y
 w
e
re
 

b
e
in
g
 f
o
llo
w
e
d
. 
S
e
ri
o
u
s
 V
io
le
n
t 
C
ri
m
e
s
 a
re
 a
ls
o
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 d
a
ily
 

a
n
d
 w
e
e
k
ly
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 a
t 
C
o
m
m
a
n
d
 T
e
a
m
 l
e
v
e
l,
 a
n
d
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 a
ls
o
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
t 
th
e
 m
o
n
th
ly
 d
iv
is
io
n
a
l 

L
e
a
d
e
rs
h
ip
 &
 D
e
liv
e
ry
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
.

A
G

� ���

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 w
e
ll 
a
h
e
a
d
 

o
f 
la
s
t 
y
e
a
r 
a
n
d
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 

re
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

1
6

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
 a
c
q
u
is
it
iv
e
 

c
ri
m
e
s
/1
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

6
.9
5

6
.9
5

1
.7
1

3
.2
9

O
ff
e
n
c
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
is
 c
a
te
g
o
ry
 a
re
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 d
a
ily
, 
w
e
e
k
ly
 a
n
d
 

m
o
n
th
ly
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 a
n
d
 r
e
g
u
la
r 
a
n
a
ly
s
is
 t
o
 p
ic
k
 u
p
 o
n
 a
n
y
 

tr
e
n
d
s
 a
n
d
 p
a
tt
e
rn
s
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 T
a
s
k
in
g
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
s
 

a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
.

N
o
te
: 
Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 f
ig
u
re
 a
d
ju
s
te
d
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
e
w
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 e
s
ti
m
a
te
s

A
B

� ���
A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

1
7

Y
e
s

P
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
a
n
ti
-s
o
c
ia
l 

b
e
h
a
v
io
u
r

D
a
ta
 i
s
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

P
la
c
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
 b
ie
n
ia
lly
.

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

1
2
%

n
o
t 
m
o
re
 

th
a
n
 1
2
%

(2
0
1
0
)

D
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 R
e
g
is
te
re
d
 S
o
c
ia
l 
L
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
 (
R
S
L
s
) 
h
a
v
e
 

o
c
c
u
rr
e
d
 a
n
d
 d
a
ta
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 i
s
 n
o
w
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
.

In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 n
o
w
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 T
ru
s
t 

a
n
d
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 o
f 
s
u
b
-g
ro
u
p
s
 s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
.

L
in
k
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 T
e
a
m
 a
n
d
 H
C
S
D
P
 

s
ti
ll 
to
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
.

A
B

A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

1
8

A
d
u
lt
 r
e
-o
ff
e
n
d
in
g
 r
a
te
s
 f
o
r 

th
o
s
e
 u
n
d
e
r 
p
ro
b
a
ti
o
n
 

s
u
p
e
rv
is
io
n

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

T
a
rg
e
te
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 t
o
 e
n
g
a
g
e
 P
P
O
's
 i
n
 r
e
d
u
c
in
g
 o
ff
e
n
d
in
g
.

D
a
ta
 n
o
t 
c
o
lle
c
te
d
/m
e
a
s
u
re
d
 l
o
c
a
lly
, 
W
e
s
t 
M
e
rc
ia
 a
re
a
 o
n
ly
. 
 

W
e
s
t 
M
e
rc
ia
 d
a
ta
 t
o
 b
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 b
y
 W

M
 P
ro
b
a
ti
o
n
 H
Q
 a
s
 a
n
d
 

w
h
e
n
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
fi
g
u
re
s
 b
e
c
o
m
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
.

A
A

A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
, 
b
u
t 
d
a
ta
 

a
w
a
it
e
d
 a
n
d
 t
a
rg
e
t 
y
e
t 
to
 

b
e
 s
e
t

2
0

A
s
s
a
u
lt
 w
it
h
 i
n
ju
ry
 c
ri
m
e
 r
a
te

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

5
.3
9

5
.3
9

1
.3
1

2
.9
1

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
  
n
u
m
b
e
r 
=
 2
4
3
. 
 

N
I2
0
 i
s
 a
ls
o
 a
 p
ro
x
y
 f
o
r 
a
lc
o
h
o
l 
fu
e
lle
d
 v
io
le
n
c
e
. 
 

N
o
te
s
: 
th
e
 H
o
m
e
 O
ff
ic
e
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
8
/9
 w
a
s
 s
u
b
tl
y
 

d
if
fe
re
n
t 
to
 t
h
a
t 
fo
r 
2
0
0
7
/8
 –
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
w
h
ic
h
 w
a
s
 t
o
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 

th
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
o
ff
e
n
c
e
s
 b
y
 4
 -
 1
6
%
.

Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 f
ig
u
re
 a
d
ju
s
te
d
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
e
w
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 e
s
ti
m
a
te
s

A
A

� ���
A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

S
a
fe
r 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

21



P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
R
e
p
o
rt
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
B
0
.x
ls

D
o
T

R
e
a
so

n
 f
o
r 
ju

d
g
e
m

e
n
ts

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
A
B

J
u
ly

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

Ju
ly

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

R
A
B
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

C
o
m
m
e
n
t/
p
ro
g
re
s
s

L
a
te
s
t 
O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

T
a
rg
e
t

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

2
1

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

D
e
a
lin
g
 w
it
h
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
n
c
e
rn
s
 

a
b
o
u
t 
a
n
ti
s
o
c
ia
l 
b
e
h
a
v
io
u
r 
a
n
d
 

c
ri
m
e
 b
y
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 

p
o
lic
e

D
a
ta
 i
s
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

P
la
c
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
 b
ie
n
ia
lly
.

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

2
5
.4
0
%

3
0
.4
%

(2
0
1
0
)

D
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 R
e
g
is
te
re
d
 S
o
c
ia
l 
L
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
 (
R
S
L
s
) 
h
a
v
e
 

o
c
c
u
rr
e
d
 a
n
d
 d
a
ta
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 i
s
 n
o
w
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
.

In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 n
o
w
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 T
ru
s
t 

a
n
d
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 o
f 
s
u
b
-g
ro
u
p
s
 s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
.

L
in
k
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 T
e
a
m
 a
n
d
 H
C
S
D
P
 

s
ti
ll 
to
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
.

B
B

A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

2
2

P
e
rc

e
p
ti
o
n
s 
o
f 
p
a
re

n
ts

 t
a
k
in

g
 

re
sp

o
n
si
b
ili
ty

 f
o
r 
th

e
 b

e
h
a
v
io

u
r 

o
f 
th

e
ir
 c

h
ild

re
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a

re
a

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

3
6
%

n
o
t 
le
s
s
 

th
a
n
 3
6
%

(2
0
1
0
)

D
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 R
e
g
is
te
re
d
 S
o
c
ia
l 
L
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
 (
R
S
L
s
) 
h
a
v
e
 

o
c
c
u
rr
e
d
 a
n
d
 d
a
ta
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 i
s
 n
o
w
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
.

In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 n
o
w
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 T
ru
s
t 

a
n
d
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 o
f 
s
u
b
-g
ro
u
p
s
 s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
.

L
in
k
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 T
e
a
m
 a
n
d
 H
C
S
D
P
 

s
ti
ll 
to
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
.

A
B

A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

2
4

S
a
ti
sf
a
ct

io
n
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 w

a
y
 t
h
e
 

p
o
lic

e
 a

n
d
 l
o
ca

l 
co

u
n
ci
l 
d
e
a
lt
 

w
it
h
 a

n
ti
so

ci
a
l 
b
e
h
a
v
io

u
r

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

2
1
%

n
o
t 
le
s
s
 

th
a
n
 2
1
%

(2
0
1
0
)

D
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 R
e
g
is
te
re
d
 S
o
c
ia
l 
L
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
 (
R
S
L
s
) 
h
a
v
e
 

o
c
c
u
rr
e
d
 a
n
d
 d
a
ta
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 i
s
 n
o
w
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
.

In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 n
o
w
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 T
ru
s
t 

a
n
d
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 o
f 
s
u
b
-g
ro
u
p
s
 s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
.

L
in
k
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 T
e
a
m
 a
n
d
 H
C
S
D
P
 

s
ti
ll 
to
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
.

A
B

A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

2
7

U
n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
in

g
 o

f 
lo

ca
l 

co
n
ce

rn
s 
a
b
o
u
t 
a
n
ti
-s

o
ci
a
l 

b
e
h
a
v
io

u
r 
a
n
d
 c

ri
m

e
 b

y
 t
h
e
 

lo
ca

l 
co

u
n
ci
l 
a
n
d
 p

o
lic

e

D
a
ta

 i
s 
co

lle
ct

e
d
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

P
la
ce

 s
u
rv

e
y
 b

ie
n
ia
lly

.

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

2
4
%

n
o
t 
le
s
s
 

th
a
n
 2
4
%

(2
0
1
0
)

D
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 R
e
g
is
te
re
d
 S
o
c
ia
l 
L
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
 (
R
S
L
s
) 
h
a
v
e
 

o
c
c
u
rr
e
d
 a
n
d
 d
a
ta
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 i
s
 n
o
w
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
.

In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 n
o
w
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 T
ru
s
t 

a
n
d
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 o
f 
s
u
b
-g
ro
u
p
s
 s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
.

L
in
k
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 T
e
a
m
 a
n
d
 H
C
S
D
P
 

s
ti
ll 
to
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
.

A
B

A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

2
8

K
n
if
e
 c
ri
m
e
 r
a
te
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

0
.1
4

0
.1
4

0
.0
5

0
.1
6

In
 A
u
g
u
s
t 
2
0
0
8
 t
h
e
 D
iv
is
io
n
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
e
d
 a
  
n
e
w
 p
ro
to
c
o
l 
to
 d
e
a
l 

w
it
h
 k
n
if
e
 c
ri
m
e
, 
n
o
t 
in
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 a
n
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 t
re
n
d
, 
b
u
t 
a
s
 a
 

p
re
-e
m
p
ti
v
e
 m
e
a
s
u
re
 t
o
 c
o
u
n
te
r 
a
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
ri
s
e
 i
n
 k
n
if
e
 r
e
la
te
d
 

in
c
id
e
n
ts
. 
A
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 e
le
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
is
, 
O
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
 D
e
te
r,
 i
d
e
n
ti
fe
d
 

a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
in
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 t
h
a
t 
in
te
lli
g
e
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
d
 w
e
re
 

c
a
rr
y
in
g
 k
n
iv
e
s
. 
S
tr
u
c
tu
re
d
 i
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
s
, 
a
h
e
a
d
 o
f 
a
n
y
 

o
ff
e
n
d
in
g
, 
to
o
k
 p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
s
e
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
. 
 A
ll 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 

in
v
o
lv
in
g
 k
n
iv
e
s
 a
re
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 d
a
ily
 t
a
s
k
in
g
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
p
o
s
it
iv
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
 i
s
 t
a
k
e
n
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
a
n
y
 

n
a
m
e
d
 o
ff
e
n
d
e
r.

N
o
te
: 
Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 f
ig
u
re
 a
d
ju
s
te
d
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
e
w
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 e
s
ti
m
a
te
s

A
R

� ���
A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

2
9

G
u
n
 c
ri
m
e
 r
a
te
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

0
.0
5

0
.0
5

0
.0
2

0
.0
4

N
o
te
: 
Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 f
ig
u
re
 c
h
a
n
g
e
d
 a
n
d
 a
d
ju
s
te
d
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 

p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
e
w
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 e
s
ti
m
a
te
s

R
R

� ���

D
a
ta
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
, 
b
u
t 
n
o
 

ta
rg
e
t 
s
e
t 
b
y
 W

M
C
 a
n
d
 n
o
 

a
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d

3
0

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

R
e
-o
ff
e
n
d
in
g
 r
a
te
 o
f 
p
ro
lif
ic
 a
n
d
 

p
ri
o
ri
ty
 o
ff
e
n
d
e
rs
 (
P
P
O
)

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

2
1
%

T
a
rg
e
t 
h
a
s
 j
u
s
t 
b
e
e
n
 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 b
y
 H
o
m
e
 O
ff
ic
e
.

E
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 r
e
p
o
rt
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 P
P
O
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
G
ro
u
p
 i
n
 

re
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
c
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 a
lc
o
h
o
l 
a
rr
e
s
t 

re
fe
rr
a
l 
s
c
h
e
m
e
.

P
P
O
 S
c
h
e
m
e
 b
e
in
g
 d
e
liv
e
re
d
.

D
ru
g
 C
o
n
d
it
io
n
a
l 
C
a
u
ti
o
n
in
g
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
n
d
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
.

B
e
n
c
h
m
a
rk
in
g
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
a
n
d
 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r.

B
B

A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 d
a
ta
 a
n
ti
c
ip
a
te
d
 

in
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r

22



P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
R
e
p
o
rt
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
B
0
.x
ls

D
o
T

R
e
a
so

n
 f
o
r 
ju

d
g
e
m

e
n
ts

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
A
B

J
u
ly

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

Ju
ly

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

R
A
B
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

C
o
m
m
e
n
t/
p
ro
g
re
s
s

L
a
te
s
t 
O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

T
a
rg
e
t

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

3
2

R
e
p
e
a
t 
in
c
id
e
n
ts
 o
f 
d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 

v
io
le
n
c
e

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

N
e
w
 

in
d
ic
a
to
r,
 

ta
rg
e
t 
to
 

b
e
 s
e
t 
fo
r 

2
0
1
0
-1
1

In
d
ic
a
to
r 
s
ti
ll 
u
n
d
e
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
  
H
C
S
D
P
 a
re
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 

m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 r
e
p
e
a
t 
v
ic
ti
m
s
 o
f 
D
V
 w
h
ic
h
 h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 l
o
c
a
lly
 

w
it
h
 W

M
C
. 
 S
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 W

o
m
e
n
's
 A
id
 a
n
d
 D
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 

A
b
u
s
e
 F
o
ru
m

B
B

A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
a
 

n
e
w
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r,
 w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 

b
e
in
g
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d

3
3

A
rs
o
n
 i
n
c
id
e
n
ts

- 
th
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
ri
m
a
ry
 f
ir
e
s
 

(m
a
jo
r 
fi
re
s
 i
n
v
o
lv
in
g
 p
ro
p
e
rt
y
, 

c
a
s
u
a
lt
ie
s
 o
r 
in
v
o
lv
in
g
 5
 o
r 

m
o
re
 f
ir
e
 a
p
p
lia
n
c
e
s
) 
p
e
r 

1
0
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
; 
a
n
d

- 
th
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry
 f
ir
e
s
 

(t
h
a
t 
d
id
 n
o
t 
in
v
o
lv
e
 p
ro
p
e
rt
y
, 

c
a
s
u
a
lt
ie
s
 o
r 
re
s
c
u
e
, 
a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 

b
y
 4
 o
r 
fe
w
e
r 
fi
re
 a
p
p
lia
n
c
e
s
) 

p
e
r 
1
0
,0
0
0
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
.

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

a
) 
 2
.9

b
) 
 7
.6

a
) 
 4
.0

b
) 
 9
.8

a
) 
0
.6

 

b
) 
2
.2

a
) 
1
.4

b
) 
3
.4

H
W
F
R
S
 a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 1
5
 d
e
lib
e
ra
te
 p
ri
m
a
ry
 f
ir
e
s
 i
n
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 i
n
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 1
0
 i
n
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 a
n
d
 2
1
 d
e
lib
e
ra
te
 

s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry
 f
ir
e
s
 i
n
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 4
0
 i
n
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
. 

T
h
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 i
s
 s
ti
ll 
o
n
 t
ra
c
k
 t
o
 a
tt
e
n
d
 l
e
s
s
 f
ir
e
s
 t
h
a
n
 t
h
e
 y
e
a
rl
y
 

ta
rg
e
ts
. 
T
ra
d
it
io
n
a
lly
 t
h
e
re
 a
re
 m
o
re
 d
e
lib
e
ra
te
 f
ir
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
ir
s
t 

h
a
lf
 o
f 
th
e
 y
e
a
r 
th
a
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 s
e
c
o
n
d
 h
a
lf
. 

T
h
e
 F
ir
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 h
a
s
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 l
in
k
s
 w
it
h
 W

e
s
t 
M
e
rc
ia
 

C
o
n
s
ta
b
u
la
ry
’s
 A
rs
o
n
 T
a
s
k
 F
o
rc
e
 a
n
d
 a
p
p
o
in
te
d
 a
n
 A
rs
o
n
 

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 
to
 w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 p
o
lic
e
. 
W
e
 w
ill
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
n
 

a
rs
o
n
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 p
o
lic
y
 t
o
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
 a
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

d
e
lib
e
ra
te
 f
ir
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
 g
re
a
te
r 
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
h
o
w
 t
o
 p
re
v
e
n
t 

d
e
lib
e
ra
te
 f
ir
e
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
. 
  

B
B

� ���
P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t 

a
n
d
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d

3
4

D
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 v
io
le
n
c
e
 –
 m
u
rd
e
r

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

0
0

0
0

N
o
t 
a
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
 f
o
r 
W
M
C
 -
 d
a
ta
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d

B
B

�
�

�
�

�
�

�
�

B
e
s
t 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
c
h
ie
v
a
b
le

3
9

Y
e
s
 

(L
o
c
a
l)

Y
e
s

A
lc
o
h
o
l-
h
a
rm

 r
e
la
te
d
 h
o
s
p
it
a
l 

a
d
m
is
s
io
n
 r
a
te
s
 p
e
r 
1
0
0
,0
0
0

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

1
2
4
9

1
2
3
7

3
3
5
.7

(c
u
m
u
la
ti
v
e
)

Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 

d
a
ta
 n
o
t 
y
e
t 

a
v
a
ila
b
le

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

A
A

� ���

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 f
o
r 
Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 

b
e
lo
w
 t
a
rg
e
t 
a
n
d
 w
o
rs
e
 

th
a
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 s
a
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 

la
s
t 
y
e
a
r,
 b
u
t 
a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 

b
e
in
g
 d
e
liv
e
re
d

4
0

Y
e
s

D
ru
g
 u
s
e
rs
 i
n
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 

tr
e
a
tm
e
n
t

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

5
4
1

A
w
a
it
 r
e
p
o
rt
 c
o
n
fi
rm

in
g
 o
u
tt
u
rn
 f
o
r 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
. 
 

N
e
e
d
le
 e
x
c
h
a
n
g
e
 a
u
d
it
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
in
 M
a
y
. 

P
h
a
rm

a
c
y
 N
e
e
d
le
 E
x
c
h
a
n
g
e
 P
ilo
t 
S
c
h
e
m
e
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 i
n
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
. 
T
h
is
 p
ro
v
id
e
s
 a
n
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
m
e
a
n
s
 t
o
 e
n
g
a
g
e
 

p
ro
b
le
m
a
ti
c
 d
ru
g
 u
s
e
rs
.

R
e
c
e
n
t 
in
te
g
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
D
ru
g
 I
n
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 (
D
IP
) 
te
a
m
 

fr
o
m
 P
ro
b
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C
ri
m
in
a
l 
J
u
s
ti
c
e
 I
n
te
g
ra
te
d
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 

w
it
h
in
 D
ru
g
 a
n
d
 A
lc
o
h
o
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 H
e
re
fo
rd
 (
D
A
S
H
).

B
B

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 b
e
in
g
 

d
e
liv
e
re
d

4
1

P
e
rc

e
p
ti
o
n
s 
o
f 
d
ru

n
k
 o

r 
ro

w
d
y
 

b
e
h
a
v
io

u
r 
a
s 
a
 p

ro
b
le
m

D
a
ta

 i
s 
co

lle
ct

e
d
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

P
la
ce

 s
u
rv

e
y
 b

ie
n
ia
lly

.

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

2
2
%

n
o
t 
le
s
s
 

th
a
n
 2
2
%

(2
0
1
0
)

P
la
c
e
 S
u
rv
e
y
 d
a
ta
 b
e
in
g
 a
n
a
ly
s
e
d
 i
n
 d
e
ta
il.

D
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 R
e
g
is
te
re
d
 S
o
c
ia
l 
L
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
 (
R
S
L
s
) 
h
a
v
e
 

o
c
c
u
rr
e
d
 a
n
d
 d
a
ta
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 i
s
 n
o
w
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
.

In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 n
o
w
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 T
ru
s
t 

a
n
d
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 o
f 
s
u
b
-g
ro
u
p
s
 s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
.

L
in
k
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 T
e
a
m
 a
n
d
 H
C
S
D
P
 

s
ti
ll 
to
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
.

A
B

A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

4
2

P
e
rc
e
p
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
d
ru
g
 u
s
e
 o
r 

d
ru
g
 d
e
a
lin
g
 a
s
 a
 p
ro
b
le
m

D
a
ta
 i
s
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

P
la
c
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
 b
ie
n
ia
lly
.

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

2
5
%

n
o
t 
le
s
s
 

th
a
n
 2
5
%

(2
0
1
0
)

P
la
c
e
 S
u
rv
e
y
 d
a
ta
 b
e
in
g
 a
n
a
ly
s
e
d
 i
n
 d
e
ta
il.

D
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 R
e
g
is
te
re
d
 S
o
c
ia
l 
L
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
 (
R
S
L
s
) 
h
a
v
e
 

o
c
c
u
rr
e
d
 a
n
d
 d
a
ta
 s
h
a
ri
n
g
 i
s
 n
o
w
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
.

In
te
rm

e
d
ia
te
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 n
o
w
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 C
h
ild
re
n
's
 T
ru
s
t 

a
n
d
 m
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 o
f 
s
u
b
-g
ro
u
p
s
 s
tr
e
n
g
th
e
n
e
d
.

L
in
k
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 T
e
a
m
 a
n
d
 H
C
S
D
P
 

s
ti
ll 
to
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
.

A
B

A
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t

23



P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
R
e
p
o
rt
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
B
0
.x
ls

D
o
T

R
e
a
so

n
 f
o
r 
ju

d
g
e
m

e
n
ts

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
A
B

J
u
ly

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

Ju
ly

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

R
A
B
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

C
o
m
m
e
n
t/
p
ro
g
re
s
s

L
a
te
s
t 
O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

T
a
rg
e
t

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

4
7

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

P
e
o
p
le
 k
ill
e
d
 o
r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly
 

in
ju
re
d
 i
n
 r
o
a
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 a
c
c
id
e
n
ts

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

1
1
5

(3
 y
e
a
r 

a
v
e
ra
g
e
)

1
1
4

( 
3
 y
e
a
r 

a
v
e
ra
g
e
)

5
3

(J
a
n
a
u
a
ry
 t
o
 

M
a
y
)

8
6

(J
a
n
u
a
ry
 t
o
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r)

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 6
4
 f
o
r 
th
e
 s
a
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r.

T
h
e
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
a
ti
o
n
's
 R
o
a
d
 S
a
fe
ty
 a
n
d
 A
c
c
id
e
n
t 

In
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 P
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
 t
e
a
m
s
 l
e
a
d
 o
n
 a
 w
id
e
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 
tr
a
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 p
u
b
lic
it
y
 a
n
d
 e
n
g
in
e
e
ri
n
g
 m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 t
o
 

a
d
d
re
s
s
 r
o
a
d
 t
ra
ff
ic
 a
c
c
id
e
n
ts
. 
M
o
re
 d
e
ta
ile
d
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ta
ry
 o
n
 

th
is
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 i
s
 s
e
t 
o
u
t 
in
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 P
la
n
 R
o
a
d
 S
a
fe
ty
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 i
s
 r
e
p
o
rt
e
d
 o
n
 i
n
 a
n
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
p
ro
g
re
s
s
 r
e
p
o
rt
. 
  

D
ri
v
e
r 
e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
 a
re
 b
e
in
g
 p
ro
v
id
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
o
u
t 

th
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
 t
o
 t
ry
 a
n
d
 r
e
d
u
c
e
 t
h
e
 o
u
tt
u
rn
s
.

R
B

� ���

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
ce

 h
a
s 

im
p
ro

v
e
d
 i
n
 r
e
ce

n
t 

m
o
n
th

s.
 I
t 
is
 a

n
ti
cp

a
te

d
 

th
a
t 
th

e
 L

A
A
 t
a
rg

e
t 
fo

r 

n
e
x
t 
y
e
a
r 
w
ill
 b

e
 

a
ch

ie
v
e
d
.

4
9

N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
p
ri
m
a
ry
 f
ir
e
s
 a
n
d
 

re
la
te
d
 f
a
ta
lit
ie
s
 a
n
d
 n
o
n
-f
a
ta
l 

c
a
s
u
a
lt
ie
s
, 
e
x
c
lu
d
in
g
 

p
re
c
a
u
ti
o
n
a
ry
 c
h
e
c
k
s

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

a
) 
 1
5
4
.7

b
) 
  
  
  
  
0

c
) 
  
  
4
.5

a
) 
 1
7
9
.1
0

b
) 
  
  
  
  
0

c
) 
  
  
5
.1
8

a
) 
4
6
.0

b
) 
1
.1

 

c)
 1

.7

a
) 
9
1
.9

b
) 
1
.1

 

c)
 2

.8

H
W
F
R
S
 a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 8
2
 p
ri
m
a
ry
 f
ir
e
s
 i
n
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 i
n
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 

2
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 8
2
 i
n
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 a
ls
o
. 
T
h
e
re
 w
e
re
 n
o
 f
a
ta
lit
ie
s
 

fr
o
m
 p
ri
m
a
ry
 f
ir
e
s
 i
n
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 2
 i
n
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 

a
n
d
 2
 i
n
ju
ri
e
s
 i
n
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
2
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 3
 i
n
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
. 
  
 

H
W
F
R
S
's
 b
a
la
n
c
e
d
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 
P
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
, 
P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

In
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 i
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
h
e
 

p
ri
m
a
ry
 a
im
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
in
g
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 s
a
fe
ty
 a
n
d
 r
e
d
u
c
in
g
 r
is
k
. 

T
h
e
 r
is
k
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 s
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 a
re
 b
a
s
e
d
 u
p
o
n
 a
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 o
f:

• 
id
e
n
ti
fy
in
g
 t
h
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 a
re
 m
o
s
t 
‘a
t 
ri
s
k
’;

• 
c
o
n
fi
rm

in
g
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
o
s
e
 p
e
o
p
le
;

• 
id
e
n
ti
fy
in
g
 t
h
e
 r
is
k
s
 t
o
 w
h
ic
h
 t
h
e
y
 a
re
 e
x
p
o
s
e
d
 t
o
;

• 
ta
rg
e
ti
n
g
 m
o
s
t 
o
f 
H
W
F
R
S
's
 e
ff
o
rt
s
 a
n
d
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 a
t 
re
d
u
c
in
g
 

th
o
s
e
 r
is
k
s
 u
s
in
g
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
p
re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
, 
p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

in
te
rv
e
n
ti
o
n
 i
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
;

w
h
ils
t 
a
ls
o

• 
s
u
s
ta
in
in
g
 a
 b
ro
a
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 
to
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 

m
a
tt
e
rs
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 s
p
a
rs
it
y
 a
n
d
 e
q
u
it
y
 o
f 
s
e
rv
ic
e

A
A

� ���
O
n
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 e
x
c
e
p
t 
fo
r 

fa
ta
lit
ie
s

1
4
3

O
ff
e
n
d
e
rs
 u
n
d
e
r 
p
ro
b
a
ti
o
n
 

s
u
p
e
rv
is
io
n
 l
iv
in
g
 i
n
 s
e
tt
le
d
 a
n
d
 

s
u
it
a
b
le
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 a
t 
th
e
 

e
n
d
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 o
rd
e
r 
o
r 
lic
e
n
c
e

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

7
8
%

7
0
%

8
1
%

8
1
%

G
G

� ���
T
a
rg
e
t 
e
x
c
e
e
d
e
d

1
4
4

O
ff
e
n
d
e
rs
 u
n
d
e
r 
p
ro
b
a
ti
o
n
 

s
u
p
e
rv
is
io
n
 i
n
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
a
t 

th
e
 e
n
d
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 o
rd
e
r 
o
r 
lic
e
n
c
e

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

5
4
%

4
0
%

3
7
%

4
4
%

R
B

� ���

T
a
rg
e
t 
e
x
c
e
e
d
e
d
, 
b
u
t 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 w
o
rs
e
 t
h
a
n
 

fo
r 
th
e
 s
a
m
e
 p
e
ri
o
d
 l
a
s
t 

y
e
a
r

N
o
te
: 
ta
rg
e
t 
a
n
d
 Q
u
a
rt
e
r 
1
 

d
a
ta
 u
p
d
a
te
d

S
tr
o
n
g
e
r 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s

24



P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
R
e
p
o
rt
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
B
0
.x
ls

D
o
T

R
e
a
so

n
 f
o
r 
ju

d
g
e
m

e
n
ts

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
A
B

J
u
ly

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

Ju
ly

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

R
A
B
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

C
o
m
m
e
n
t/
p
ro
g
re
s
s

L
a
te
s
t 
O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

T
a
rg
e
t

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

4
Y
e
s

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

%
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 f
e
e
l 
th
e
y
 c
a
n
 

in
fl
u
e
n
c
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
ir
 

lo
c
a
lit
y

D
a
ta
 i
s
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

P
la
c
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
 b
ie
n
ia
lly
.

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

2
8
.8
%

3
2
.3
%

(2
0
1
0
)

T
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 L
e
d
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 T
ra
n
s
it
io
n
 G
ro
u
p
 i
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
 o
f 
s
u
b
m
it
ti
n
g
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
fu
n
d
in
g
 b
id
s
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 

re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
th
e
 R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 l
e
d
 p
la
n
n
in
g
. 
 

T
h
is
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 A
B
G
 f
u
n
d
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 k
e
y
 c
o
-o
rd
in
a
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 p
o
s
t 
a
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 L
E
A
D
E
R
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 f
o
r 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
.

£
2
5
k
 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 f
o
r 
p
u
rp
o
s
e
 o
f 
C
L
P
 C
o
m
m
is
io
n
in
g
 O
ff
ic
e
r 

a
p
p
o
in
tm
e
n
t 
fr
o
m
 A
B
G

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
, 
H
A
L
C
, 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 F
ir
s
t 
c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
ta
rt
-u
p
s
 a
n
d
 

o
n
g
o
in
g
 p
la
n
s
. 
G
ra
n
ts
 a
n
d
 p
ro
je
c
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
d
v
ic
e
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
p
la
n
s
, 
to
g
e
th
e
r 
w
it
h
 r
e
s
u
lt
in
g
 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
. 
S
o
m
e
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 o
u
ts
ta
n
d
in
g
 f
o
r 
th
is
. 
 

A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
b
y
 H
a
m
p
to
n
 B
is
h
o
p
 P
C
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 p
a
rt
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

p
ilo
t 
o
n
 p
a
rt
ic
ip
a
to
ry
 b
u
d
g
e
ti
n
g
. 

H
A
L
C
/H
C
V
Y
S
 /
H
C
 w
o
rk
in
g
 o
n
 a
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
to
 g
e
t 
y
o
u
n
g
 a
d
u
lt
s
 

m
o
re
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 l
o
c
a
l 
d
e
m
o
c
ra
c
y
. 
 

R
e
a
c
h
in
g
 H
e
a
rt
s
 i
n
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
: 
a
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 w
o
rk
in
g
 w
it
h
 

c
o
u
n
c
ill
o
rs
, 
c
o
u
n
c
il 
o
ff
ic
e
rs
 a
n
d
 a
ll 
lo
c
a
l 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 t
o
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 

h
o
w
 t
o
 b
e
s
t 
w
o
rk
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
to
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 l
iv
e
s
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
.

B
B

P
la
n
n
e
d
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 

p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
 w
h
ic
h
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
t

6
Y
e
s

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

P
a
rt
ic
ip
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 r
e
g
u
la
r 

v
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g
 

D
a
ta
 i
s
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 

P
la
c
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
 b
ie
n
ia
lly
.

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

2
9
%

3
2
.5
%

(2
0
1
0
)

T
h
e
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 
th
e
 V
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g
 C
o
d
e
 o
f 
G
o
o
d
 

P
ra
c
ti
c
e
 h
a
s
 n
o
w
 b
e
e
n
 f
in
a
lis
e
d
 a
n
d
 a
 d
ra
ft
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 d
ra
w
n
 

u
p
.

H
V
A
 a
n
d
 C
V
A
 L
e
d
b
u
ry
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 

in
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 
th
ro
u
g
h
 S
L
A
's
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 v
o
lu
n
te
e
r 
c
e
n
tr
e
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
.

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 V
o
lu
n
te
e
rs
 o
f 
th
e
 Y
e
a
r 
a
w
a
rd
s
 h
e
ld
 i
n
 J
u
n
e
 

2
0
0
9
, 
w
h
ic
h
 r
a
is
e
s
 t
h
e
 p
ro
fi
le
 o
f 
v
o
lu
n
te
e
ri
n
g
. 
 

£
6
k
 s
e
c
u
re
d
 f
o
r 
m
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 c
a
m
p
a
ig
n
s
 a
lt
h
o
u
g
h
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 i
s
 n
o
t 

d
u
e
 t
o
 s
ta
rt
 i
n
 e
a
rn
e
s
t 
ti
l 
N
o
v
 2
0
0
9
 (
o
ri
g
in
a
lly
 J
u
n
e
/J
u
ly
 2
0
0
9
) 

to
 t
ie
 i
n
 w
it
h
 C
o
m
p
a
c
t 
A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n

A
 r
is
k
 t
h
a
t 
n
o
t 
a
ll 
o
f 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 w
ill
 b
e
 a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 d
u
e
 t
o
 a
 s
h
o
rt
fa
ll 

in
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 h
a
s
 n
o
w
 b
e
e
n
 m
it
ig
a
te
d
.

A
B

W
o
rk
 i
s
 n
o
w
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
 

in
 a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

p
re
v
iu
o
s
ly
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 r
is
k
 

h
a
s
 n
o
w
 b
e
e
n
 m
it
ig
a
te
d

7

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 
a
 t
h
ri
v
in
g
 t
h
ir
d
 

s
e
c
to
r

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
s
u
rv
e
y
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
d
 

b
y
 t
h
e
 O
ff
ic
e
 o
f 
th
e
 T
h
ir
d
 

S
e
c
to
r

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n

1
4
.9
%

1
9
%

(2
0
1
0
-1
1
)

T
h
e
 C
o
m
p
a
c
t 
c
o
d
e
 o
f 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 o
n
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 a
n
d
 p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
fo
r 

h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 i
s
 b
e
in
g
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
im
 o
f 

re
fr
e
s
h
in
g
 t
h
e
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 r
o
lli
n
g
 i
t 
o
u
t 
a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 w
h
o
le
 o
f 

th
e
 t
h
ir
d
 s
e
c
to
r 
a
n
d
 L
S
P
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
. 
T
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

'In
fo
rm

in
g
, 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
in
g
 a
n
d
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
o
rk
in
g
' c
o
d
e
 h
a
s
 

fi
n
is
h
e
d
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 f
in
a
l 
d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
is
 b
e
in
g
 r
e
v
is
e
d
 b
e
fo
re
 f
o
rm

a
l 

s
ig
n
o
ff
f 
b
y
 t
h
e
 L
S
P
. 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 i
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
ts
 t
o
 t
h
e
 t
h
ir
d
 s
e
c
to
r 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 b
e
 m
a
d
e
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 S
L
A
's
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
c
ils
 

s
tr
a
te
g
ic
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 f
o
r 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
o
 t
h
e
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 s
e
c
to
r.
  
W
o
rk
 o
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
w
id
e
 o
n
lin
e
 d
a
ta
b
a
s
e
 o
f 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 h
a
lls
 i
n
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 i
s
 n
e
a
rl
y
 c
o
m
p
le
te
. 
A
 r
e
v
ie
w
 

o
f 
th
ir
d
 s
e
c
to
r 
e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 g
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 i
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
.

B
B

P
la
n
n
e
d
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 

p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
 w
h
ic
h
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

im
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
t

25



P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
R
e
p
o
rt
A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
B
0
.x
ls

D
o
T

R
e
a
so

n
 f
o
r 
ju

d
g
e
m

e
n
ts

N
IS

L
A
A

H
C
S

C
A
B

J
u
ly

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r

Ju
ly

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r

R
A
B
G
 r
a
ti
n
g

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 

O
u
tt
u
rn

C
o
m
m
e
n
t/
p
ro
g
re
s
s

L
a
te
s
t 
O
u
tt
u
rn

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 

T
a
rg
e
t

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e

In
d
ic
a
to
r

L
e
a
d
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te

9
Y
e
s

Y
e
s

U
s
e
 o
f 
p
u
b
lic
 l
ib
ra
ri
e
s

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

4
7
.9
%

5
1
%

D
e
ta
ile
d
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 o
f 
lib
ra
ry
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
n
.

M
o
b
ile
 l
ib
ra
ry
 r
e
v
ie
w
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
; 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

b
y
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r.

P
ro
je
c
t 
p
la
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
e
d
 a
n
d
 n
e
g
o
ti
a
ti
o
n
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
 f
o
r 
a
 l
ic
e
n
c
e
 

to
 o
p
e
n
 a
 v
o
lu
n
te
e
r 
ru
n
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 l
ib
ra
ry
 i
n
 P
e
te
rc
h
u
rc
h
.

S
e
e
k
in
g
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 (
n
o
t 
fu
n
d
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 A
B
G
) 
to
 

d
e
liv
e
r 
IC
T
 t
ra
in
in
g
 p
a
c
k
a
g
e
s
 t
o
 t
a
rg
e
te
d
 g
ro
u
p
s
.

S
u
m
m
e
r 
R
e
a
d
in
g
 C
h
a
lle
n
g
e
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
; 
e
a
rl
y
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 

s
u
g
g
e
s
ts
 a
 g
re
a
te
r 
ta
k
e
 u
p
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 l
a
s
t 
y
e
a
r.

B
B

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 b
e
in
g
 

d
e
liv
e
re
d

1
0

V
is
it
s 
to

 m
u
se

u
m

s 
a
n
d
 g

a
lle

ri
e
s 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

4
8
.0
%

5
1
.3
%

L
e
d
b
u
ry

 H
e
ri
ta

g
e
 C

e
n
tr
e
 r
e
-o

p
e
n
e
d
.

H
e
re

fo
rd

 M
u
se

u
m

 a
n
d
 A

rt
 G

a
lle

ry
 -
 T

o
o
th

 a
n
d
 C

la
w
 e

x
h
ib

it
io

n
 

a
tt
ra

ct
e
d
 5

,4
3
9
 v

is
it
o
rs

 a
n
d
 w

a
s 
p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 p

o
p
u
la
r 
w
it
h
 

ch
ild

re
n
. 
 T

h
e
 H

e
re

fo
rd

 P
h
o
to

g
ra

p
h
ic
 e

x
h
ib

it
io

n
 o

f 
w
o
rk

s 
b
y
 

Jo
h
n
 B

u
lm

e
r 
a
tt
ra

ct
e
d
 2

,9
5
6
 v

is
it
o
rs

.

A
t 
th

e
 M

u
se

u
m

 R
e
so

u
rc

e
 C

e
n
tr
e
, 
o
p
e
n
 d

a
y
s 
h
a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 r
u
n
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 e

v
e
n
ts

 s
ta

rt
in

g
 t
o
 a

tt
ra

ct
 a

 r
e
g
u
la
r 
cl
ie
n
te

le
. 
U
sa

g
e
s 

fo
r 
to

u
rs

, 
le
ct

u
re

s 
a
n
d
 s
e
m

in
a
rs

 e
x
ce

e
d
s 
th

e
 t
a
rg

e
ts

 s
e
t 
in

 t
h
e
 

o
ri
g
in

a
l 
A
u
d
ie
n
ce

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
P
la
n
.

F
a
m

ily
 F

ri
e
n
d
ly
 m

y
st

e
ry

 s
h
o
p
p
e
r 
v
is
it
s 
to

o
k
 p

la
ce

 i
n
 M

a
y
 a

t 
a
ll 

si
te

s 
e
x
ce

p
t 
L
e
d
b
u
ry

 H
e
ri
ta

g
e
 C

e
n
tr
e
 a

n
d
 o

n
ce

 f
e
e
d
b
a
ck

 h
a
s 

b
e
e
n
 r
e
ce

iv
e
d
 a

ct
io

n
s 
w
ill
 b

e
 i
n
st

ig
a
te

d
 t
o
 w

o
rk

 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 

h
ig

h
lig

h
te

d
 i
ss

u
e
s.

B
B

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 b
e
in
g
 

d
e
liv
e
re
d

1
1

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
in
 t
h
e
 a
rt
s

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
u
lt
u
re

4
6
.4
%

4
9
.5
%

T
a
k
e
 p
A
R
T
 l
a
u
n
c
h
e
d
. 
P
u
b
lic
it
y
 c
a
m
p
a
ig
n
 u
n
d
e
rw
a
y
. 
E
v
e
n
ts
 

p
u
b
lic
is
e
d
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 B
ro
a
d
s
h
e
e
p
. 
S
u
rv
e
y
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
.

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
T
a
k
e
 p
A
R
T
 t
o
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
a
n
d
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 
b
e
fo
re
 t
h
e
 l
a
u
n
c
h
 o
f 
p
h
a
s
e
 2
.

B
B

A
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 b
e
in
g
 

d
e
liv
e
re
d

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

L
o
ca

l 
–
 %

 o
f 
th

e
 a

d
u
lt
 

p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
 w

h
o
 f
in

d
 a

cc
e
ss

 t
o
 

th
e
 f
o
llo

w
in

g
 s
e
rv

ic
e
s 
d
if
fi
cu

lt
:

L
o
ca

l 
sh

o
p

A
d
v
ic
e
 p

ro
v
is
io

n

P
u
b
lic

 t
ra

n
sp

o
rt
 f
a
ci
lit

y

C
u
lt
u
ra

l 
/ 
re

cr
e
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
fa

ci
lit

y

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra

ti
o
n

1
2
%

1
8
%

2
1
%

2
1
%

1
1
%

1
6
%

2
1
%

1
9
%

A
B
G
 f
u
n
d
in

g
 w

a
s 
n
o
t 
se

cu
re

d
 f
o
r 
th

e
 R

u
ra

l 
S
e
rv

ic
e
s 
o
ff
ic
e
r,
 

w
h
ic
h
 w

ill
 l
im

it
 t
h
e
 l
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
re

so
u
rc

e
s 
th

a
t 
ca

n
 b

e
 p

u
t 
in

to
 t
h
is
 

a
re

a
.

T
h
e
re

 a
re

 f
o
u
r 
m

u
lt
i-
u
se

 c
e
n
tr
e
s 
in

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
in

 L
e
d
b
u
ry

, 

L
e
in

tw
a
rd

in
e
, 
L
e
o
m

in
st

e
r 
a
n
d
 P

e
te

rc
h
u
rc

h
. 
 P

e
te

rc
h
u
rc

h
, 

w
h
ic
h
 h

a
s 
se

cu
re

d
 f
u
ll 

fu
n
d
in

g
, 
is
 a

n
 e

x
a
m

p
le
 o

f 
jo

in
t 

p
ro

v
is
io

n
 -
 E

a
rl
y
 Y

e
a
rs

 w
ill
 p

ro
v
id

e
 a

n
 o

u
tr
e
a
ch

 c
h
ild

re
n
's
 

ce
n
tr
e
; 
lib

ra
ry

 s
e
rv

ic
e
 a

ls
o
 t
o
 b

e
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
.

A
B

W
o
rk
 i
s
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
in
g
 i
n
 

lin
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
:

N
IS

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
In
d
ic
a
to
r 
S
e
t

L
A
A

L
o
c
a
l 
A
re
a
 A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t

H
C
S

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y

C
A
B

In
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 t
o
 C
a
b
in
e
t

26



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Natalia Silver, Head of Economic and Community Services, tel: 01432 260732 

Economic downturn   

MEETING: COMMUNITY SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 7
TH
 DECEMBER 2009 

TITLE OF REPORT: EXECUTIVE RESPONSE AND ACTION PLAN 

FOLLOWING THE SCRUTINY REVIEW OF 

TOURISM WITH SPECIFIC REFERENCE TO 

TOURIST INFORMATION CENTRES 

PORTFOLIO AREA:  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND COMMUNITY 

SERVICES 

CLASSIFICATION: Open 

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

To consider Cabinet’s response to the recommendations made to it in the Scrutiny Review of Tourism 
with Specific Reference to Tourist Information Centres. 

Recommendation 

THAT (a) Cabinet’s response to the findings of the Scrutiny Review of Tourism with 

Specific Reference to Tourist Information Centres be noted, subject to any 

comments the Committee wish to make; and  

(b) A further report on progress against the action plan be made after six months 

with consideration then being given to the need for any further report being made. 

Key Points Summary 

• The Cabinet Member’s response to each recommendation is set out in Appendix 1. 

• The recommendations are agreed or agreed in principle, with the exception of two which are 
outlined in the action plan response. 

Alternative Options 

1 That scrutiny does not accept the response from the Herefordshire Council executive. 

Reasons for Recommendations 

2 To complete the process of the Tourism Review outlining which recommendations have been 
accepted. 

AGENDA ITEM 8

27



Introduction and Background 

3 At the meeting of the Community Services Scrutiny Committee on 20th December 2006, the 
Committee agreed to undertake the review, however, it also agreed to delay the review until 
the new Destination Management Partnership had become more fully established.  The 
Committee at its meeting on 2nd July 2007 agreed the Scoping Statement and the 
membership of the Review Group.  

4 At its meeting on 18 April 2008 the Committee received a report on the findings of the Review 
Group.  The report which included: the terms of reference, the findings, membership of the 
group, and work undertaken was included in the agenda for the Committee meeting and is 
available via the Councils web site. 

5 Since that time the report’s findings were submitted to Cabinet for consideration on 30
th
 June 

2009.  However, Cabinet deferred consideration of the report and the report has since been 
revised. At its meeting on 26 November 2009, Cabinet agreed the recommendations as set 
out in the report to it. 

6 In accordance with the scrutiny process the Committee needs to consider Cabinet’s response 
and assess whether a further report on progress against the action plan is required. 

Key Considerations 

4 Many issues raised in the review are still relevant.  However, the financing of the service has 
become more critical considering the TICs are a non statutory service and does not directly 
contribute to any priority indicators. 

5 Relating to many of the points made in the review an asset management plan for TICs is in 
production and will be presented to the Cabinet Member for consideration. 

6 Since the review a number of the activities have already taken place that relate to the 
recommendations in the Tourism Review.  These include: 

• TIC stakeholder day to review the work of the TICs and inform an asset management 
plan. 

• Telephone linked to the Ross Tourist Information Centre for accommodation bookings. 

• Display cabinet for the sale of gifts to enhance the offer. 

• Review of the Destination Management Partnership commissioned. 

• Review of literature published to ensure value for money and relevance. 

• Improved front page of the web site with links to the events with special themed banners 
for the different seasons. 

• Request a booking of accommodation has increased the number of bookings via the web 
site and increased e shop to enable more tickets for events to be sold. 

• Establish an area for food and drink businesses thereby increasing awareness of the 
range of food and drink made in the county. 

• Added travel Buddy to enable people to connect to the data via their mobile phones. 

 

 

28



Community Impact 

7 TICs are seen as a key market town presence and a “symbol” of the Council’s investment in 
market towns and tourism.  They are used approximately 50% by local people, though visitor 
numbers have generally been declining as people use pre-visit web information. 

Financial Implications 

8 All costs must be met from within existing budgets if the recommendations, as presented, are 
accepted. 

Legal Implications 

9 Legal requirement regarding early termination of leases. 

Risk Management 

10 Failure to provide effective tourism services would impact on the economic life of the County.  
The Executive’s response to the recommendations made by Scrutiny seeks to balance this 
against finite budgets and existing policy. 

Consultees 

11 None. 

Appendices 

12 Appendix 1 Action Plan to address the recommendations arising from the scrutiny review. 

Background Papers 

• None. 

29



30



 
1
 

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
  

A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 i
n
 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
T
o
u
ri
s
m
 

 R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

N
o
. 
1
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 p
ro
v
id
e
 T
IC
’s
 a
t 
o
r 
c
lo
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 m
a
in
 c
e
n
tr
e
s
’ 
o
f 
to
u
ri
s
t 
a
c
ti
v
it
y
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
ty
, 
n
o
tw
it
h
s
ta
n
d
in
g
 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 i
n
 p
a
tt
e
rn
s
 o
f 
u
s
e
. 
 U
ti
lis
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 t
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 b
e
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 v
ia
 f
o
o
tf
a
ll 
a
n
d
 c
o
s
t 
p
e
r 
v
is
it
o
r 
d
a
ta
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

A
c
c
e
p
te
d
 t
h
e
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

O
w
n
e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 C
ri
te
ri
a
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 

T
IC
 s
ta
k
e
 h
o
ld
e
r 
d
a
y
 t
o
 r
e
v
ie
w
 t
h
e
 w
o
rk
 o
f 
th
e
 

T
IC
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
fo
rm
 a
n
 a
s
s
e
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
. 

T
o
u
ri
s
m
 F
o
o
d
 &
 

M
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
9
 
In
p
u
t 
fr
o
m
 s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
rs
 

o
n
 t
h
e
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
T
IC
s
. 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 t
o
o
k
 p
la
c
e
 o
n
 

2
3
rd
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
9
. 

A
s
s
e
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
 t
o
 b
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

lig
h
t 
o
f 
re
d
u
c
e
d
 e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re
. 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
9
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 
m
e
m
b
e
r 
a
g
re
e
d
 

o
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
T
IC
s
. 

P
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 i
n
 d
ra
ft
. 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
re
v
ie
w
 o
f 
fo
o
tf
a
ll 
a
n
d
 c
o
s
t 
p
e
r 
v
is
it
o
r 
d
a
ta
 

V
is
it
o
r 
&
 

P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
s
 O
ff
ic
e
r 

J
a
n
u
a
ry
 

2
0
1
0
 

In
c
re
a
s
e
d
 u
s
a
g
e
 o
r 

e
n
q
u
ir
ie
s
 v
ia
 t
h
e
 T
IC
. 

M
o
n
th
s
 J
a
n
 –
 S
e
p
t 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
. 

 R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

N
o
. 
2
 

R
e
ta
in
 d
ir
e
c
t 
c
o
n
tr
o
l 
o
v
e
r 
to
u
ri
s
m
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 
 N
e
v
e
r 
c
o
m
b
in
e
 t
h
e
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
a
 T
IC
 w
it
h
 t
h
o
s
e
 o
f 
a
n
 ‘
In
fo
 i
n
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
’ 
o
ff
ic
e
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
te
d
. 
 O
p
ti
o
n
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 r
e
m
a
in
 o
p
e
n
 f
o
r 
T
IC
s
 a
n
d
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 i
s
 t
o
 s
h
a
re
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
n
 m
a
rk
e
t 
to
w
n
s
 w
h
e
re
 v
ia
b
le
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

O
w
n
e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 C
ri
te
ri
a
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 

O
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
T
IC
s
 t
o
 b
e
 r
e
fl
e
c
te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a
s
s
e
t 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
. 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
9
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 
m
e
m
b
e
r 
a
g
re
e
d
 

o
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
T
IC
s
. 

P
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 i
n
 d
ra
ft
. 

 R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

N
o
. 
3
 

M
e
e
t 
th
e
 c
h
a
lle
n
g
e
s
 p
o
s
e
d
 b
y
 r
is
in
g
 e
x
p
e
c
ta
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 m
o
d
e
rn
 m
e
a
n
s
 o
f 
c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 d
ri
v
e
 f
o
r 
g
re
a
te
r 
V
F
M
, 

w
it
h
 a
 n
e
w
 ‘
h
u
b
 a
n
d
 s
p
o
k
e
’ 
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 f
o
r 
th
e
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
to
u
ri
s
t 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

A
c
c
e
p
te
d
 i
n
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

O
w
n
e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 C
ri
te
ri
a
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 

O
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
T
IC
s
 t
o
 b
e
 r
e
fl
e
c
te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 a
s
s
e
t 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
. 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
9
 

P
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
 

s
a
v
in
g
s
. 

P
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 i
n
 d
ra
ft
. 

   

31



 
2
 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

N
o
. 
4
 &
 5
 

E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 a
 c
e
n
tr
a
l 
h
u
b
, 
c
o
-l
o
c
a
te
d
 w
it
h
 a
 p
ri
n
c
ip
a
l 
T
IC
, 
s
ta
ff
e
d
 b
y
 2
.2
5
 f
te
 s
ta
ff
 p
lu
s
 t
h
e
 T
IC
 s
u
p
e
rv
is
o
r.
  
It
s
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 

c
o
m
p
ri
s
e
: 

 a
. 
C
e
n
tr
a
lis
e
d
 h
a
n
d
lin
g
 o
f 
to
u
ri
s
m
 e
n
q
u
ir
ie
s
 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 h
ig
h
e
r 
s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 o
f 
p
ro
m
p
tn
e
s
s
, 
c
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
n
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
fe
s
s
io
n
a
lis
m
. 

b
. 
A
 c
e
n
tr
a
lis
e
d
 f
a
c
ili
ty
 f
o
r 
th
e
 m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
b
ro
c
h
u
re
s
 e
tc
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 d
e
s
ti
n
a
ti
o
n
s
 b
e
y
o
n
d
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
ty
 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
, 
th
u
s
 f
a
c
ili
ta
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 u
p
d
a
ti
n
g
 o
f 
th
is
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 w
h
ils
t 
e
ra
d
ic
a
ti
n
g
 m
u
lt
ip
le
 h
o
ld
in
g
s
 a
n
d
, 
m
o
s
t 
im
p
o
rt
a
n
tl
y
, 
fr
e
e
in
g
 

v
a
lu
a
b
le
 s
to
ra
g
e
 a
n
d
 d
is
p
la
y
 s
p
a
c
e
 a
t 
th
e
 T
IC
s
. 

c
. 
T
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
fo
r 
c
e
n
tr
a
lis
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
s
o
m
e
 p
e
ri
p
h
e
ra
l 
T
IC
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
s
 s
u
c
h
 a
s
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
, 
b
u
s
, 
tr
a
in
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
a
tr
e
 b
o
o
k
in
g
s
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

A
c
c
e
p
te
d
 i
n
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

O
w
n
e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 C
ri
te
ri
a
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 

Id
e
n
ti
fy
 a
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
c
o
u
ld
 w
o
rk
 a
s
 a
 c
e
n
tr
a
l 
T
IC
. 

T
o
u
ri
s
m
 F
o
o
d
 &
 

M
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
9
 

O
n
e
 c
e
n
tr
a
l 
h
u
b
 w
ill
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
ll 
T
o
u
ri
s
t 

In
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 C
e
n
tr
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

c
o
u
n
ty
. 

H
e
re
fo
rd
 a
n
d
 R
o
s
s
 b
e
in
g
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 a
s
 c
e
n
tr
a
l 
h
u
b
 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
. 

 R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

N
o
. 
6
 

B
ro
m
y
a
rd
 C
e
n
tr
e
 t
o
 b
e
c
o
m
e
 a
 T
IP
 w
it
h
 b
e
tt
e
r 
in
te
rn
a
l 
a
n
d
 e
x
te
rn
a
l 
s
ig
n
a
g
e
, 
a
 m
o
re
 o
b
v
io
u
s
 t
e
le
p
h
o
n
e
 f
o
r 
e
n
q
u
ir
ie
s
 a
n
d
, 
a
s
 

a
 t
ri
a
l 
th
e
 i
n
s
ta
lla
ti
o
n
 o
f 
w
in
d
o
w
 m
o
u
n
te
d
 t
o
u
c
h
-s
c
re
e
n
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 f
a
c
ili
ty
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

O
w
n
e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 C
ri
te
ri
a
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 

T
e
le
p
h
o
n
e
 l
in
k
e
d
 t
o
 R
o
s
s
 T
o
u
ri
s
t 
In
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 

C
e
n
tr
e
 f
o
r 
a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 b
o
o
k
in
g
s
 

V
is
it
o
r 
&
 

P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
s
 O
ff
ic
e
r 

C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 
E
a
s
y
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 f
o
r 
v
is
it
o
rs
 t
o
 

b
o
o
k
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
. 

T
e
le
p
h
o
n
e
 l
in
k
 i
n
s
ta
lle
d
 a
n
d
 

w
o
rk
in
g
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
 

D
is
p
la
y
 C
a
b
in
e
t 
fo
r 
th
e
 s
a
le
 o
f 
g
if
ts
 t
o
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 

o
ff
e
r 

V
is
it
o
r 
&
 

P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
s
 O
ff
ic
e
r 

C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 
M
a
x
im
is
e
 s
a
le
s
 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
. 

S
a
le
s
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
 a
t 
th
e
 c
e
n
tr
e
 

a
n
d
 m
o
re
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
y
 t
o
 

d
is
p
la
y
 l
o
c
a
l 
c
ra
ft
s
 a
n
d
 

g
o
o
d
s
. 

M
o
n
th
ly
 S
L
A
 r
e
v
ie
w
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 i
s
 a
 f
u
ll 

u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
th
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
a
ll 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
. 

V
is
it
o
r 
&
 

P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
s
 O
ff
ic
e
r 

O
n
 g
o
in
g
 

In
c
re
a
s
e
d
 u
s
e
 a
n
d
 p
ro
fi
le
 

o
f 
th
e
 T
IC
/T
IP
. 

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 w
o
rk
in
g
 

re
la
ti
o
n
s
h
ip
s
 w
it
h
 a
ll 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
. 

S
ig
n
a
g
e
 b
e
in
g
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te
d
 

V
is
it
o
r 
&
 

P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
s
 O
ff
ic
e
r 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
1
0
 

G
re
a
te
r 
k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

T
IP
 b
y
 c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
. 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 t
o
 b
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
d
 t
o
 

a
d
d
re
s
s
 s
ig
n
a
g
e
. 

T
o
u
c
h
 s
c
re
e
n
 c
o
s
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te
d
. 

V
is
it
o
r 
&
 

P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
s
 O
ff
ic
e
r 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
9
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 f
o
r 

c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ri
n
g
 n
o
 

s
ta
ff
 t
o
 c
o
v
e
r 
th
e
 t
o
u
ri
s
m
 

fu
n
c
ti
o
n
. 

In
it
ia
l 
c
o
s
ts
 b
e
in
g
 s
o
u
g
h
t.
 

32



 
3
 

 R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

N
o
. 
7
 

E
n
a
b
le
 t
h
e
 K
in
g
to
n
 T
IC
 t
o
 r
e
m
a
in
 i
n
 i
ts
 p
re
s
e
n
t 
lo
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 r
e
fu
rb
is
h
 t
h
e
 b
u
ild
in
g
’s
 f
a
b
ri
c
 a
n
d
 d
e
c
o
ra
ti
o
n
 p
ro
v
id
in
g
 t
h
is
 

c
a
n
 b
e
 d
o
n
e
 f
ro
m
 w
it
h
in
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 b
u
d
g
e
ts
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

A
g
re
e
d
 i
n
 p
a
rt
. 
 T
h
e
 b
u
ild
in
g
 i
s
 l
e
a
s
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 T
o
w
n
 C
o
u
n
c
il.
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

O
w
n
e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 C
ri
te
ri
a
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 

R
e
p
la
c
e
m
e
n
t 
fl
o
o
ri
n
g
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 2
0
1
0
/1
1
 

m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
. 

C
o
lin
 B
ir
k
s
 

M
a
y
 

2
0
1
0
. 

D
e
c
is
io
n
 o
n
 m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 

w
o
rk
. 
 

C
o
s
ts
 f
o
r 
m
a
in
te
n
a
n
c
e
 

b
e
in
g
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 i
n
 o
u
tl
in
e
. 

 R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

N
o
. 
8
 

C
o
m
p
le
m
e
n
t 
e
a
c
h
 o
f 
th
e
 o
th
e
r 
‘s
p
o
k
e
’ 
T
IC
s
 w
it
h
 2
.5
ft
e
 p
a
id
 s
ta
ff
 p
lu
s
 a
n
y
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 v
o
lu
n
te
e
rs
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 n
o
t 
a
c
c
e
p
te
d
. 
 E
a
c
h
 T
IC
 w
ill
 h
a
v
e
 i
ts
 o
w
n
 s
ta
ff
in
g
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

O
w
n
e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 C
ri
te
ri
a
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 

R
e
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 o
f 
T
IC
s
 l
in
k
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r
e
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 o
f 
th
e
 w
id
e
r 

to
u
ri
s
m
 s
e
rv
ic
e
. 

V
is
it
o
r 

P
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
s
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

O
c
to
b
e
r 

2
0
0
9
 

B
ri
n
g
 T
IC
 s
ta
ff
 c
o
s
ts
 o
n
 

b
u
d
g
e
t.
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 b
u
t 
n
o
t 
a
ll 

s
a
v
in
g
s
 r
e
a
lis
e
d
 d
u
e
 t
o
 

re
d
u
n
d
a
n
c
y
 c
o
s
ts
. 

  R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

N
o
. 
9
 

M
o
v
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
 T
IC
 f
ro
m
 i
ts
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
lo
c
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 n
e
w
 a
n
d
 l
e
s
s
 c
o
s
tl
y
 p
re
m
is
e
s
 a
s
 c
lo
s
e
 a
s
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
 t
o
 t
h
e
 h
is
to
ri
c
 c
it
y
 

c
e
n
tr
e
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

A
c
c
e
p
t 
in
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 b
e
in
g
 a
b
le
 t
o
 r
e
a
s
s
ig
n
 t
h
e
 l
e
a
s
e
 a
n
d
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 s
a
v
in
g
s
 c
a
n
 b
e
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
d
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

O
w
n
e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 C
ri
te
ri
a
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 

U
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 a
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 s
it
e
s
 f
o
r 
H
e
re
fo
rd
 

T
IC
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 T
IC
 a
s
s
e
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
. 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
9
 

E
x
p
lo
re
 c
h
e
a
p
e
r 
re
n
t 

o
p
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
H
e
re
fo
rd
 T
IC
. 

P
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 i
n
 d
ra
ft
. 

        

33



 
4
 

 R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

N
o
. 
1
0
 

F
in
d
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
L
e
o
m
in
s
te
r 
T
IC
 i
n
 a
 c
e
n
tr
a
l 
lo
c
a
ti
o
n
 a
s
 s
o
o
n
 a
s
 p
o
s
s
ib
le
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

A
c
c
e
p
t 
in
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

O
w
n
e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 C
ri
te
ri
a
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 

In
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
L
e
o
m
in
s
te
r 
T
IC
 

a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 T
IC
 a
s
s
e
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
. 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
  

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
9
 

E
x
p
lo
re
 b
e
s
t 
o
p
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

L
e
o
m
in
s
te
r 
T
IC
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
ri
n
g
 a
ll 
c
o
s
t 

re
s
tr
a
in
ts
. 

A
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 a
n
d
 

a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
s
 o
f 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 

lo
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 b
e
in
g
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 c
a
p
it
a
l 
a
n
d
 

re
v
e
n
u
e
 c
o
s
t 
im
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
. 

 R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

N
o
. 
1
1
 

A
g
re
e
 w
it
h
 V
is
it
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 l
a
tt
e
r 
w
ill
 t
a
k
e
 t
h
e
 l
e
a
d
 i
n
 a
ll 
a
s
p
e
c
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 m
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 o
f 
to
u
ri
s
m
 i
n
 a
n
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
ty
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

A
c
c
e
p
te
d
 a
s
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
p
o
s
it
io
n
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

O
w
n
e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 C
ri
te
ri
a
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
th
e
 D
e
s
ti
n
a
ti
o
n
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

to
 t
a
k
e
 p
la
c
e
. 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

T
o
 f
u
lly
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 t
h
e
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 

fo
r 
to
u
ri
s
m
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
. 

R
e
v
ie
w
 t
e
n
d
e
re
d
. 

 R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

N
o
. 
1
2
 

E
x
p
lo
re
 w
it
h
 V
is
it
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 h
o
w
 b
e
s
t 
to
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
n
d
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 l
in
k
a
g
e
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 m
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

O
w
n
e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 C
ri
te
ri
a
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
lit
e
ra
tu
re
 p
u
b
lis
h
e
d
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 

m
o
n
e
y
 a
n
d
 r
e
le
v
a
n
c
e
. 

T
o
u
ri
s
m
 F
o
o
d
 

&
 M
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
9
 

R
e
d
u
c
e
d
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
. 

A
c
h
ie
v
e
d
 

     

34



 
5
 

R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

N
o
. 
1
3
 

S
e
e
k
 t
o
 m
a
k
e
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
te
n
t,
 u
s
e
r-
fr
ie
n
d
lin
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 u
p
d
a
ti
n
g
 o
f 
th
e
 W

e
b
 s
it
e
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

A
c
c
e
p
te
d
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

O
w
n
e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 C
ri
te
ri
a
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 f
ro
n
t 
p
a
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 w
e
b
 s
it
e
 w
it
h
 l
in
k
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

e
v
e
n
ts
 w
it
h
 s
p
e
c
ia
l 
th
e
m
e
d
 b
a
n
n
e
rs
 f
o
r 
th
e
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 

s
e
a
s
o
n
s
. 

W
e
b
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 
Im
p
ro
v
e
d
 l
o
o
k
 a
n
d
 

u
s
a
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
th
e
 w
e
b
s
it
e
. 

C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 s
e
a
rc
h
 o
p
ti
m
is
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 
e
a
c
h
 p
a
g
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

w
e
b
 s
it
e
 r
e
s
u
lt
in
g
 i
n
 m
o
re
 h
it
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 w
e
b
 s
it
e
. 

W
e
b
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

O
n
 g
o
in
g
. 

A
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
h
it
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 w
e
b
 

s
it
e
. 

O
n
 g
o
in
g
 

R
e
q
u
e
s
t 
a
 b
o
o
k
in
g
 o
f 
a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 h
a
s
 

in
c
re
a
s
e
d
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
b
o
o
k
in
g
s
 v
ia
 t
h
e
 w
e
b
 s
it
e
 

a
n
d
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
d
 e
 s
h
o
p
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 m
o
re
 t
ic
k
e
ts
 f
o
r 

e
v
e
n
ts
 t
o
 b
e
 s
o
ld
. 

W
e
b
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

M
a
y
 2
0
0
9
 

M
o
re
 b
o
o
k
in
g
s
 f
o
r 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 v
ia
 t
h
e
 

w
e
b
 s
it
e
. 

C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

E
s
ta
b
lis
h
 a
n
 a
re
a
 f
o
r 
fo
o
d
 a
n
d
 d
ri
n
k
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 

th
e
re
b
y
 i
n
c
re
a
s
in
g
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
f 
th
e
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
fo
o
d
 

a
n
d
 d
ri
n
k
 m
a
d
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
. 

W
e
b
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

In
c
re
a
s
e
d
 p
ro
fi
le
 o
f 
fo
o
d
 

a
n
d
 d
ri
n
k
. 

C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

A
d
d
e
d
 t
ra
v
e
l 
B
u
d
d
y
 t
o
 e
n
a
b
le
 p
e
o
p
le
 t
o
 c
o
n
n
e
c
t 
to
 

th
e
 d
a
ta
 v
ia
 t
h
e
ir
 m
o
b
ile
 p
h
o
n
e
s
. 

W
e
b
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
8
 

U
s
in
g
 n
e
w
 t
e
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y
 t
o
 

im
p
ro
v
e
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

ra
n
g
e
 o
f 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
, 
e
v
e
n
ts
 

a
n
d
 a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 

th
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
. 

C
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

 R
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

N
o
. 
1
4
 

T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
l 
fo
r 
a
 h
u
b
 a
n
d
 s
p
o
k
e
 s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 c
lo
s
e
ly
 a
n
d
 a
 r
e
v
ie
w
 a
n
d
 r
e
p
o
rt
 p
re
p
a
re
d
 a
ft
e
r 
th
e
 f
ir
s
t 

y
e
a
r 
o
f 
o
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
. 

E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
’s
 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

A
g
re
e
d
 i
n
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
 d
e
p
e
n
d
in
g
 o
n
 t
h
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 o
f 
th
e
 T
IC
 a
s
s
e
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
p
la
n
 a
n
d
 l
in
k
e
d
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 4
 a
n
d
 5
 

a
b
o
v
e
. 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

O
w
n
e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
S
u
c
c
e
s
s
 C
ri
te
ri
a
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 

R
e
p
o
rt
 w
h
e
n
 /
 i
f 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
. 

T
o
u
ri
s
m
 F
o
o
d
 

&
 M
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
1
. 

 
 

    

35



36



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Natalia Silver, Head of Economic and Community Services, tel: 01432 260732 

  

MEETING: COMMUNITY SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 7TH DECEMBER 2009 

TITLE OF REPORT: EXECUTIVE RESPONSE AND ACTION PLAN 
FOLLOWING THE SCRUTINY REVIEW OF THE 
HEREFORDSHIRE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
STRATEGY 2005-25 

PORTFOLIO AREA:  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND COMMUNITY 
SERVICES 

CLASSIFICATION: Open 

Wards Affected 

County-wide 

Purpose 

To outline the response from Cabinet to the Scrutiny Review of the Herefordshire Economic 
Development Strategy 2005-25. 

Key Decision 

This is not a Key Decision. 

Recommendation 

THAT (a) Cabinet’s response to the findings of the Scrutiny Review of the Herefordshire 
Economic Development Strategy 2005-25 be noted, subject to any comments the 
Committee wish to make; and  

(b) A further report on progress against the action plan be made after six months with 
consideration then being given to the need for any further report being made. 

Key Points Summary 

• The Committee’s Economic Development Strategy Review Group undertook a review of the 
Council’s Economic Development Strategy 2005-25 and completed a report into its findings 
which was considered and agreed by this Committee; 

• The report, which made a number of recommendations, was forwarded to Cabinet for 
consideration. 

• The Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Community Services has considered the 
recommendations contained in the report of 5th October 2009 and his response to each  

• All the recommendations are agreed or agreed in principle. 

AGENDA ITEM 9

37



Alternative Options 

1 That scrutiny does not accept the response from the Herefordshire Council Executive. 

Reasons for Recommendations 

2 To complete the process of the Review of the Economic Development Strategy outlining which 
recommendations have been accepted. 

Introduction and Background 

3 Community Services Scrutiny Committee brought forward a report reviewing the Economic 
Development Strategy on 5 October 2009.  The task of the review was to consider the 
economic development strategy in light of the current economic downturn and changes in 
priorities. 

4 The review was supported from officers within the Planning Policy Services and as a result 
there is a great deal of connectivity to the Local Development Framework – which is a positive 
approach considering the impact of the LDF on decisions that will affect the economy. 

5 The original strategy was produced in 2004 with a refresh when it was published in 2006.  It 
covers a 20 year period but since its publication the regional strategy has changed and so has 
the financial climate.  There is also a new national duty to produce Local Economic 
Assessments which will provide greater data on the local economy which will inform a revised 
strategy. 

Key Considerations 

6 The aim is to produce the new strategy by October 2010.  This allows time to reflect on the 
emerging priorities of the LDF and findings of the local economic assessment.  As part of the 
process will be consideration of geographic needs and sector specific requirements. 

7 Since the review a number of the activities have already taken place that relate to the 
recommendations in the strategy review.  These include: 

• Enhanced communication between economic development and planning services – 
especially in relation to key projects such as Model Farm.   

• An Intentions Paper on the county’s approach to addressing the challenges of Broadband 
delivery has been produced to be presented to Cabinet.  

• Initial discussions with the Hereford Heritage Regeneration Group on the transfer of assets 
has taken place and a draft proposals paper produced. 

• Improved front page of the web site with links to the events with special themed banners. 

• The Economic Development Partnership Group (policy and delivery group of the 
Herefordshire Partnership) continues to monitor activity and performance. 

Community Impact 

8 Economic prosperity of the county has an impact on all aspects of community life.  The recent 
downturn has impacted on businesses, communities and individuals – as well as public sector 
spend.  Much of the new economic development strategy will focus on recovery and support 

38



the sustainability of the county’s economy over the long term. 

Financial Implications 

9 All costs must be met from within existing budgets if the recommendations, as presented, are 
accepted. 

Legal Implications 

10 Not relevant for this report. 

Risk Management 

11 That once investigated the “in principle” recommendations will have a cost implication that will 
not allow for implementation. 

12 That there will be time slippage on the production of the new strategy due to Local Economic 
Assessment information not being forthcoming or delay on decision making regarding the 
LDF. 

Consultees 

13 Please see report for consultee list. 

Appendices 

14 Appendix 1 Action Plan to address the recommendations arising from the scrutiny review. 

Background Papers 

• None 

 

39



40



 

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 i
n
 R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 R

e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
E

c
o

n
o

m
ic

 D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

 R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
N

o
. 

1
 

E
n
s
u
re
 s
tr
o
n
g
e
r 
lin
k
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 (
L
D
F
) 
a
n
d
 n
e
w
 r
e
g
io
n
a
l 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 e
n
a
b
le
 m
o
re
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 u
s
e
 

in
 d
e
te
rm
in
in
g
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
. 

E
x
e
c
u

ti
v
e
’s

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
 

T
h
is
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
. 

A
c
ti

o
n

 
O

w
n

e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n

 
T

a
rg

e
t/

S
u

c
c
e
s
s
 C

ri
te

ri
a
 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 

C
o
n
tr
ib
u
te
 t
o
 t
h
e
 a
llo
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
in
d
u
s
tr
ia
l 
la
n
d
 

s
it
e
s
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
in
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

L
D
F
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 h
a
v
e
 a
n
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
n
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
. 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

J
a
n
u
a
ry
 

2
0
1
0
 

S
o
u
n
d
 b
a
s
is
 o
f 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 

m
a
k
e
 d
e
c
is
io
n
s
 o
n
 i
n
d
u
s
tr
ia
l 

la
n
d
 s
it
e
s
. 

L
a
n
d
 B
a
s
e
d
 R
e
v
ie
w
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
 a
n
d
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

w
e
b
s
it
e
 i
n
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
. 

E
n
h
a
n
c
e
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 

c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 f
a
c
to
rs
 i
n
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 

d
e
c
is
io
n
s
. 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
9
 

W
id
e
r 
v
ie
w
 o
f 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 

d
e
c
is
io
n
s
. 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 w
it
h
in
 s
in
g
le
 

D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
. 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 L
D
F
 b
y
 t
h
e
 E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 G
ro
u
p
 (
p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 g
ro
u
p
 o
f 
th
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
).
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

M
a
rc
h
 

2
0
1
0
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

L
D
F
 t
h
a
t 
lo
o
k
s
 a
t 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 

o
n
 t
h
e
 e
c
o
n
o
m
y
 a
n
d
 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
. 

A
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 o
n
 t
h
e
 w
e
b
. 

K
e
e
p
 u
p
 t
o
 d
a
te
 w
it
h
 r
e
g
io
n
a
l 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 i
n
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
 r
e
v
is
e
d
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

c
o
u
n
ty
. 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

O
n
 g
o
in
g
. 
S
tr
o
n
g
 l
in
k
a
g
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 o
f 
re
g
io
n
a
l 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

w
h
ils
t 
re
ta
in
in
g
 t
h
e
 

d
is
ti
n
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 o
f 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
. 

A
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 “
D
e
liv
e
ri
n
g
 t
h
e
 W
e
s
t 

M
id
la
n
d
s
 E
u
ro
p
e
a
n
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
” 

c
o
n
fe
re
n
c
e
 i
n
 O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
. 

 

41



   R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
N

o
. 

2
 

P
ro
d
u
c
e
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
s
 o
n
 H
e
re
fo
rd
, 
th
e
 M
a
rk
e
t 
T
o
w
n
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 R
u
ra
l 
A
re
a
s
 (
c
o
n
s
id
e
ri
n
g
 r
o
le
s
 a
n
d
 i
d
e
n
ti
ti
e
s
) 
lin
k
e
d
 

to
 t
h
e
 L
D
F
; 
e
n
g
a
g
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 g
ro
u
p
s
 a
n
d
 m
o
n
it
o
r 
th
ro
u
g
h
 P
o
lic
y
 D
e
liv
e
ry
 G
ro
u
p
 o
f 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

E
x
e
c
u

ti
v
e
’s

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
 

A
g
re
e
d
 i
n
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
. 
 T
h
e
 l
a
y
o
u
t 
a
n
d
 d
e
s
ig
n
 o
f 
th
e
 n
e
w
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 h
a
s
 y
e
t 
to
 b
e
 a
g
re
e
d
 b
u
t 
lik
e
ly
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 a
 g
e
o
g
ra
p
h
ic
 r
e
v
ie
w
 

lin
k
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 o
f 
th
e
 L
D
F
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 a
s
s
is
t 
in
 t
h
e
 d
e
liv
e
ra
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
L
D
F
. 

A
c
ti

o
n

 
O

w
n

e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n

 
T

a
rg

e
t/

S
u

c
c
e
s
s
 C

ri
te

ri
a
 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 

T
o
 
a
g
re
e
 
th
e
 
ti
m
e
ta
b
le
 
fo
r 
p
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 
a
n
d
 

d
e
s
ig
n
 
la
y
o
u
t 
o
f 
th
e
 
n
e
w
 
E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

M
a
rc
h
 

2
0
1
0
 

F
o
rm
a
t 
o
f 
th
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
g
re
e
d
. 
 

L
D
F
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 t
o
 o
u
tl
in
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 

c
o
u
n
ty
, 
fo
llo
w
e
d
 b
y
 r
o
ll 
o
u
t 
o
f 
c
it
y
 a
n
d
 m
a
rk
e
t 

to
w
n
 p
la
n
s
. 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 P
o
lic
y
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

tb
c
 

In
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
m
a
rk
e
t 
to
w
n
s
 a
n
d
 

c
it
y
 p
la
n
s
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
. 

R
e
v
is
e
d
 t
im
e
ta
b
le
 f
o
r 
L
D
F
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
 p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 

C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 a
n
d
 C
a
b
in
e
t 
in
 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
. 

A
c
ti
v
it
y
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
th
e
 E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 m
o
n
it
o
re
d
 v
ia
 t
h
e
 E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 G
ro
u
p
. 

S
e
n
io
r 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

O
n
 g
o
in
g
 

(m
e
e
ti
n
g
 6
 

ti
m
e
s
 a
 

y
e
a
r)
 

U
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
p
ro
je
c
ts
 a
s
 

th
e
y
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 a
n
d
 l
in
k
a
g
e
s
 t
o
 

o
th
e
r 
in
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
. 

L
a
te
s
t 
m
e
e
ti
n
g
 2
4
th
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
9
. 

 R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
N

o
. 

3
 

G
re
a
te
r 
e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 I
C
T
 a
n
d
 p
a
rt
ic
u
la
rl
y
 a
c
ti
v
e
ly
 s
e
e
k
in
g
 w
a
y
s
 o
f 
im
p
ro
v
in
g
 b
ro
a
d
b
a
n
d
 s
p
e
e
d
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
v
e
ra
g
e
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 

C
o
u
n
ty
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 a
tt
ra
c
t 
n
e
w
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
; 
c
re
a
te
 “
h
u
b
s
” 
in
 m
a
rk
e
t 
to
w
n
s
 f
o
r 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 u
s
e
 

E
x
e
c
u

ti
v
e
’s

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
 

T
h
is
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
. 

A
c
ti

o
n

 
O

w
n

e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n

 
T

a
rg

e
t/

S
u

c
c
e
s
s
 C

ri
te

ri
a
 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 

In
te
n
ti
o
n
s
 P
a
p
e
r 
p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 o
f 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 P
u
b
lic
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 n
o
t 

s
p
o
ts
 a
n
d
 l
o
w
 b
a
n
d
 w
id
th
. 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
9
 

A
n
 a
g
re
e
d
 w
a
y
 f
o
rw
a
rd
 t
o
 

a
d
d
re
s
s
 t
h
e
 s
h
o
rt
c
o
m
in
g
 o
f 

b
ro
a
d
b
a
n
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
. 

In
te
n
ti
o
n
s
 p
a
p
e
r 
p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 i
n
 

d
ra
ft
. 

E
v
e
n
t 
o
p
e
n
 t
o
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 t
o
 

u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 t
h
e
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
n
d
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 c
re
a
te
 l
o
c
a
l 
s
o
lu
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 

b
ro
a
d
b
a
n
d
 c
o
v
e
ra
g
e
. 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
1
0
 

E
n
s
u
re
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 a
re
 

a
w
a
re
 o
f 
th
e
 o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 

lo
c
a
l 
s
o
lu
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 c
a
n
 b
e
 

p
ro
a
c
ti
v
e
 w
it
h
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
. 

In
v
e
s
ti
g
a
ti
n
g
 c
o
n
te
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 

s
e
m
in
a
r.
 

E
x
p
lo
re
 t
h
e
 o
p
ti
o
n
 o
f 
2
 p
ilo
t 
a
re
a
s
 w
o
rk
in
g
 t
o
 

te
s
t 
“c
o
m
b
in
e
d
” 
b
ro
a
d
b
a
n
d
 s
o
lu
ti
o
n
. 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
1
0
 

T
o
 w
o
rk
 w
it
h
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 t
o
 

s
h
o
w
 t
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
o
f 
w
o
rk
in
g
 

c
o
lle
c
ti
v
e
ly
 t
o
 a
d
d
re
s
s
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 

to
 b
ro
a
d
b
a
n
d
. 

C
ri
te
ri
a
 f
o
r 
th
e
 p
ilo
t 
a
re
a
s
 b
e
in
g
 

e
s
ta
b
lis
h
e
d
. 

42



  R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
N

o
. 

4
 

G
re
a
te
r 
e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 r
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 w
a
y
s
 o
f 
p
ro
m
o
ti
n
g
 t
h
is
 e
.g
. 
re
-u
s
e
 o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
o
w
n
e
d
 b
u
ild
in
g
s
 i
n
 H
e
re
fo
rd
 f
o
r 
h
e
ri
ta
g
e
 

b
a
s
e
d
 p
ro
je
c
ts
 r
u
n
 i
n
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 w
it
h
 o
u
ts
id
e
 b
o
d
ie
s
 

E
x
e
c
u

ti
v
e
’s

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
 

A
g
re
e
d
 i
n
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
. 
 T
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 r
e
-u
s
e
 o
f 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
o
w
n
e
d
 b
u
ild
in
g
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
 f
o
r 
c
u
lt
u
ra
l 
a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 p
ro
je
c
ts
 –
 n
o
t 
ju
s
t 

re
s
tr
ic
te
d
 i
n
 h
e
ri
ta
g
e
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 i
n
 H
e
re
fo
rd
. 

A
c
ti

o
n

 
O

w
n

e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n

 
T

a
rg

e
t/

S
u

c
c
e
s
s
 C

ri
te

ri
a
 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 

T
o
 s
e
e
k
 a
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 A
s
s
e
t 

T
ra
n
s
fe
r 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
h
a
t 
g
iv
e
s
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 t
h
e
 

tr
a
n
s
fe
r 
o
f 
a
s
s
e
ts
 t
o
 c
re
a
te
 t
h
e
 m
o
s
t 
b
e
n
e
fi
t 
in
 

u
ti
lis
in
g
 c
o
u
n
c
il 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
. 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 A
s
s
e
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

M
a
rc
h
 

2
0
1
0
 

T
o
 c
re
a
te
 a
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

tr
a
n
s
fe
r 
o
f 
a
s
s
e
ts
 a
t 
b
e
lo
w
 

m
a
rk
e
t 
v
a
lu
e
. 

R
e
p
o
rt
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 i
n
 o
u
tl
in
e
 f
o
r 

fi
n
a
l 
d
e
c
is
io
n
. 

In
it
ia
l 
d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
s
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
 H
e
ri
ta
g
e
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 G
ro
u
p
 o
n
 t
h
e
 t
ra
n
s
fe
r 
o
f 
a
s
s
e
ts
 

fo
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
9
 

T
o
 g
a
in
 a
n
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 

th
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 g
ro
u
p
 

a
n
d
 o
ff
e
r 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
. 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 t
o
o
k
 p
la
c
e
 o
n
 1
4
th
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
 a
n
d
 a
w
a
it
in
g
 

p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 g
ro
u
p
. 

G
ra
n
g
e
 C
o
u
rt
 t
ra
n
s
fe
rr
e
d
 t
o
 L
e
o
m
in
s
te
r 
A
re
a
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 C
o
m
p
a
n
y
 f
o
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
s
 a
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 a
s
s
e
t 
fo
r 
th
e
 t
o
w
n
. 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 

2
0
1
1
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 b
u
ild
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 u
s
e
 

a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 r
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 

th
e
 a
re
a
. 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 p
e
rm
is
s
io
n
 g
ra
n
te
d
, 

a
n
d
 f
in
a
l 
fu
n
d
in
g
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm
e
d
 

m
id
 N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
9
. 

  R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
N

o
. 

5
 

G
re
a
te
r 
e
m
p
h
a
s
is
 o
n
 a
tt
ra
c
ti
n
g
 n
e
w
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 a
n
d
 j
o
b
s
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
 –
 r
e
fl
e
c
ti
n
g
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 d
o
w
n
tu
rn
. 

E
x
e
c
u

ti
v
e
’s

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
 

T
h
is
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
. 

A
c
ti

o
n

 
O

w
n

e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n

 
T

a
rg

e
t/

S
u

c
c
e
s
s
 C

ri
te

ri
a
 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 

A
tt
ra
c
ti
n
g
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
ty
 t
o
 b
e
 

in
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 

2
0
1
0
 

P
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
e
w
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

C
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 a
s
s
e
s
s
in
g
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 

o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
th
a
t 
w
ill
 g
u
id
e
 a
 

n
e
w
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

P
ro
d
u
c
e
 a
n
 o
u
tl
in
e
 I
n
w
a
rd
 I
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
ty
. 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
9
 

T
h
e
 i
n
it
ia
l 
g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 

a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 o
f 
a
tt
ra
c
ti
n
g
 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
 

fo
llo
w
e
d
 b
y
 s
e
c
to
r 
s
p
e
c
if
ic
 

m
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
. 

In
it
ia
l 
p
a
p
e
r 
to
 b
e
 p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 G
ro
u
p
 f
o
r 
te
s
ti
n
g
. 

P
u
rs
u
e
 a
 m
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 c
a
m
p
a
ig
n
 t
o
 a
tt
ra
c
t 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
 a
re
a
. 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
0
 
T
o
 a
tt
ra
c
t 
n
e
w
 c
o
m
p
a
n
ie
s
 t
o
 

th
e
 a
re
a
. 

O
u
tl
in
e
 I
n
w
a
rd
 I
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 b
e
in
g
 p
re
p
a
re
d
. 

43



  R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
N

o
. 

6
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 –
 n
e
e
d
 s
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
n
 a
ll 
s
e
c
to
rs
 o
f 
in
d
u
s
tr
y
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
ir
 n
e
e
d
s
, 
s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 r
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 t
o
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
. 

E
x
e
c
u

ti
v
e
’s

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
 

T
h
is
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
 i
n
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
. 
 I
n
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
rs
e
 o
f 
a
n
a
ly
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 d
a
ta
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
d
u
c
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 c
e
rt
a
in
 

s
e
c
to
rs
 m
a
y
 e
m
e
rg
e
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
fo
r 
s
p
e
c
ia
l 
c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
s
. 

A
c
ti

o
n

 
O

w
n

e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n

 
T

a
rg

e
t/

S
u

c
c
e
s
s
 C

ri
te

ri
a
 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 f
o
r 
e
x
is
ti
n
g
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 t
o
 b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 

in
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 

2
0
1
0
 

P
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
e
w
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

C
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 a
s
s
e
s
s
in
g
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
th
a
t 

w
ill
 g
u
id
e
 a
 n
e
w
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
g
ra
n
t 
s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 o
ff
e
re
d
 o
r 

fu
n
d
e
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il.
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

O
n
-g
o
in
g
 

N
e
w
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 c
re
a
ti
o
n
; 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 a
n
d
 

a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
tr
a
in
in
g
 t
a
k
in
g
 

p
la
c
e
. 

B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 B
o
o
s
te
rs
 g
ra
n
t 
(s
in
c
e
 

O
c
to
b
e
r)
: 
8
5
 e
n
q
u
ir
ie
s
, 
1
4
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

T
ra
in
in
g
 V
o
u
c
h
e
r:
 6
1
 e
n
q
u
ir
ie
s
, 
1
2
 

c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
7
 a
w
a
rd
s
 

R
u
ra
l 
E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 G
ra
n
t 
(s
in
c
e
 A
p
ri
l)
 

1
2
 a
w
a
rd
s
 

L
o
b
b
y
 f
o
r 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
 t
o
 b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 U
rb
a
n
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

C
o
m
m
e
n
c
e
 

N
o
v
 2
0
1
0
 

N
e
w
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 c
re
a
ti
o
n
, 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
. 

A
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
g
ra
n
ts
 u
rb
a
n
 a
re
a
s
 w
it
h
 

p
ro
je
c
ts
 b
e
in
g
 o
u
tl
in
e
d
 f
o
r 
in
c
lu
s
io
n
. 

  R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
N

o
. 

7
 

G
re
a
te
r 
re
fe
re
n
c
e
 t
o
 t
o
u
ri
s
m
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 l
in
k
s
 t
o
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
 

E
x
e
c
u

ti
v
e
’s

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
 

T
h
is
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
. 

A
c
ti

o
n

 
O

w
n

e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n

 
T

a
rg

e
t/

S
u

c
c
e
s
s
 C

ri
te

ri
a
 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 

T
o
u
ri
s
m
 t
o
 b
e
 r
e
fl
e
c
te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
s
 a
n
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
t 
s
e
c
to
r 

to
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
ty
. 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 

2
0
1
0
 

P
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
e
w
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

C
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 a
s
s
e
s
s
in
g
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
th
a
t 

w
ill
 g
u
id
e
 a
 n
e
w
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

P
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 T
o
u
ri
s
m
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
o
 a
c
t 
a
s
 

a
n
 a
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 t
o
 t
h
e
 E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
s
 a
 “
c
lu
s
te
r”
 s
tr
a
n
d
. 

T
o
u
ri
s
m
 F
o
o
d
 

a
n
d
 M
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

O
c
to
b
e
r 

2
0
1
0
 

P
ro
d
u
c
e
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 
th
a
t 

g
iv
e
s
 a
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 f
o
r 

fu
tu
re
 t
o
u
ri
s
m
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 b
e
in
g
 c
o
lla
te
d
. 

  

44



 R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
N

o
. 

8
 

N
e
e
d
 
to
 
in
te
g
ra
te
 
s
p
e
c
if
ic
 
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 
in
to
 
th
e
 
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
ili
ty
 
th
e
m
e
 
o
n
 
c
lim
a
te
 
c
h
a
n
g
e
 
e
.g
. 
m
e
a
s
u
re
s
 
to
 
p
ro
m
o
te
 

re
n
e
w
a
b
le
 e
n
e
rg
y
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 b
a
s
e
d
 o
n
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
s
tu
d
y
 o
f 
p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
o
f 
re
n
e
w
a
b
le
 e
n
e
rg
y
 p
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
ty
. 

E
x
e
c
u

ti
v
e
’s

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
 

T
h
is
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
 i
n
 p
ri
n
c
ip
le
 a
n
d
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
n
e
e
d
e
d
 i
f 
a
 s
e
p
a
ra
te
 s
tu
d
y
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
d
u
c
te
d
 o
n
 

p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
re
n
e
w
a
b
le
 
e
n
e
rg
ie
s
 
a
s
 
in
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 
a
lr
e
a
d
y
 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 
o
r 
w
o
rk
 
in
 
h
a
n
d
 
to
 
u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 
th
e
 
o
p
ti
o
n
s
 
fo
r 

re
n
e
w
a
b
le
s
. 
 A
ls
o
, 
fu
n
d
in
g
 c
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 u
n
id
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 f
o
r 
a
n
 i
n
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
s
tu
d
y
. 

A
c
ti

o
n

 
O

w
n

e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n

 
T

a
rg

e
t/

S
u

c
c
e
s
s
 C

ri
te

ri
a
 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 

S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
ili
ty
 t
h
e
m
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
o
 b
e
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
d
. 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 

2
0
1
0
 

P
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
e
w
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

C
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 a
s
s
e
s
s
in
g
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
th
a
t 
w
ill
 

g
u
id
e
 a
 n
e
w
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

P
re
s
e
n
t 
c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 w
o
o
d
 f
u
e
l 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
. 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
r 

F
e
b
ru
a
ry
 

2
0
1
0
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
. 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 n
e
a
ri
n
g
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
. 

 R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
N

o
. 

9
 

R
e
fl
e
c
t 
th
e
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
c
e
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 p
la
y
s
 i
n
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
in
g
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 a
 f
o
c
u
s
 o
n
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 t
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 

s
o
lu
ti
o
n
s
. 

E
x
e
c
u

ti
v
e
’s

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
 

T
h
is
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
. 

A
c
ti

o
n

 
O

w
n

e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n

 
T

a
rg

e
t/

S
u

c
c
e
s
s
 C

ri
te

ri
a
 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 e
le
m
e
n
t 
to
 b
e
 r
e
fl
e
c
te
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
e
w
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
 l
in
k
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

In
te
g
ra
te
d
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 P
la
n
. 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 

2
0
1
0
 

P
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
e
w
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

C
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 a
s
s
e
s
s
in
g
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
th
a
t 
w
ill
 

g
u
id
e
 a
 n
e
w
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

 R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
N

o
. 

1
0
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 s
k
ill
s
 o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 a
n
d
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 m
e
c
h
a
n
is
m
s
 a
g
a
in
s
t 
S
ta
te
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 r
e
c
e
n
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
ts
 i
.e
. 

U
n
iv
e
rs
it
y
 C
h
a
lle
n
g
e
. 

E
x
e
c
u

ti
v
e
’s

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
 

T
h
is
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
. 

A
c
ti

o
n

 
O

w
n

e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n

 
T

a
rg

e
t/

S
u

c
c
e
s
s
 C

ri
te

ri
a
 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 

T
o
 e
n
h
a
n
c
e
 t
h
e
 s
k
ill
s
 e
le
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
o
 r
e
fl
e
c
t 

m
o
s
t 
u
p
 t
o
 d
a
te
 d
a
ta
 a
n
d
 r
e
v
ie
w
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 

m
e
c
h
a
n
is
m
s
. 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 

2
0
1
0
 

P
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
e
w
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

C
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 a
s
s
e
s
s
in
g
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
th
a
t 
w
ill
 

g
u
id
e
 a
 n
e
w
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

  

45



 R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
N

o
. 

1
1
 

R
e
v
is
e
 
th
e
 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
E
D
S
 
in
 
lig
h
t 
o
f 
a
 
c
h
a
n
g
in
g
 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 
c
lim
a
te
, 
re
fl
e
c
ti
v
e
 
o
f 
th
e
 
lo
c
a
l 
e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 
th
e
 

o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 o
f 
th
e
 L
D
F
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 –
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 w
id
e
r 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 a
 d
ra
ft
 r
e
v
ie
w
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t.
 

E
x
e
c
u

ti
v
e
’s

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
 

T
h
is
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
. 

A
c
ti

o
n

 
O

w
n

e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n

 
T

a
rg

e
t/

S
u

c
c
e
s
s
 C

ri
te

ri
a
 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 

P
ro
d
u
c
e
 a
 n
e
w
 E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
ty
. 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 

2
0
1
0
 

P
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
e
w
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

C
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 a
s
s
e
s
s
in
g
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
th
a
t 

w
ill
 g
u
id
e
 a
 n
e
w
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
re
a
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
to
 b
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 t
h
a
t 

p
u
lls
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
re
s
e
a
rc
h
 f
in
d
in
g
s
 u
n
d
e
r 
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

g
u
id
a
n
c
e
. 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

J
u
n
e
 2
0
1
0
 
R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 

p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm
 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

2
0
0
9
 S
ta
te
 o
f 
H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
, 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 C
h
a
p
te
r,
 a
c
ti
n
g
 a
s
 

te
m
p
la
te
 f
o
r 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
to
 g
a
u
g
e
 

a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

P
ro
d
u
c
e
 s
ta
k
e
h
o
ld
e
r 
m
a
p
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 b
e
a
ri
n
g
 i
n
 m
in
d
 t
h
e
 w
o
rk
 w
ill
 b
e
 

c
o
n
d
u
c
te
d
 u
s
in
g
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
re
s
o
u
rc
e
s
. 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r 

2
0
0
9
 

T
o
 c
re
a
te
 a
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 f
o
r 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

In
it
ia
l 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 m
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 t
a
k
e
n
 p
la
c
e
 

a
n
d
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
th
e
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t.
 

 R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
N

o
. 

1
2
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 
A
n
n
u
a
l 
M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 
to
 
re
la
te
 
in
d
ic
a
to
rs
 
to
 
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 
(t
ie
d
 
in
 
w
it
h
 
C
o
m
p
re
h
e
n
s
iv
e
 
A
re
a
 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 
a
n
d
 
L
o
c
a
l 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
) 
to
 
te
s
t 
e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 
o
f 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
s
/i
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t.
 
 
P
ro
d
u
c
e
 
“P
a
rt
n
e
rs
 
M
a
p
” 
–
 
e
x
p
la
in
in
g
 

o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
/t
a
rg
e
ts
/m
ile
s
to
n
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
re
a
s
 o
f 
re
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ty
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
. 

E
x
e
c
u

ti
v
e
’s

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
 

T
h
is
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
. 

A
c
ti

o
n

 
O

w
n

e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n

 
T

a
rg

e
t/

S
u

c
c
e
s
s
 C

ri
te

ri
a
 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 

A
s
 w
e
ll 
a
s
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
p
ro
je
c
t 
u
p
d
a
te
s
 s
u
b
m
it
te
d
 t
o
 

th
e
 E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 G
ro
u
p
 

to
 a
ls
o
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
+
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
. 

S
e
n
io
r 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

O
ff
ic
e
r 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
1
0
 
T
o
 l
in
k
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 t
o
 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t.
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 P
la
n
 f
o
r 
E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 b
e
in
g
 u
s
e
d
 a
s
 a
 

p
ilo
t 
fo
r 
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
+
 w
it
h
 2
0
0
9
 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 b
e
in
g
 m
a
d
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 f
o
r 

e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
in
d
ic
a
to
rs
. 

A
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 p
ro
d
u
c
e
 a
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 p
la
n
 t
h
a
t 
o
u
tl
in
e
s
 

th
e
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
a
 “
p
a
rt
n
e
r 
m
a
p
”.
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 

2
0
1
0
 

T
o
 g
a
in
 a
n
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 

o
f 
h
o
w
 a
c
ti
v
it
y
 r
e
la
te
s
 t
o
 

p
o
lic
y
. 

C
u
rr
e
n
tl
y
 a
s
s
e
s
s
in
g
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 

th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
th
a
t 

w
ill
 g
u
id
e
 a
 n
e
w
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

  

46



   R
e
c
o

m
m

e
n

d
a
ti

o
n

 
N

o
. 

1
3
 

S
u
g
g
e
s
t 
g
re
a
te
r 
fo
rm
a
l 
in
te
ra
c
ti
o
n
 –
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
lly
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t,
 t
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 a
n
d
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 

s
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 r
e
v
is
e
d
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

E
x
e
c
u

ti
v
e
’s

 
R

e
s
p

o
n

s
e
 

T
h
is
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a
c
c
e
p
te
d
. 

A
c
ti

o
n

 
O

w
n

e
r 

B
y
 W

h
e
n

 
T

a
rg

e
t/

S
u

c
c
e
s
s
 C

ri
te

ri
a
 

P
ro

g
re

s
s
 

B
u
ild
 o
n
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 w
h
e
re
 t
h
e
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 G
ro
u
p
 i
s
 

a
 p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 d
e
liv
e
ry
 g
ro
u
p
 o
f 
th
e
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
. 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 a
n
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

O
n
 g
o
in
g
 
G
re
a
te
r 
in
te
ra
c
ti
o
n
 

b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 a
n
d
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 i
s
 o
n
e
 o
f 
s
ix
 p
ri
o
ri
ty
 a
re
a
s
 

in
 t
h
e
 r
e
v
is
e
d
 S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

P
la
n
. 
 R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 e
x
is
ts
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

G
ro
u
p
 o
n
 t
h
e
 H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
G
ro
u
p
 a
n
d
 

H
e
re
fo
rd
s
h
ir
e
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 B
o
a
rd
. 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 b
ro
u
g
h
t 
to
g
e
th
e
r 
in
 a
 

s
in
g
le
 R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 t
o
 c
re
a
te
 

g
re
a
te
r 
lin
k
s
 a
c
ro
s
s
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 

R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
 
O
n
 g
o
in
g
 
G
re
a
te
r 
in
te
ra
c
ti
o
n
 

b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 a
n
d
 e
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t.
 

C
o
lla
b
o
ra
ti
v
e
 w
o
rk
in
g
 o
n
 k
e
y
 

s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
llo
w
 u
n
d
e
r 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 

re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 M
o
d
e
l 

F
a
rm
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 i
n
 R
o
s
s
 o
n
 W
y
e
, 
a
n
d
 

R
o
th
e
rw
a
s
 F
u
tu
re
s
 –
 b
o
th
 c
re
a
ti
n
g
 

im
p
ro
v
e
d
 a
n
d
 n
e
w
 i
n
d
u
s
tr
ia
l 
la
n
d
. 

   

47



48



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Natalia Silver, Head of Economic and Community Services, tel: 01432 260732 

 

MEETING: COMMUNITY SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 7
TH
 DECEMBER 2009 

TITLE OF REPORT: SCOPING REPORT FOR THE SCRUTINY REVIEW 

OF SUPPORT FOR VOLUNTEERING IN 

HEREFORDSHIRE 

PORTFOLIO AREA:  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND COMMUNITY 

SERVICES 

CLASSIFICATION: Open 

Wards Affected 

County-wide  

Purpose 

To consider a proposal to scrutinise the Support for Volunteering in Herefordshire. 

Recommendation 

 THAT (a) the Scoping Statement as appended is approved; 

(b) the Membership of the Review Group is approved; and 

(c) a Chairman of the Review Group be appointed. 

Key Points Summary 

• It is proposed to commission a Scrutiny Review in order to gauge an understanding of 
volunteering, its value and the impact it can have in supporting Herefordshire as a thriving 
County. 

Alternative Options 

1 That the Committee does not undertake the Review, or modifies the Scoping Statement. 

Introduction and Background 

2 This Committee agreed to include a Review of the Support for Volunteering in Herefordshire in 
its Work Programme on 5 October 2009. The Scoping Statement for the Review is attached 
as Appendix 1.  

Community Impact 

3 The review contributes to the Stronger Communities priority contained in the Herefordshire 
Community Strategy, as well as the LAA and national indicator NI 6 – participation in 
volunteering. 

AGENDA ITEM 10

49



Financial Implications 

4 There are no direct financial implications. 

Legal Implications 

5 There are no legal implications. 

Consultees 

6 Consultees are listed in the Scoping Statement, at Appendix 1. 

Appendices 

7 Appendix 1 Scoping Statement. 

Background Papers 

• None. 

50



 

TITLE OF REVIEW: Review of Support for Volunteering 

Committee: Scrutiny Committee 

 

SCOPING 
 

Reason for Enquiry 

To gauge an understanding of volunteering, its value and the impact it can have in supporting 
Herefordshire as a thriving County. 

 

Links to the Community Strategy 

The review contributes to the following objectives contained in the Herefordshire Community 
Strategy, including the Council’s Corporate Plan and other key plans or strategies: 

LAA and national indicator NI 6 – participation in volunteering. 

Stronger Communities priority. 

 

Summary of Review  and Terms of Reference  

Summary 

• To look at ways of increasing the results of the LAA performance indicator “participation 
of regular volunteering”. 

Terms of Reference 

• To conduct interviews that help gauge an understanding of why supporting volunteering 
in the county 

• To understand the organisations and groups involved in volunteering 

• To look at ways of enabling more volunteering to take place 

 

What will NOT be included 

Issues not concerned with volunteering. 

 

Potential outcomes 

• To understand the value of volunteering. 

• To assess the current support for volunteering in Herefordshire. 

• To understand the views and aspirations of partners in increasing volunteering in the county. 

• To make recommendations to improve the results on the performance indicator considering 
budget constraints.  

 

51



 

 

Key questions 

• Why is it important for people to volunteer?  Why do people volunteer? 

• How can volunteering impact on community delivery of services? 

• Which organisations are involved in supporting volunteering, how are they funded and what 
do they deliver? 

• How do those organisations work with Herefordshire Council? 

• What intervention activity can take place to increase volunteering? 

 

 

Cabinet Member (s) 

Economic Development and Community Services 

 

Key Stakeholders/Consultees 

Herefordshire Voluntary Action 

Community First 

HALC 

Regeneration Officers within Herefordshire Council 

Volunteers 

 

Potential Witnesses 

As above. 

 

Research Required 

Quality of volunteering background papers. 

 

Potential Visits 

Not relevant. 

 

Publicity Requirements 

Notification of review 

Publication of the Review and its recommendations 

Herefordshire Matters 

 

 

52



 

 

Timetable 

Activity Timescale 

Confirm approach, programme of 
consultation/research/provisional 
witnesses/meeting dates (and proposed topic  

First meeting of the Review Group. 

January 2010 

Collect current available data February 2010 

Collect outstanding data February 2010 

Analysis of data March 2010 

Final confirmation of interviews of witnesses February 2010 

Carry out programme of interviews Early March 2010 

Agree programme of site visits n/a 

Undertake site visits as appropriate n/a 

Present interim report to relevant scrutiny 
Committee, if appropriate. 

End of March 2010 

Final analysis of data and witness evidence End of March 2010 

Prepare options/recommendations End of March 2010 

Present Final report to Relevant Scrutiny  
Committee 

April 2010 

Present options/recommendations to Cabinet 
(or Cabinet member (s)) 

May 2010 

Cabinet/Cabinet Member (s)  response  June 2010 

Implementation of agreed recommendations July 2010 

Members Support Officers 

Councillors: 

(Chairman of Review Group) 

Lead Support Officer (Independent of the Service being 
Reviewed) – to be confirmed 

 Democratic Services Representative(s) – David Penrose 

 Other support Officers 

Additional members of the 
Review Group 

 

  

 

53



54



 

 
 Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 David Penrose, Democratic Services Officer on (01432) 383690 

  

MEETING: COMMUNITY SERVICES SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE 

DATE: 7 DECEMBER 2009 

TITLE OF REPORT: COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 

REPORT BY:  DEMOCRATIC SERVICES OFFICER 

CLASSIFICATION: Open  

Wards Affected 

County-wide. 

Purpose 

To consider the Committee’s work programme. 

Recommendation 

 THAT  

a) the Committee re-examine the current work programme to ensure that 

matters listed for future consideration remain appropriate subjects for 

scrutiny; and  

b) subject to any other comment or issues raised by the Committee the 

Committee work programme be approved and reported to the Strategic 

Monitoring Committee. 

Introduction and Background 

1. As reported to this Committee in September, work has been ongoing in response to 
the findings of the external healthcheck of the scrutiny function, undertaken by the 
Leadership Centre.  Members of the Scrutiny Committees and the Executive 
participated in a facilitated scrutiny event to develop an enhanced external focus to 
the scrutiny committee work programme reflecting the concerns of residents and 
communities of Herefordshire.  After considering the challenges facing the County 
and key issues identified from public consultation and surveys Members identified 
the following five priorities for scrutiny: Housing related issues; Youth; 
Communication; Safeguarding and Transport related issues.   

2. Strategic Monitoring Committee on 19 October requested that all Scrutiny 
Committees re-examine their current work programmes to ensure that matters listed 

for future consideration remain appropriate subjects for scrutiny. 

AGENDA ITEM 11

55



3. The programme may be modified by the Chairman following consultation with the 
Vice-Chairman and the Directors in response to changing circumstances. 

4. Should any urgent, prominent or high profile issue arise, the Chairman may consider 
calling an additional meeting to consider that issue. 

5. Should Members become aware of any issues they consider may be added to the 
scrutiny programme they should contact the Democratic Services Officer to log the 
issue so that it may be taken into consideration when planning future agendas or 
when revising the work programme. 

 

Background Papers 

• None identified. 

56



 

 
COMMUNITY SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
WORK PROGRAMME PRESENTED FOR CONSIDERATION ON 7 DECEMBER 2009 

 
 

 12 April 2010 

Items • Budget 

• Performance Monitoring  

• Edgar Street Grid – Update  

• PACT Meetings – Update 

Scrutiny Reviews  

 Other issues 

 • Review of Access to Services 

• Review of Festivals in Herefordshire 

 July 2010 

Items • Budget 

• Performance Monitoring  

• Edgar Street Grid – Update  

• Action Plan Monitoring: Review of Community and Safety 
Drugs Partnership, Review of the Herefordshire Economic 
Development Strategy 2005- 25, Review of Tourism. 

Scrutiny Reviews • Scrutiny Review on Volunteering 

 
Further additions to the work programme will be made as required. 
 

57



58


	Agenda
	
	6 REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2009/10
	Appendix B updated

	7 ENVIRONMENT & CULTURE AND REGENERATION DIRECTORATES: PERFORMANCE FOR THE SIX-MONTH PERIOD TO october 2009
	Appendix A - Key to Levels of Performance Report
	Performance Report Appendix B

	8 EXECUTIVE™S RESPONSE TO THE SCRUTINY REVIEW OF TOURISM AND TOURIST INFORMATION CENTRES
	Tourism - action plan

	9 EXECUTIVE™S RESPONSE TO THE SCRUTINY REVIEW OF THe HEREFORDSHIRE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 2005-2025
	Economic Dev Strategy Action plan

	10 SCOPING REPORT FOR THE SCRUTINY REVIEW OF SUPPORT FOR VOLUNTEERING IN HEREFORDSHIRE
	Volunteering scoping statement2

	11 COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME
	Community Services Work Prog at December 09


